College of Massage Therapists of Ontario
Meeting of the Council
Agenda
Date:

May 11-12, 2020

Location:

Videoconference – MS Teams

Time:

9:00 AM – 1:00 PM

Item
No.

Item

1. Call to Order

Item Lead
May 11, 2020

Westfall-Connor

Approx.
Time
10 min

2. Declaration of Conflicts of Interest

Westfall-Connor

3. Approval of the Agenda of May 11, 2020

Westfall-Connor

4. In-Camera Session
4.1 2019 Registrar & CEO Performance Evaluation
Report

Westfall-Connor

60 min

Westfall-Connor

15 min

6. Consent Agenda
Westfall-Connor
6.1 Minutes of February 11, 2020
6.2 Actions Arising from the February 11, 2020 Minutes
6.3 2020 – Q1 Registrar’s and Administration Report
6.4 2020 – Q1 Committee Reports
6.5 2019 – Annual - Committee Reports

5 min

5. Council Meeting Evaluations
5.1 Meeting Evaluation of February 11, 2020
5.2 2019 Annual Council Performance Evaluation
Results

A consent agenda is a bundle of items that is voted on, without
discussion, as a package. It differentiates between routine
matters not needing explanation and more complex issues
needing examination. The Chair will ask if any one wishes to
remove an item from the consent agenda. Any Council member
may request an item be removed so it can be discussed. To test
whether an item should be included in the consent agenda, ask:
• Is this item self-explanatory and uncontroversial? Or
does it contain an issue that warrants Council
discussion?
• Is this item for information only? Or is it needed for
another meeting agenda issue?

7. Quarterly Reporting
1

7.1

2020 – Q1 Financial Report

8. Items for Decision
8.1 Presentation of the Draft 2019 Audited Financial
Statements
8.2

Molnar/Wilcox

20 min

Westfall-Connor

60 min

Westfall-Connor

10 min

Molnar/Wilcox

60 min

Westfall-Connor

2 min

(Guest: B. MacKenzie, Hilborn – confirmed -11:00 AM)

Appointment of Auditor for 2020

9. Items for Discussion
9.1 Preliminary Analysis for the 2021 Renewal Period
10. New Business
11. Adjournment
1. Call to Order

May 12, 2020

Westfall-Connor

10 min

2. Declaration of Conflicts of Interest

Westfall-Connor

3. Approval of the Agenda of May 12, 2020

Westfall-Connor

4. Presentation: Standards of Practice Revision Project

McCoy

60 min

5. Quarterly Reporting
5.1 2020 – Q1 Workplan Report
5.2 2020 – Q1 Inquiries, Complaints and Reports
Committee Report

Flitton
Tucker

15 min
15 min

6. Items for Decision
6.1 Executive Committee Terms of Reference
6.2 Ratification of Public Appointment
6.3 Ratification of Appointment of non-Council
Member

Westfall-Connor
Westfall-Connor
Westfall-Connor

10 min
10 min
10 min

Vining
Flitton

20 min
15 min

(Guests: Dianne Parker-Taillon and Dawn Burnett, Consultants
- confirmed – 9:00 AM)

7. Items for Information
7.1 2020 Sexual Abuse Prevention Plan
7.2 Massage Therapy Research Fund
8. New Business
9. Adjournment

Westfall-Connor

2 min
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Agenda Item 5.1
For Discussion

Council
Meeting
Evaluation

February 11, 2020

Agenda Item 5.2

The information package was
received with sufficient time to allow
me to prepare for the meeting

Mostly it works fine and there is a good rhythm –
but some items were late

The materials were relevant to the
agenda.

No concerns

The materials were sufficient to assist
me in forming an opinion on decisions
before Council

No issues with the quality of the information
provided

The briefing notes are appreciated
Overall timing of receiving the package is fine, but
last-minute additions should not be necessary with
a planned agenda

Preambles and briefs have the right amount of
information
Briefing note format efficiently captures the key
details to support informed decision making

Some items were uploaded the day of the meeting
We received a couple of items at the minute

Council Meeting Evaluation: February 11, 2020
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Agenda Item 5.2

Agenda items were appropriate for
Council discussion and consistent with
Council roles and responsibilities.

Time was used effectively, and
discussions were focused

A more thorough reading of the material might eliminate
some unnecessary questions
Questions about how to use technology take up too much
time and aren’t appropriate in a meeting– should be asked
and resolved outside of meetings
We revisited a decision after it had been approved
Too much time spent on the MS team reviews

Council avoided getting into
administrative/management details

Was still some discussion of management/admin
details but improved over last meeting
Definitely better, and the Continuous Improvement
discussion of the day before about all of us being
accountable to keep ourselves and others in line was
a great step
Council is becoming more self-aware about getting
too operational

Its good that we have committed to improve in this area
this year

Council Meeting Evaluation: February 11, 2020
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Agenda Item 5.2

There was a positive climate
of trust and respect

I was encouraged to discuss and
share my opinion openly

Somewhat improved

Disagreements were handled
openly, honestly, and directly

There were no disagreement

Hearing about the June meeting, which was
before my time, was disheartening but I trust
that whatever that tension was, it's now in the
past. From my perspective, I feel no tension or
distrust

Considering the divergent perspectives and
personalities, we do this well
Disagreements should be handled during the
discussion, not when someone is trying to justify
their nay in a vote

Hope that it continues to improve

Council Meeting Evaluation: February 11, 2020
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Agenda Item 5.2

Where appropriate, next
steps and action items were
clearly identified

The follow-up steps are always clear.

Members appeared prepared for
the meeting

I was satisfied with my opportunity to
participate in discussions and debate

Seemed better that some previous meetings

Very much so

Much more so than in past meetings

I am cognizant of not monopolizing or continuing
to push an issue I’m passionate about

There was a least one question that was not
actually answered in the briefing note

Council Meeting Evaluation: February 11, 2020

The Chair acknowledges the experience of
members and is open to hearing thoughts
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Agenda Item 5.2

I was satisfied with the manner in which
other members contributed to
discussions and debate

The President/Chair was effective in
allowing all sides to be heard while
bringing matters to decision

Is there anything else you would like to
share about the meeting?

The election was handled fairly and effectively
in a very professional manner

We could be more efficient by having a shorter
lunch break – 30 minutes – and a 10-minute
morning break
If we are finishing up early, perhaps there
would be additional matters we could address
to make use of the full time
There are opportunities for everyone to become
involved in the discussion
Sometimes it feels like there are unsaid issues or
historical tensions hanging over some discussions
Council members should stick to their guns when
they have a dissenting opinion so that we can
have a good conversation to flush out thoughts

Good job in first days in the role
Great job
Very well managed
We should avoid discussing decisions after a vote has
been taken

We are working on strengthening our
understanding of Governance vs operations

Council Meeting Evaluation: February 11, 2020
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Confidential
Agenda Item 5.2
For Discussion

2019

Council Year-End
Self- Evaluation
February 2020

1

Confidential

Six areas were evaluated by…

Governance

Council
Leadership

Oversight and
Decision Making

Financial
Performance &
Risk

Council
Performance

Continuous
Improvement
Priorities for the
Year Ahead

2

Confidential
Governance
Overall, positive comments, e.g.
Evaluation Statements
Council members have a good understanding of CMTO's
mission, mandate, and strategic plan
Council members have a good understanding of the
work of the College, including the roles, responsibilities,
and key activities of the various departments
CMTO's Governance structure and roles/responsibilities
(Council, Council Committees, and Management) are
clear
Members are clear on their roles and responsibilities as
Governors and agree on the distinction between
Council and Management responsibilities and decisions

•
•
•
•
•
•

Good understanding generally
Council materials highlight the Strategic Plan
Roles and responsibilities are generally clear
Mentoring process works well
We stay focused on Council role
Have had lots of turnover and new people are getting up
to speed quickly

Some opportunities for improvement:

• Familiarity with the Strategic Plan is something we can always
be working on
• Good to always be reminding ourselves that we are here to
make decisions in the public interest
• Would be good to have more information and training related
to CMTO’s approach to Council Governance – particularly the
difference between Council and Management areas of focus –
to ensure a consistent understanding
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Confidential
Oversight and
Decision
Making

Evaluation Statements
Council regularly monitors and evaluates progress
towards strategic and operational goals

Council makes decisions that are appropriate to its
Governance role and that provide effective direction
and guidance to management
Council routinely monitors and discusses organizational
and program performance, which in turns informs the
evaluation of the CEO

Overall, positive comments, e.g.

• Have continued to improve our focus over the past year
– with room to improve further
• Materials for Council connect to our strategic and
operational goals
• We get the information we need to make decisions and
provide direction
• We invest time in reflective evaluation and planning
accordingly

Some opportunities for improvement:

• As noted previously, would be good to have more information
and training related to CMTO’s approach to Council
Governance – particularly the difference between Council and
Management areas of focus – to ensure a consistent
understanding
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Confidential
Financial
Performance
& Risk

Evaluation Statements
Council, including as represented by Executive
Committee, is actively involved in preparing, reviewing,
and approving the financial plan/budget
Council monitors financial performance regularly and
well-informed staff are able to explain variances and
management strategies, with no surprises
Council ensures timely, independent auditing of
finances. Audit results are discussed with the auditor
where appropriate
Council is briefed on Management's annual monitoring
of the Management and Organizational Risk Plan and
any actions taken by Management with respect to the
Plan

Overall, positive comments, e.g.
•
•
•
•
•

Financial reports are clear and tailored to our needs and role
Financial performance receives great attention at meetings –
lots of opportunity for discussion
Staff are efficient – doing a good job to reduce risk, e.g.
Discipline backlog
Risk management process is conducted well and informs
future plans
Financial analysis is robust

Some opportunities for improvement:

• No specific suggestions, but it was suggested that there is always
an opportunity to further strengthen our approach, including with
respect to forecasting
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Confidential
Council
Leadership

Evaluation Statements
A clear, well-understood and accepted process is in
place to identify and develop Council leaders
through rotation of Committee assignments and
other opportunities to lead

Overall, positive comments, e.g.

• Have continued to improve over the past year
• Chairs, including those new to the role, are effective
• Executive Committee is very effective re the relationship
with the CEO
• Executive Committee leads well and with a view to
always improving how we function as a Council and
balancing the views of members

Executive Committee appears to have an effective
working relationship with the CEO
Executive Committee has the necessary skills,
enthusiasm, and energy to provide leadership to
Council

Some opportunities for improvement:

• Need to encourage new leaders to come forward, focus on
qualifications and competencies
• The process to become a leader is not always clear for new
members
• Its important to continually be developing our leadership skills
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Confidential
Council
Performance

Evaluation Statements
Council meeting agendas and packages are clear about
the key issues and areas for Council consideration
Council receives quality background information and
material sufficiently in advance to allow for effective
preparation

Overall, positive comments, e.g.
•
•
•
•
•

Are improving at managing packed agendas
The information packages are great – clear and comprehensive
Executive does a good job to keep us focused
Our members have a variety of skills and knowledge – which
contributes to our diversity
There are lots of resources available to help us continue to improve

Meetings start and end on time, with an emphasis on
substantive discussion of significant matters by Council
All necessary skills to conduct Council business are
represented on Council
Council members proactively ask questions, raise issues,
and engage constructively in discussion and debate
Council meetings are productive, enjoyable, and include
efforts to connect Council members as a group, and
also to connect with senior staff

Some opportunities for improvement:
•
•
•
•

Larger packages can be difficult to work through in the timeframe
provided and last-minute additions can be hard to accommodate
Sometimes members need to be reminded to stay focused on
agenda items
We sometimes revisit decisions or discussions – is not an efficient
use of our time
Sometimes questions are too operational in nature – need to focus
on governance role
7

Continuous
Improvement
Priorities for
the Year
Ahead

The following Continuous Improvement
priorities were identified for 2020

Confidential

1. Policy Governance:
• We will continue to strengthen our knowledge of Policy Governance through education and ongoing dialogue.
• We will demonstrate our understanding as we engage in Council and Committee activities and in our relationship
with Management.
• We will honestly and constructively support each other to be effective as individual Governors and to stay aligned as
a Council.
2. Knowledge and preparedness:
• We will continue to develop and maintain the knowledge of CMTO strategies, goals, policies, and programs that we
require to be effective Governors.
• We will use existing training materials and other resources, such as mentoring, to proactively fill gaps in our
knowledge outside of Council and Committee meetings.
3. Efficient and effective use of our time
• We will use our time in meetings as efficiently and effectively as possible, e.g.
o Focusing on discussion and discussion at the level of Policy Governance.
o Not revisiting discussions that have taken place or decisions previously made.
o Proactively filling gaps in our knowledge in advance of meetings.
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Council Meeting Minutes
Date:

February 11, 2020

Location:

CMTO Council Room

Present:

L. Tucker, RMT, President
K. Westfall-Connor, RMT, Vice President
S. Adderley, RMT
S. Biber, RMT
A. Cantalini, RMT
C. Gross, Public Member
L. Hargreaves, RMT
M. Kesler, Public Member
S. Mall, Public Member
D. Mattina, Public Member
C. Watt, Public Member
L. White, Public Member

Regrets:

N. Jeftic, RMT
D. Oehring, RMT
I. Vining, RMT

Administration: C. Flitton, Registrar and CEO
E. Waters, Deputy Registrar
A. Brennand, Director, Policy and Communications
V. Browne, Director, Registration Services
N. Garnette, Director, Professional Conduct
V. McCoy, Director, Professional Practice
K. Molnar, Director, Corporate Services
B. Chehab, Manager, IT Applications*
N. Wilcox, Manager, Finance*
L. Webber, Senior Executive Assistant
Recorder:

L. Webber, Senior Executive Assistant

*Attended a portion of the meeting only

1

1.

Call to Order
The meeting was called to order at 9:10 AM.

2.

Declaration of Conflicts of Interest
No conflicts of interest were declared.

3.

Approval of the Agenda of February 11, 2020
2020 February 11 – MOTION 1: L. White/K. Westfall-Connor
THAT the Agenda of February 11, 2020 be adopted as
presented.
CARRIED

4.

November Council Meeting Evaluation
L. Tucker addressed some of the comments from the
November Council Meeting Evaluation. She referenced the
working agreement drafted at the retreat and encouraged
members to reach out to their mentor, the President or staff,
if they had questions in advance of meetings

5.

Election of the 2020 Executive Committee
L. Tucker turned over the Chairing of this portion of the
meeting to the Registrar & CEO, C. Flitton.
Council members thanked L. Tucker for her leadership as
President over the last few years.
In response to a question respecting voting by proxy, it was
agreed that, although voting by proxy was not specifically
addressed in Council policies, members must be present to
vote, either in person or tele or videoconference. It was
agreed that this should be clarified in the policies.
Action: Clarify Council polices respecting voting.

Staff/Executive
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Nominations and Election of President
C. Flitton advised Council that a nomination had been
received from Kim Westfall-Connor and that her Statement of
Intent was previously circulated to Council.
C. Flitton called for nominations from the floor for the
position of President. The following nomination was made:
Nominee
L. White

Moved/Seconded
K. Westfall-Connor/L. Tucker

L. White accepted the nomination.
2020 February 11 – MOTION 2: L. Hargreaves/ D. Mattina
THAT the nominations for the position of President be
closed.
CARRIED
The nominees were provided with an opportunity to address
Council.
C. Flitton appointed A. Brennand and V. Browne as scrutineers
to distribute, collect and count the ballots.
Following Council’s vote by a secret ballot, K. Westfall-Connor
was declared President.
Nominations and Election of Vice President
C. Flitton advised Council that nominations had been received
from L. Hargreaves and L. White and that their Statements of
Intent were previously circulated to Council.
C. Flitton called for nominations from the floor for the
position of Vice President. No additional nominations were
received.
2020 February 11 – MOTION 3: D. Mattina/A. Cantalini
THAT the nominations for the position of Vice President
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be closed.

CARRIED
The nominees were provided with an opportunity to address
Council.
Following Council’s vote by a secret ballot, L. White was
declared Vice President.
Nominations and Election for the Position of First Executive
Officer
C. Flitton advised Council that nominations had been received
and Statements of Intent previously circulated to Council for
the following members:
S. Biber, RMT
M. Kesler, Public Member
L. Tucker, RMT
C. Watt, Public Member
C. Flitton reminded members that in accordance with the bylaws, there must be two public appointees on the Executive
Committee.
C. Flitton called for nominations from the floor for the
position of First Executive Officer. No additional nominations
were received.
2020 February 11 – MOTION 4: D. Mattina/K. WestfallConnor
THAT the nominations for the position of First Executive
Officer be closed.
CARRIED
The nominees were provided with an opportunity to address
Council.
Following Council’s vote by a secret ballot, L. Tucker was
declared First Executive Officer.
Nominations and Election for the Position of Second Executive
Officer
As there must be at least two public appointees on the
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Executive Committee, S. Biber was not eligible for
nomination.
C. Flitton called for nominations from the floor for the
position of Second Executive Officer. No additional
nominations were received.
2020 February 11–MOTION 5: L. Hargreaves/K. WestfallConnor
THAT the nominations for the position of Second
Executive Officer be closed.
CARRIED
The nominees were provided with an opportunity to address
Council.
Following Council’s vote by a secret ballot, a tie was declared.
C. Flitton reminded Council that, in the event of a tie, the
candidates will be provided with a further opportunity to
address Council, not to exceed two minutes. If there is still a
tie, the Registrar shall resolve the deadlock by lot.
Following Council’s second vote by a closed ballot, a tie was
declared.
M. Kesler withdrew her nomination. C. Watt was acclaimed
Second Executive Officer.
2020 February 11 – MOTION 6: S. Biber/C. Watt
THAT the ballots from the 2020 Executive Committee
elections be destroyed.
CARRIED
C. Flitton turned the meeting over to the newly elected
President, K. Westfall-Connor, to chair the remainder of the
meeting.
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6.

Consent Agenda
2020 February 11 - MOTION 7: S. Biber/D. Mattina
THAT the Consent agenda be approved as presented.
CARRIED

7.

Quarterly Reporting
7.1 2019 – Q4 Quality Assurance Committee Report
L. White provided Council with an overview of the 2019 – Q4
Quality Assurance Report. He advised Council that approximately
35 registrants responded to an invitation to support the
Standards of Practice review project. Two focus groups were held
in December to gather information for the preparation of a
background paper.
V. McCoy provided Council with an update on STRiVE, the Quality
Assurance Program that launched September 5, 2019. She
reported that November 30, 2019 marked the deadline for
submission of STRiVE requirements and that 89% of Registrants
had completed the program. Since that time the Professional
Practice team has followed up with those who had not
completed the requirements, resulting in a 97% compliance rate.
Council commended the Quality Assurance department for its
extraordinary work in reaching a 97% compliance rate in the first
year of the program.
2020 February 11 – Motion 8: L. Hargreaves/C. Watt
THAT Council approve the 2019 – Q4 Quality Assurance
Committee Report as presented.
CARRIED
7.2 2019 – Q4 Preliminary Financial Report
N. Wilcox presented the 2019 – Q4 Preliminary Year-end
Financial Report. He advised Council that the preliminary
statements highlight the areas of focus for the Finance team as
they progress through year-end close procedures in preparation
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for the annual audit. Finance expects the overall surplus may
increase from the balance presented in the Q4 preliminary
financials following the completion of outstanding year-end close
procedures.
2020 February 11 –MOTION 9: D. Mattina/S. Mall
THAT Council approves the preliminary unaudited 2019Q4 Statement of Operations and Statement of Financial
Position as presented.
CARRIED
7.3 2019 – Q4 Workplan Report
C. Flitton presented the 2019 – Q4 Workplan Report and advised
Council that the workplan item - Regulatory Risk Assessment, will
be addressed later in the meeting.
A. Brennand provided Council with a summary of Open House
events held across the province in 2019. Event locations in 2019
aligned with 2020 Elections; Toronto, London and Sudbury.
Council applauded the program, recognizing Open Houses
support outreach and engage Registrants in remote areas.
2020 February 11 –MOTION 10: M. Kesler/S. Biber
THAT Council approve the 2019 – Q4 Workplan Report as
presented.
CARRIED
8.

Items for Decision
8.1 Council Members Attendance at Education Activities
K. Westfall-Connor introduced the proposed changes to
Governance Policy 4.9 - Council Member Attendance at
Educational Activities, Not Sponsored at the College”. Council
reviewed the policy and amended the policy to reflect that the
College does not support Council or Committee members
participating as representatives of CMTO on any Boards.
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2020 February 11 – MOTION 11: S. Mall/S. Biber
THAT the proposed amendments to “Governance Policy
4.9 – Council Members Attendance at Educational
Activities, Not Sponsored at the College”, be approved as
amended.
CARRIED
Action: Update “Governance Police 4.9 – Council Members
Attendance at Educational Activities, Not Sponsored at the
College”, in the Governance Handbook.

Staff

8.2 Remote Participation
K. Westfall-Connor asked K. Molnar to present the new
“Governance Policy 4.8 – Remote Participation”, which was
drafted based on a previous discussion at Council and a review of
current videoconferencing approaches at other Colleges.
K. Molnar also advised Council that they would be provided with a
demonstration of the videoconference platform, Microsoft Teams
(MS Teams) and that a User Guide would also be shared with
Council members at the end of today’s meeting.
Council reviewed and approved the policy and agreed that the
policy may have to be revisited at a future meeting to address
voting capabilities.
2020 February 11 – MOTION 12: D. Mattina/S. Mall
THAT Council revoke “Governance Policy, 4.8 –
Teleconference Meetings” and replace it with the new
“Governance Policy, 4.8 – Remote Participation” as
presented.
CARRIED
Action: Replace “Governance Policy 4.8 – Teleconference
Meetings” with the new “Governance Policy 4.8 – Remote
Participation”, in the Governance Handbook
Action: Upload the Microsoft Teams User Guide to Council’s L
Drive

Staff
Staff
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8.3 2020 Workplan Amendment – Regulatory Risk Assessment
C. Flitton provided Council with an update on the Regulatory Risk
Assessment workplan item. Due to the withdrawal of the project
consultant and the project’s link to the Data Analytics/Data
Management Strategy, which is being developed, C. Flitton
requested approval to move this item to the developmental
section of the workplan.
2020 February 11 – MOTION 13: L. Hargreaves/S. Adderley
THAT the Regulatory Risk Project be moved to the
developmental section of the 2020 Workplan while the
Senior Management Team reviews the project charter and
plan.
CARRIED
Action: Move the Regulatory Risk Assessment workplan item to
the developmental section of the 2020 Workplan.
9.

Staff

Items for Discussion
No items for discussion brought forward.

10.

Items for Information
10.1 2020 Communications Plan
A. Brennand provided Council with a review of the deliverables
and outcomes from the 2019 communications plan, as well as an
outline of the communications strategy for 2020, including a new
public webpage and social media expansion.
Council recognized the good work of the communication staff and
their creative efforts in trying to reach as many people as
possible.
10.2 Professional Practice Department Realignment
V. McCoy provided Council with an overview of the
reorganization of the Professional Practice department. She
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reported that, with the implementation of STRiVE, a robust peer
and practice assessment program and onboarding of additional
staff in 2019, it was determined that it was an appropriate time
to begin to differentiate the distinctive functions in the
department. By separating the departments into two divisions,
Quality Assurance and Professional Practice, appropriate focus
will remain on the statutory requirements of the QA program,
while allowing for the evolution of other activities which will
guide registrants, place a focus on research evidence and
prioritize regulatory modernization.
10.3 Microsoft Office TEAMS Demonstration and Training
B. Chehab provided Council with a Microsoft Office Teams (MS
Teams) demonstration and hands-on training.
11.

New Business
There was no new business.

12.

Adjournment
2020 February 11 – MOTION 14: S. Biber/L. Hargreaves
THAT the February 11, 2020 Council meeting be
adjourned.
CARRIED
The meeting was adjourned at 2:00 PM.
____________________
K. Westfall-Connor, RMT
President

________________________
C. Flitton
Registrar & CEO

CF Review
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Agenda Item 6.2
Consent Agenda

ACTIONS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES OF MEETING
COUNCIL MEETING FEBRUARY 11, 2020
Agenda
Item

5.0

Description
Election of the 2020 Executive Committee
Action: Clarify Council policies respecting voting

8.0

Status

In-Progress

Items for Decision
8.1 Council Members Attendance at Education Activities
Action: Update ”Governance Policy 4.9 – Council Members
Attendance at Education Events, Not Sponsored at the College”,
in the Governance Handbook.

Completed

8.2 Remote Participation
Action: Revoke “Governance Policy 4.8 – Teleconference
Meetings” and replace it with the new “Governance Policy 4.8 –
Remote Participation”, in the Governance Handbook.

Completed

Action: Upload the Microsoft Teams User Guide to Council’s
L Drive

Completed

8.3 2020 Workplan Amendment – Regulatory Risk Assessment
Action: Move the Regulatory Risk Assessment workplan item to
the developmental section of the 2020 Workplan.

Completed

Agenda Item 6.3
Consent Agenda

To:
Date:
From:
Re:

Council
May 11, 2020
C. Flitton, Registrar & CEO
2020 – Q1 Quarterly Registrar’s and Administration Report

This report covers activities that the Registrar and the administration team have been
engaged in that have not already been reported through the Quarterly Workplan,
Financial and Committee Reports.
1.

Strategic Vision and Direction Setting
• The Registrar continued to work with the Senior Management Team to ensure
alignment of activities and projects with the Strategic Plan.
• Staff participated in various committee and network meetings of Health Professions
Regulators of Ontario (HPRO).

2.

Reputation Management
• CMTO provided information to some media outlets regarding current registrants and
a former registrant.
• Through the first wave of COVID-19 communication in mid-March CMTO ensured
that its messaging aligned with and supported the Directives of the Ontario Chief
Medical Officer of Health, Dr. David Williams and the Orders of the Premier of
Ontario, Doug Ford.
• CMTO ensured that its COVID-19 webpage links to all the Ministry of Health
resources including a link to the volunteer Health Provider Registry, communicates
CMTO’s recommendations and guidance for RMTs, provides FAQs based on
questions received from stakeholders and provides an archive of all CMTO
communication relating to COVID-19.
• C. Flitton attended the quarterly Health Profession Regulators of Ontario (HPRO)
meeting to discuss matters of significance to the health regulatory Colleges in
Ontario.
• C. Flitton participated in a FOMTRAC meeting.
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3.

Development and Achievement of Goals
• Staff continued to meet with external consultants, as required, to move projects on
the Annual Workplan forward. Specific results are noted in the Quarterly Workplan
Report.
Department
Corporate
Services

•

•
Policy &
Communication

•
•

Professional
Conduct
Professional
Practice

•
•
•

•
Registration &
Certification
Services

•

•

•
•

•

Activities
Selected business application software tools, and
vendor contracts executed in accordance with
business requirements identified in the
Information Technology Strategy
Refreshed Emergency Management Plan and
Business Continuity Plan
Met with the Canadian Life and Health Insurance
Association (CLHIA) on dual relationships (Jan 11)
Delivered Open House session at RMTAO AGM
(February 2)
Delivered training for Compliance Auditors
Commenced new compliance audit process
Delivered Independent Contractor Training session
with Assessors and Mentors/Tutors from across
the province (February 27 & 28)
Conducted first meeting with members of the
Standards of Practice Advisory Group (SPAG)
Opened exam registration then closed it due to
COVID-19. Sent e-mail to all candidates and
education programs re: cancellation of April MCQ
and May and June OSCE dates. Updated website
with exam cancellation information.
Corporation renewals (paperwork) were due
March 31 with an extended deadline for renewal
payment to June 30, 2020.
Delivered training for new Refresher Course tutors
CMTCA granted preliminary accreditation to
Massage Therapy programs at Fleming College,
Lambton College, Ontario College of Health and
Technology, and TRIOS College.

The impact of COVID-19 and the results of the 2019 audit on CMTO’s
operations and strategic plan will become clearer as the year moves forward.
Management commenced an assessment of programs and requirements to
consider whether certain programs or activities can be postponed or
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suspended and what the impact would be on the College. The results will be
reviewed by Executive Committee and discussed with Council.
4.

Financial Management
The Finance Team commenced work on the 2019 financial audit, in conjunction
with the Senior Management Team.

5.

Human Resources Management
Recruiting activities continued to ensure the appropriate level of human resources
capability and mix of skills is maintained to meet statutory obligations and strategic
organizational objectives.
New Hires
• In total, CMTO hired 3 new employees in 2020- Q1 in the following departments:
Professional Conduct:
1
Professional Practice:
2
Hiring Deferrals (as a result of COVID-19)
•

CMTO deferred recruiting for the following 4 roles in 2020- Q1 until further notice:
Professional Practice:
Corporate Services:

Coordinator, Professional Practice
Professional Practice Specialist
IT Applications Manager
IT Applications Specialist

Employee Departures
• In 2020- Q1, there were a total of 4 employee departures in the following
departments:
Corporate Services:
2
Professional Conduct:
1
Professional Practice:
1
6.

Council Relations
• The annual elections to Council were held in January 2020.
• C. Flitton conducted the initial orientation of two new professional members of
Council.
• C. Flitton conducted an orientation session for 9 new non-council members.
• C. Flitton conducted an exit interview with 2 departing council members.
• Governance protocols such as post committee meeting surveys are continuing.
• Online self-directed training modules were provided for a new council appointee
until a remote orientation session can be scheduled.
• Various forms of communication and information were provided to the Executive
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Committee and Council regarding CMTO’s operational response to COVID-19 and its
guidance to Registrants regarding essential and emergency care. A summary of key
operational activities over 3 weeks in March is attached.
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Appendix A
Summary of CMTO’s Response to COVID-19, March 2020
March 16 – 20
• CMTO closed the office as of March 16th. Most staff commenced working from home as
of March 13, 2020. The remainder of the week was spent ensuring staff had the
necessary IT resources to perform their jobs remotely.
• Members of CMTO’s Policy and Communications team participated in the daily Ministry
COVID-19 morning briefing.
• The daily Emergency Operations Centre Reports were received and reviewed.
• The daily Pandemic Team Meeting comprising of the Senior Management Team and the
HR Generalist was conducted, as per CMTO’s Emergency Operations plan.
• The team developed and distributed communications to registrants around nonessential care with input from the Executive Committee.
• The Registrar participated in HPRO meetings with the Ministry as required.
• The team responded to emails and calls from Registrants and commenced a list of FAQs.
• Links to Ministry and Public Health Ontario COVID-19 resources and related
communications were provided to the staff team and council/non-council members to
provide education and to explain and support government direction.
• The examinations team received communication outlining the deferral of annual exam
training and deferral of the May and June examinations.
• Related communication was provided to schools regarding the deferral of the May and
June examinations.
March 23 – 27
• Members of CMTO’s Policy and Communications team participated in the daily Ministry
COVID-19 morning briefing.
• The daily Emergency Operations Centre Reports were received and reviewed.
• The daily Pandemic Team Meeting was held.
• Developed and distributed communications to registrants around emergency care with
input from Executive Committee.
• The Registrar participated in HPRO meetings with the Ministry as required.
• Responded to emails and calls from Registrants.
• Updated COVID-19 resources and related communications to the staff team and
council/non-council.
• Developed the CMTO COVID-19 webpage and provided FAQs.
• Provided information on the Ministry’s Provider Registry to Registrants so they could
volunteer their time to the health care system as needs are identified.
• Validated data received from the Registry for the Ministry by cross checking information
inputted by the Massage Therapists who volunteered, with CMTO’s Register.
• Conducted Fitness to Practice and Registration Committee Orientations.
5
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•

Held a meeting of ICRC Panel A.

March 30 – April 3, 2020
• Members of CMTO’s Policy and Communications team continued to participate in the
daily Ministry COVID-19 morning briefings.
• The daily Emergency Operations Centre Reports were received and reviewed.
• The daily Pandemic Team Meeting was held.
• Emails and calls from Registrants were responded to
• An uncontested hearing was held.
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EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE REPORT
2020 – Q1 and 2020 – Q2

Committee Members:

Kim Westfall-Connor, RMT, President
Lloyd White, Public Member, Vice President
Lisa Tucker, RMT, Executive Officer
Carolyn Watt, Public Member, Executive Officer

Committee Mandate:
The Executive Committee assumes leadership, in collaboration with the Council, the
Committees and the Registrar, in its financial monitoring, strategic planning,
governance and supervisory responsibilities. The Committee monitors administration
of the College and relies on the Registrar and other staff to implement its decisions.
SUMMARY OF COMMITTEE ACTIVITIES
1. MEETING DATES
The Executive Committee held the following meetings since the February 11 Council
meeting on:
February 11, 2020 (in-person)
March 6, 2020 (e-mail)
March 16, 2020 (teleconference)
March 20, 2020 (teleconference)
March 23, 2020 (e-mail)
March 24, 2020 (teleconference)
March 25, 2020 (email)
April 6, 2020 (teleconference)
April 21, 2020 (videoconference)
May 1, 2020 (videoconference)
1
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The Executive Committee made the following Decisions/Recommendations:
February 11, 2020
1. 2020 Executive Committee Meeting Schedule
The Executive Committee approved the Committee’s 2020 Meeting Schedule.
2. 2020 Committee Composition
The Executive Committee approved the 2020 Committee composition and circulated it to
Council for ratification by email.
3. Appointment of Mentors
The Executive Committee appointed L. White as a mentor for new Council members
S. Adderley and C. Watt. L. Tucker was subsequently appointed as a mentor for A. Cantalini.
March 6, 2020
1. Appointment of Jay Mathers, Public Member to the Quality Assurance Committee
CMTO received notice of a new Public Appointee, Jay Mathers, on March 6, 2020, to CMTO
Council.
Taking into consideration the large number of Peer Assessments that will be conducted this
year which may result in a large number of Quality Assurance (QA) Panel meetings in 2020,
the Executive Committee appointed Jay Mathers to the Quality Assurance Committee,
effective immediately. This was a time sensitive issue as the Quality Assurance Committee
orientation was scheduled for March 12.
March 16, 2020
1. COVID-19 Communication to Registrants
The Executive Committee approved the communication to Registrants that supports all nonessential Massage Therapy treatments be suspended immediately, until further notice.
March 20, 2020
1. COVID-19 Communication to Registrants
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A second Directive from the Chief Medical Officer of Health that was received subsequent to
CMTO’s guidance to the profession, ordered that all non-essential and elective services be
ceased or reduced to minimal levels until further notice and applies to all regulated health
professionals and persons who operate a group practice of regulated health professionals.
The Committee approved the proposed communication and draft FAQs to Registrants.
March 23, 2020
1. Reappointment of Eric Wu as non-Council Member to the Inquiries, Complaints and
Reports Committee (ICRC)
As a non-Council member had resigned from ICRC, the Executive Committee reappointed
Eric Wu as a non-Council Member to the ICRC effective immediately.
March 25, 2020
1. COVID-19 Communication to Registrants
The Executive Committee reviewed the draft communication to Registrants that clarified
the Premier’s Emergency Order that healthcare professionals are restricted from providing
anything other than emergency/urgent care. The communication stated CMTO’s position
that it does not view the practice of Massage Therapy as emergency/urgent care and that
the College expects RMTs to comply with all government and public health
recommendations to slow the spread of COVID-19. Because RMTs work in very close contact
with clients, have an obligation to maintain practice premises in a safe and sanitary manner
and to not put clients at risk, personal protective equipment (PPE) must be used (gloves,
masks). However, because personal protective equipment is scarce during this pandemic, it
should be prioritized for front-line health professionals in hospitals and testing facilities.
April 6, 2020
1. Serving on Council and Committees and Applying for the Canada Emergency Response
Benefit (CERB)
The Executive Committee discussed the eligibility requirements for the Canada Emergency
Response Benefit (CERB) and the risks to the College if council/committee members were
unable to participate in College business in order to receive the CERB.
April 21, 2020
1. Review of Council Agenda Items
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As part of its regular business, the Committee approved the agendas for the May 11-12,
2020 Council meeting and June 8, 2020 Professional Development Day along with briefing
notes for the quarterly Financial, Registrar’s and Administration, and the 2020 Workplan
reports.
2. Appointment of Mentor for Jay Mathers, Public Appointee
The Executive Committee appointed Lesley Hargreaves as Jay Mather’s mentor.
3. Registrar & CEO’s Performance Appraisal
The Executive Committee met with Sam Goodwin of Goodwin Consulting to discuss the
results of the Registrar’s 2019 annual performance appraisal process. The outcome will be
communicated to Council on May 11, 2020.
4. 2021 Renewal Period
The Executive Committee discussed the 2021 registration renewal fees, recognizing the
financial burden placed on registrants due to COVID-19 and asked staff to model a couple
of potential fees scenarios for review and discussion by Council at the May Council meeting.
It was agreed that although May is the traditional time in the year for Council to decide the
fees for the following year, it would be preferable to defer the decision as the COVID-19
situation was still unfolding.
5. Commnication to Registrants Once the Premier’s Order is Lifted (Essential Care)
The Executive Committee reviewed and supported CMTO’s draft guidance document
around providing essential Massage Therapy care that will be sent to Registrants when the
Premier’s Emergency Order is lifted and the profession can move from having clinics closed
to providing essential care pursuant to the Ontario Chief Medical Officer of Health’s
Directive #2. The draft may need to be updated as new information becomes available, but
the priority is to ensure that CMTO can get guidance communication out to registrants as
soon as possible after the Order is lifted.
6. Serving on Council and Committees and Applying to the Canada Emergency Response
Benefit (CERB) – Communication to Council, non-Council Members and Contractors.
The Executive Committee discussed recent changes that had been made to the eligibility
requirements of the CERB and approved the wording of the communication that was sent
to all Council, non-Council members and contractors who are considering applying for the
Canada Emergency Response Benefit (CERB), in reponse to some questions received. The
communication indicated that council/non-council members and Contractors should consult
their financial advisor or accountant for advice, given their individual circumstances and risk
4
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tolerance, and then make their own decision as to how to best balance their role on Council
or Committees and also qualify for the CERB.

May 1, 2020
1. Proposed Amendments to the Executive Committee’s Terms of Reference
The Executive Committee reviewed and approved in principle, proposed amendments to
the Executive Committee’s Terms of Reference. The Terms of Reference will be placed on
Council’s agenda for the May Meeting.
2. Massage Therapy Research Fund – Request for Extension
The Executive Committee conditionally approved a request for an extension to a research
project due to the impact of COVID-19 on the project timelines.
2. ITEMS SENT TO COUNCIL FOR DECISION/DISCUSSION
1. 2020 Committee Composition (ratified by e-mail – February 2020)
2. Ratification of Appointment of Jay Mathers, Public Member, to the Quality Assurance
Committee
3. Ratification of Appointment of Eric Wu, non-Council Member, to the Inquiries,
Complaints and Reports Committee (ICRC)
4. 2019 Draft Audited Financial Statements
5. Appointment of Auditor for 2020
6. Executive Committee Terms of Reference
7. Preliminary Fee Scenario Analysis for the 2021 Renewal Period
Respectfully submitted by:
Kim Westfall-Connor, RMT
President
College of Massage Therapists of Ontario
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REGISTRATION COMMITTEE REPORT
2020 - Q1 (January - March)
Committee Members:
Anna Cantalini, RMT (Chair) (as of February 11)
Dawn Oehring, RMT (Chair) (until February 10)
Bobbie Flint, RMT (non-Council Member) (as of February 11)
Christine Gross, Public Member (until February 10)
Lesley Hargreaves, RMT (as of February 11)
Sohail Mall, Public Member (as of February 11)
Deb Mattina, Public Member
Ian Vining, RMT (until February 10)
Committee Mandate:
The Registration Committee is responsible for determining the eligibility for
registration of all applicants where there is a question about capacity, training,
experience or education, and/or when the Registrar believes that terms, conditions or
limitations should be imposed on a certificate.

SUMMARY OF COMMITTEE ACTIVITIES
1. MEETING DATES
The Registration Committee held two business/panel meetings by teleconference in the first
quarter, on January 4th and January 30th and a new Committee Orientation/business meeting
on March 26th.
2. ITEMS FOR INFORMATION
2.1 Election of the Chair
At the meeting of March 26, 2020, Anna Cantalini, RMT, was elected as Chair of the Committee.
Registration Committee Report
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2.2 Application for Registration – Conduct Concerns
The Office of the Registrar reviewed an application for registration that included a Vulnerable
Sector Check Report confirming a number of convictions, and information relating to the
applicant’s substance abuse. After considering all the information submitted by the applicant
and an Independent Medical Examination (IME) report, the Office of the Registrar proposed to
impose terms, conditions and limitations (TCLs) on the applicant’s Certificate of Registration.
The Committee considered the application and all information submitted and accepted the
TCLs proposed by the Office of the Registrar on the Certificate of Registration.
2.3 Request for Extension for Refresher Course Validity Period
The Committee considered a request from a registrant who completed the enhanced refresher
course more than 15 months ago to grant an extension to the 15-month refresher course
validity period. After considering all of the information submitted, including the registrant’s
extenuating circumstances, the Registration Committee agreed to exempt the registrant from
completing a second Refresher Course.
2.4 Fair Registration Practices Report
The 2019 Fair Registration Practices Report was shared with the Committee at their Orientation
on March 26, 2020. The Committee directed staff to share the report with the Council (attached
as Attachment 1).
2.5 CMTCA Accreditation and Program Equivalence
The Registration Committee has the authority to deem a Massage Therapy program equivalent
to a program recognized by the Ontario Ministry of Colleges and Universities. In order to have
a rigorous process for determining equivalence, and in line with Council’s support of the
Canadian Massage Therapy Council for Accreditation (CMTCA), the Registration Committee
approved a Massage Therapy program equivalence policy that states:
o Canadian Massage Therapy education programs that are accredited by CMTCA
are deemed equivalent to a Massage Therapy education program recognized by
the MCU.
o For the program to be deemed equivalent to a Massage Therapy program
recognized by the MCU, the program must have either:
- Full CMTCA Accreditation at the time the student first registered, or
Registration Committee Report
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Preliminary Accreditation at the time the student first registered AND full
accreditation at the time the student graduates (programs must have a
full Accreditation decision by the time the student graduates in order to
meet the accreditation requirement, Preliminary Accreditation is not
sufficient).

o Students who graduate from a program that meets the above-noted
requirements must successfully complete the CMTO Jurisprudence Examination
or the Standards and Regulations e-Workshop prior to being eligible to take the
Certification Examinations.
o Current recognized Ontario equivalent Programs must achieve CMTCA
accreditation by December 31, 2023.
A copy of the full policy is attached as Attachment 2.
2.6 2020 CMTO-approved Tutors and Mentors
The Registration Committee was informed that CMTO recruited five new tutor/mentors for
2020. In-person training was provided for all new tutors and independent contractors over two
days in February 2020. The tutors also completed Standards and Regulations, AODA and
Workplace Harassment online courses.
2.7 Examination Transition
The Registration Committee was informed that CMTO has signed an agreement with Prometric
Canada Testing Services Inc. to develop and administer CMTO’s Multiple-Choice Question
(MCQ) and Objectively Structured Clinical Evaluation (OSCE) Certification Examinations as of
January 1, 2021. A comprehensive transition plan is already underway to ensure a smooth
transition before the 2021 cutover date.
For the 2020 exam year, the OSCE will continue to be delivered at CMTO’s offices in Toronto.
The MCQ will continue to be offered in four administration windows each year, however it will
no longer be offered at the Grand Hotel in Toronto. Instead, it will be offered at four Prometric
examination sites in Ontario, providing greater access to examination candidates.
Attachments:
Attachment 1: 2019 Fair Registration Practices Report
Attachment 2: Education Equivalence Policy

Registration Committee Report
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Massage Therapists (2019)
The answers seen below were submitted to the OFC by the regulated professions.
This Fair Registration Practices Report was produced as required by:
the Fair Access to Regulated Professions and Compulsory Trades Act (FARPACTA) s. 20 and 23(1), for regulated
professions named in Schedule 1 of FARPACTA
the Health Professions Procedural Code set out in Schedule 2 of the Regulated Health Professions Act (RHPA) s. 22.7
(1) and 22.9(1), for health colleges.

Index
1. Qualitative Information
2. Quantitative Information
3. Submission

1. Qualitative Information
a) Requirements for registration, including acceptable alternatives
i. Describe any improvements / changes implemented in the last year.
No changes this year
ii. Describe the impact of the improvements / changes on applicants.
No changes this year
iii. Describe the impact of the improvements / changes on your organization.
No changes this year
b) Assessment of qualifications
i. Describe any improvements / changes implemented in the last year.
No changes this year
ii. Describe the impact of the improvements / changes on applicants.
No changes this year
iii. Describe the impact of the improvements / changes on your organization.
No changes this year
c) Provision of timely decisions, responses, and reasons
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i. Describe any improvements / changes implemented in the last year.
No changes this year
ii. Describe the impact of the improvements / changes on applicants.
No changes this year
iii. Describe the impact of the improvements / changes on your organization.
No changes this year
d) Fees
i. Describe any improvements / changes implemented in the last year.
As per the amendments made to By-law No. 7 and its Schedule A
Registration Fee for 2019 :
The initial fee to issue a general certificate of registration and the annual fee for a general certificate of registration
shall be:
(A) $785 for 2019 and in subsequent years, Council shall annually review the fees and where Council deems it
appropriate, in any one or more years, this amount may be subject to an increase of not more than the annual
inflation rate rounded to the nearest dollar; or
(B) For new registrants in their first year of eligibility for registration, a percentage of the fee payable for the class
of certificate for which the applicant is applying that corresponds to the number of months remaining in the calendar
year, calculated from the date the applicant submitted their completed application form; or
(C) When the applicant is moving from the inactive class to the general class, the fee shall be the difference
between the two fees.
5. The initial fee to issue an inactive certificate to a registrant and the annual fee for an inactive certificate of
registration shall be $200 for 2019 and in subsequent years, Council shall annually review the fees and where
Council deems it appropriate, in any one or more years, this amount may be subject to an increase of not more than
the annual inflation rate rounded to the nearest dollar.
6. Every registrant shall pay an annual fee to the College by December 31, 2018 for the fees owing for 2019, and
by November 1 in each subsequent year for the fees owing for the following year.
Examination Fees for 2019:
The fee to take the written certification examination of the College initially and every subsequent time:
(A) Shall be $575 as of January 1, 2019
(B) Shall be a fee set by the Registrar that is between $575 and $632 as of January 1, 2020
(C) Shall be a fee set by the Registrar that is between $575 and $675 as of January 1, 2021
13. The fee to take the clinical certification examination of the College initially and every subsequent time shall be
$700 until December 31, 2018.
14. The fee to take the clinical certification examination of the College initially and every subsequent time:
(A) Shall be $805 as of January 1, 2019
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(B) Shall be a fee set by the Registrar that is between $805 and $885 as of January 1, 2020
(C) Shall be a fee set by the Registrar that is between $805 and $945 as of January 1, 2021
Schedule A to By-Law No. 7, the Miscellaneous Fee Schedule, was updated as follows:
Examinations
3. Withdrawal fee: $150
Effective January 1, 2019, the withdrawal fees are as follows:
3. Withdrawal Fees:
(a) Fee for withdrawing from the written certification examination less than two weeks prior to the examination date
but more than one week prior to the examination date: $150
(b) Fee for withdrawing from the written certification examination less than one week prior to the examination date
shall be the fee paid by the candidate for the written certification examination.
(c) Fee for withdrawing from the clinical certification examination less than four weeks prior to the examination date
but more than two weeks prior to the examination date: $150
(d) Fee for withdrawing from the clinical certification less than two weeks prior to the examination date shall be the
fee paid by the candidate for the clinical certification examination.
ii. Describe the impact of the improvements / changes on applicants.
The increase in examination fees will help CMTO ensure candidates have access to Certification Examinations that
are valid, reliable, defensible and secure. The increase in registration fees will ensure CMTO is able to move
forward with identified strategic priorities, including improved engagement and support of registrants.
It is recognized that any fee increase results in an increased financial burden for applicants and registrants.
Registrants may request a payment plan for the renewal fees where there are extenuating circumstances.
iii. Describe the impact of the improvements / changes on your organization.
The examination fee increase ensures sufficient financial resources are available to maintain the high quality, rigour
and security of the Certification Examinations. Staff continue to work to identify efficiencies that might reduce
examination expenses without interfering with the validity or security of the examination.
The registration fee increase ensures CMTO has the financial resources necessary to meet the requirements in the
legislation and to achieve the strategic goals set by Council to support CMTO’s mandate to govern the profession in
the public interest.
e) Timelines
i. Describe any improvements / changes implemented in the last year.
No changes this year
ii. Describe the impact of the improvements / changes on applicants.
No changes this year
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iii. Describe the impact of the improvements / changes on your organization.
No changes this year
f) Policies, procedures and/or processes, including by-laws
i. Describe any improvements / changes implemented in the last year.
CMTO Language Fluency Policy Update
CMTO’s Language Fluency Policy was reformatted in August 2019. CMTO had committed to review the policy after
a three year period to ensure that it meets the purpose and present day requirements.An environmental scan of
other regulatory bodies identified that many regulators are using similar assessment tools and CMTO’s benchmarks
are aligned.Since the implementation of the policy there has been a decrease in the volume of concerns that are
raised about a candidate’s fluency at the examination stage.
The “request for extension” process that formalized in 2016 to facilitate the transition from the previous policy to the
amended policy would be removed effective January 1, 2020.
Inappropriate Touch of a Client by a Candidate during the OSCE Policy Updated
CMTO’s experience in using this protocol in 2018 led to some recommendations for updating the policy so that it is
more effective. The amendments made in 2019 allows for the use of Occurrence Reports immediately after an
incident of inappropriate touch. The use of occurrence reports may be a more reasonable reporting expectation
depending on the situation, and still requires timely action.
Under the amended policy, there is no Subject Matter Expert (SME) Panel. Because the final decision in the matter
rests with the Office of the Registrar, it was recommended that a panel of SMEs is not needed as an intermediary
step, but that the Office of the Registrar may seek additional information (such as the appropriate performance of a
Massage Therapy technique) prior to making a decision.
Vulnerable Sector (VS) Check Policy Update
The information available on the CMTO website respecting the Vulnerable Sector (VS) Check requirement at Initial
Registration was reviewed. This was done to to ensure that all documents related to the VS Check requirement
were consistent in each form of communication (i.e. policy, initial registration application and initial registration
checklist).
Massage Therapy Graduates/Students Practising Without Being Registered
The College’s position statement regarding Massage Therapy Graduates/Students Practising Without Being
Registered was reviewed and rewritten as a policy.
Code of Ethics
The Code of Ethics and accompanying Glossary of Terms was refreshed and released in 2019.
Amendments to By-Law No. 8 – The Register
By-law No. 8 was amended to ensure that the register is consistent with the amendments to the Regulated Health
Professions Act, (RHPA)

ii. Describe the impact of the improvements / changes on applicants.
CMTO Language Fluency Policy Update
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All applicants will be subject to the same rules with reagrds to language fluency requirements for praticipating in
the Certification Examinations.
Inappropriate Touch of a Client by a Candidate during the OSCE Policy Updated
This policy does not have a signifiant impact on applicants because the likelihood of an event of this
nature occurring is extremely low. It is intended to protect standardized clients during the adminstration of the
OSCE who are contracted to simulate the role of a Massage Therapy client in a simulated clinic setting.
Vulnerable Sector (VS) Check Policy Update
The VS Check requirement information is made available to applicants in a clear and consistent manner in all forms
of communication .
Massage Therapy Graduates/Students Practising Without Being Registered
The policy provides clear information to students/graduates that if they are not registered with CMTO, they are not
authorized to practise Massage Therapy, hold themselves out as authorized to practise Massage Therapy, or use
protected tiltes.
Code of Ethics
These documents are resources to support applicants in understanding and applying the ethical principles and
values which are foundational to the practice of the profession.
Amendments to By-Law No. 8 – The Register
The updates related to By-Law No. 8 The Register and Registrant Information were circulated to registrants for
feedback prior to implementation. Stakeholders were provided with information about what information must be
contained on the Public Register.

iii. Describe the impact of the improvements / changes on your organization.
CMTO Language Fluency Policy Update
The Policy eliminates the risks related to allowing applicants to take the Certification Examination prior to meeting the
language requirement for registration.
Inappropriate Touch of a Client by a Candidate during the OSCE Policy Updated
By removing the requirement for an SME panel, the process has become more streamlined and decision making is
more efficient.
Vulnerable Sector (VS) Check Policy Update
The VS Check provides information regarding the applicant’s convictions and supports the College’s assessment of
the applicant’s conduct and character at entry-to-practice.
Massage Therapy Graduates/Students Practising Without Being Registered
The policy addresses risks related to the unregulated practice of Massage Therapy by students and graduates.
Code of Ethics
The College’s Code of Ethics clearly lay out the principles that are essential to providing the highest level of safe,
ethical and quality Massage Therapy care and maintaining the public's confidence in the profession.
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Amendments to By-Law No. 8 – The Register
CMTO has complied with the requirements that followed from the amendments to the Regulated Health Professions
Act, (RHPA) The updated by-law was then posted to the CMTO website.

g) Resources for applicants
i. Describe any improvements / changes implemented in the last year.
CMTO's 'En Français' page was reviewed and updated to ensure documents and links are current and accurate. In
addition, key pages on CMTO's webiste were updated with language confirming that information and documentation
are available in French upon request.
The College increased its social media presence in 2019. Twitter ,YouTube, LinkedIn were used to
relay information to registrants and members of the public.
ii. Describe the impact of the improvements / changes on applicants.
Ensuring information and documentation is available in French provides better access to service for francophone
Ontarians.
The College’s increased social media presence gives applicants, registrants and other stakeholders more
touchpoints for receiving information from CMTO, including updated policies and standards, information about
registration renewal and Quality Assurance program requirements, etc.

iii. Describe the impact of the improvements / changes on your organization.
The updated resources on the website and on social platforms allow the College’s practices to be more
transparent.

h) Review or appeal processes
i. Describe any improvements / changes implemented in the last year.
No changes this year
ii. Describe the impact of the improvements / changes on applicants.
No changes this year
iii. Describe the impact of the improvements / changes on your organization.
No changes this year
i) Access to applicant records
i. Describe any improvements / changes implemented in the last year.

Page 6 of 15

No changes this year
ii. Describe the impact of the improvements / changes on applicants.
No changes this year
iii. Describe the impact of the improvements / changes on your organization.
No changes this year
j) Training and resources for registration staff, Council, and committee members
i. Describe any improvements / changes implemented in the last year.
All staff participated in RHPA foundational training on Februaury 25, 2019.This training covered key themes in
all specific departmental areas.
On March 4, 2019 CMTO provided training to all its Independent contractors such as tutors and mentors, peer
assessors and compliance auditors.
College legal counsel and staff provided orientation to members of the Registration Committee on March 18,
2019.
New staff attended the Managing Cultural Differences Workshop on June 13, 2019.
Sexual abuse sensitivity training was provided to College staff by Dr. Ruth Gallop on October 31, 2019. The
presentation focused on helping staff understand the appropriate behaviours and avoidance of boundary
violations, power of imbalance, recognition of and appropriate response to sexual abuse, understanding the
nature of sexual abuse and its impact and legeslative requirements.
All staff participated in a Communications Training Workshop on November 29, 2019.
ii. Describe the impact of the improvements / changes on applicants.
Applicants and registrants receive clear and accurate information and are treated with respect and compassion by
CMTO staff and committee members.
iii. Describe the impact of the improvements / changes on your organization.
The Registration Committee has a clear understanding of their role within the governance framework, and staff are
better able to communicate complex information and treat applicants and registrants with respect and compassion.
Training provided to the Independent Contractors helps them understand their role in supporting the
College's mandate to govern the profession in the public interest, and ensures consistency in the provision of
contractor services.
k) Mutual recognition agreements
i. Describe any improvements / changes implemented in the last year.
Massage therapy became a regulated health profession in Prince Edward Island on March 1, 2019. Under the
Canadian Free Trade Agreement (CFTA), regulated professions, including Massage Therapy, have mutual
recognition of credentials across provinces. Massage Therapists from PEI who are registered and in good standing
with the College of Massage Therapists of PEI (CMTPEI) can apply for registration with CMTO upon completion of
the CMTO Jurisprudence Examination.
ii. Describe the impact of the improvements / changes on applicants.
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Facilitates the mobility of Massage Therapists between regulated provinces.
iii. Describe the impact of the improvements / changes on your organization.
CMTO is compliant with the Canadian labour mobility requirements.

l) Other (include as many items as applicable)
i. Describe any improvements / changes implemented in the last year.
Objectively Structured Clinical Evaluation (OSCE) Tablet System
In May 2019, CMTO implemented a new tablet system for evaluating candidates during the Objectively Structured
Clinical Evaluation (OSCE) .The software on the tablets was customized to be user-friendly and functional. The
OSCE software has the additional functionality of capturing specific details regarding candidate performance. The
new functionality allows examiners to choose from a list of possible reasons for which a candidate is not awarded
a particular mark.
Certification Examination Third-party Provider
CMTO issued an RFP for the development and administration of the Multiple-Choice Question (MCQ) and the
Objectively Structured Clinical Evaluation (OSCE) Certification Examinations. After selecting a Prometric, the College
put a transition plan in place that will transition the examinations to Prometric by January 1, 2021.
Updated Approved Reference List for Examinations
The Approved Reference list for CMTO’s Certification Examinations was reviewed and updated in 2019.The
Approved Reference list is a list of the resources used to develop content for CMTO’s Certification Examinations.
Guide to the CMTO Refresher Course
The CMTO Refresher Course guide was created in June 2019. The guide provides information to registrants and
applicants about the refresher course, who needs to take the refresher course and how the process works. It also
explains the qualifications that must be met to be a CMTO-approved refresher course tutor and the process for
becoming a tutor.
ii. Describe the impact of the improvements / changes on applicants.
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New Objectively Structured Clinical Evaluation (OSCE) Tablet System
The new functionality will allow examiners to be more mobile and observe the tasks bieng carried out by applicants
during the examination.
Certification Examination Request for proposal (RFP)
Examination Candidates will continue to receive valid, objective and reliable examinations while being given
improved access to the MCQ exams administered in Prometric test centres across Ontario.
Updated Approved Reference List for Examinations
Applicants can refer to this list at the time of preparing for their certifictrion examinations.
Guide to the CMTO Refresher Course
Applicants and registrants have a clear undertsanding of the requirements and know what to expect at the time of
completing the Refresher Course.
iii. Describe the impact of the improvements / changes on your organization.
New Objectively Structured Clinical Evaluation (OSCE) Tablet System
The software improvements will help CMTO collect valuable statistics to inform content development efforts and
identify trends in candidate performance.
Certification Examination Request for proposal (RFP)
The decision to move to a third party for examination development and administration is an important step that allows
CMTO to maintain control over content requirements (content outlines) and candidate eligibility requirements while
removing any perceived conflict of interest that can arise when a regulator develops and administers registration
examinations.
Updated Approved Reference List for Examinations
Certification Examination content is developed using current/updated resources.
Guide to the CMTO Refresher Course
By providing information to the applicants and tutors CMTO is able to meet its legislative requirements.
Describe any registration-related improvements/changes to your enabling legislation and/or regulations
in the last year
No changes this year

BACK TO INDEX

2. Quantitative Information
a) Languages
Indicate the languages in which application information materials were available in the reporting year.
Language

Yes/No

English

Yes
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French

Yes

Other (please specify)
Additional comments:
A French language page is available on the CMTO website with access to documents in
French https://www.cmto.com/francais/

b) Gender of applicants
Indicate the number of applicants in each category as applicable.
Gender

Number of Applicants

Male

258

Female

675

None of the above

0

Additional comments:
The CMTO defines an applicant as someone who submitted an application for registration and paid the application
fee.

c) Gender of members
Indicate the number of members in each category as applicable. Select the option that best corresponds to the
terminology used by your organization.
Gender

Number of Members

Male

3298

Female

11666

None of the above

1

Additional comments:
Total number of registrants as on December 31, 2019 was 14, 965

d) Jurisdiction where applicants obtained their initial education
Indicate the number of applicants by the jurisdiction where they obtained their initial education1 in the profession or
trade.
Ontario

913

Other Canadian
USA
Provinces
20

0

Other International

n/a 0
Total 0

UnknownTotal

0

933

1

Recognizing that applicants may receive their education in multiple jurisdictions, for the purpose of this question,
include only the jurisdiction in which an entry-level degree, diploma or other certification required to practice the
profession or trade was obtained.
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Additional comments:

e) Jurisdiction where applicants who became registered members obtained their initial education
Indicate the number of applicants who became registered members in the reporting year by the jurisdiction where
they obtained their initial education1 in the profession or trade.
Ontario

913

Other Canadian
USA
Provinces
20

Other International

n/a 0
Total 0

0

UnknownTotal
933

0

1

Recognizing that applicants may receive their education in multiple jurisdictions, for the purpose of this question,
include only the jurisdiction in which an entry-level degree, diploma or other certification required to practice the
profession or trade was obtained.
Additional comments:

f) Jurisdiction where members were initially trained
Indicate the total number of registered members by jurisdiction where they obtained their initial education1 in the
profession or trade.
Ontario

14516

Other Canadian
USA
Provinces

106

3

Other International

China
Cuba
France
Germany
Israel
Japan
Netherlands
Poland
Russia
Total

1
1
2
2
1
2
1
6
1
17

Unknown Total

323

14965

1

Recognizing that applicants may receive their education in multiple jurisdictions, for the purpose of this question,
include only the jurisdiction in which an entry-level degree, diploma or other certification required to practice the
profession or trade was obtained.
Additional comments:
Members include all General and Inactive Certificate holders.

g) Applications processed
Indicate the number of applications your organization processed in the reporting year:
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Jurisdiction where applicants were initially trained in the profession (before they were granted use of the protected
title or professional designation in Ontario)
Ontario

Other
Canadian
Provinces

USA

New applications received

913

20

0

0

0

933

Applicants actively pursuing
licensing (applicants who had
some contact with your
organization in the reporting
year)

913

20

0

0

0

933

Inactive applicants (applicants
who had no contact with your
organization in the reporting
year)

0

0

0

0

0

0

Applicants who met all
requirements and were
authorized to become
members but did not become
members

0

0

0

0

0

0

Applicants who became FULLY
registered members

913

20

0

0

0

933

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

from January 1st to December
31

st

of the reporting year

Applicants who were
authorized to receive an
alternative class of licence3 but
were not issued a licence
Applicants who were issued
an alternative class of licence3

Other
Unknown
International

Total

1

An alternative class of licence enables its holder to practice with limitations, but additional requirements must be
met in order for the member to be fully licensed.
Additional comments:
The CMTO defines an applicant as someone who submitted an application for Initial Registration and paid the
application fee.
New applications received: Applications for initial registration received by the CMTO within the reporting year.
Applicants actively pursuing licensing: Applicants that submitted an initial registration application in the
reporting year.
Inactive applicants: n/a
Applicants who met all requirements and were authorized to become members but did not
become members: Applicants who submitted an application for Initial Registration but did not submit the
application fee and or documents required for registration.
Applicants who became members: Applicants registered within the reporting year
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The CMTO does not have a category of alternative class of registration such as student, intern, associate,
provisional or temporary.

h) Classes of certificate/license
Inidcate and provide a description of the classes of certificate/license offered by your organization.
You must specify and describe at least one class of certificate/license (on line a) in order for this step to be
complete.

#

Certification

Description
Description (a)

a)

General Certificate (GC)

Required for any registrant wishing to practise
Massage Therapy in Ontario.
Description (b)

b)

For Massage Therapists who are not currently
practising Massage Therapy in Ontario but may return
to practice in the future.

Inactive Certificate (IN)

Additional comments:
The Massage Therapy registration regulation does not permit alternative classes or license. Initial registration
must always be with a General Certificate. An Inactive Certificate may be requested after initial registration.

i) Reviews and appeals processed
State the number of reviews and appeals your organization processed in the reporting year (use only whole
numbers; do not enter commas or decimals).
Jurisdiction where applicants were initially trained in the profession (before they were granted use of the protected
title or professional designation in Ontario)
Ontario

Other
Canadian
Provinces

USA

Applications that were subject
to an internal review or that
were referred to a statutory
committee of your governing
council, such as a Registration
Committee

2

1

0

0

0

3

Applicants who initiated an
appeal of a registration
decision

0

1

0

0

0

1

Appeals heard

0

0

0

0

0

0

from January 1st to December
31

st

of the reporting year

Other
Unknown
International

Total
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from January 1st to December
31

st

of the reporting year

Registration decisions
changed following an appeal

Ontario

Other
Canadian
Provinces

USA

0

0

0

Other
Unknown
International
0

Total

0

0

Additional comments:
Internal reviews include Registration Committee reviews of the Registrar's proposal to refuse to register an
applicant (when she has doubts on reasonable grounds about whether the applicant fulfills all of the
requirements for registration), and of the Registrar's proposal to impose terms, conditions, or limitations on the
applicant's registration. In 2019, no application for registration was referred to the Registration Committee for a
decision.
In 2019, the Deputy Registrar referred three applications for registration to the Registration Committee. These
applications were first received in 2018.
Appeals of Registration Committee decisions are not internal as they are handled by HPARB. One
applicant initiated an appeal of a Registration Committee decision to HPARB in 2019.
CMTO is currently the administrator of the RMT Certification Examinations for Ontario. Exam candidates may
request a review of their examination result. We have not included examination reviews in the numbers above as
these individuals are not yet applicants, they have not submitted an Application for Initial Registration.

j) Paid staff
In the table below, enter the number of paid staff employed by your organization in the categories shown, on
December 31 of the reporting year.
When providing information for each of the categories in this section, you may want to use decimals if you count
your staff using half units. For example, one full-time employee and one part-time employee might be equivalent to
1.5 employees.
You can enter decimals to the tenths position only. For example, you can enter 1.5 or 7.5 but not 1.55 or 7.52.
Category

Staff

Total staff employed by the regulatory body

42

Staff involved in appeals process

4

Staff involved in registration process

7.5

Additional comments:

BACK TO INDEX

3. Submission
I hereby certify that:
Name of individual with authority to sign on behalf of the organization:
Alicia Lockey
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Title:
Manager, Registration Services
Date:
2020/02/27
BACK TO INDEX
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Policy
Canadian Massage Therapy Council for Accreditation (CMTCA) and
Education Program Equivalence (for programs outside Ontario)

Summary:
Accreditation by the Canadian Massage Therapy Council for Accreditation (CMTCA) is
accepted by the Registration Committee of the College of Massage Therapists of Ontario
(CMTO) for the purposes of identifying Massage Therapy education programs outside of
Ontario that are equivalent to a program in a private vocational school in Ontario, or a College
of Applied Arts and Technology in Ontario.

Background
In order to become registered with the College of Massage Therapists of Ontario (CMTO),
applicants must meet the education requirement articulated in Paragraph 5(1)1 of the
Registration Regulation under the Massage Therapy Act, 1991 by:
A. Obtaining a diploma in Massage Therapy from a private vocational school in
Ontario, or a College of Applied Arts and Technology in Ontario, or
B. Successfully completing a course in Massage Therapy at an educational institution
outside of Ontario that the Registration Committee considers to be equivalent to
the educational program currently being taught in schools and colleges referred
to in paragraph A, or
C. Having qualifications equivalent to those provided by the educational program
currently being taught in schools and colleges referred to in paragraph A.
The Registration Committee needed a policy to support their authority in paragraph B, above.
The Canadian Massage Therapy Council for Accreditation (CMTCA) has a comprehensive
process in place to accredit Massage Therapy education programs. The purpose of the

accreditation process is to provide a mechanism for quality assurance and continuing
improvement of entry-level Massage Therapy education programs across Canada.
CMTCA accreditation is a two-step process:
1. Preliminary Accreditation: The education program completes a self-assessment, rating
themselves against criteria for each accreditation standard and then submitting their
evaluation and evidence to CMTCA. Once reviewed and approved, the program is
granted Preliminary Accreditation.
2. Accreditation: To be granted full Accreditation, a site visit will be scheduled where
CMTCA staff and two surveyors will assess compliance with the accreditation standards.
After the site visit, the program will receive a decision of either one, three or five years
of accreditation, or non-accreditation.
It is important to note that Preliminary Accreditation is not the same as an Accreditation
decision, and a program is not fully accredited until a site visit has been successfully completed.
Historically, CMTO has recognized a small number of Massage Therapy programs outside of
Ontario as equivalent to programs in Ontario. These programs must achieve CMTCA
accreditation by December 31, 2023 or they will no longer be recognized as equivalent.
Policy
The Registration Committee has determined that a Massage Therapy education program
outside Ontario is deemed equivalent to a Massage Therapy program in a private vocational
school in Ontario or a College of Applied Arts and Technology in Ontario, if the program has
achieved:
o Full CMTCA Accreditation at the time a student is first registered, or
o CMTCA Preliminary Accreditation at the time a student is first registered AND
Full CMTCA Accreditation before the student graduates (Preliminary
Accreditation at the time the student graduates is not sufficient).
Students who graduate from a program that meets the above-noted requirements must also
satisfy the language fluency requirement and successfully complete the CMTO Jurisprudence
Examination or the Standards and Regulations E-Workshop prior to being eligible to take the
CMTO Certification Examinations.
Massage Therapy education programs outside Ontario that were recognized as equivalent
before this policy was implemented must achieve Full CMTCA accreditation by December 31,
2023 or they will no longer be recognized as equivalent to a Massage Therapy education

program in a private vocational school in Ontario or a College of Applied Arts and Technology in
Ontario.
Approved by Registration Committee: March 26, 2020
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CLIENT RELATIONS COMMITTEE REPORT
2020 – Q1 (January – March)
Committee Members:

Ian Vining, RMT (Chair)
Tammy Contois, RMT, non-Council Member
Christine Gross, Public Member
Sohail Mall, Public Member (as of February 11)
Lloyd White, Public Member (until February 10)

Committee Mandate:
The Committee has responsibility for all programs and measures that are designed to
address, prevent or deal with sexual abuse of clients by registrants. This responsibility
has been extended to address aspects of relations between registrants and their
clients.

SUMMARY OF COMMITTEE ACTIVITIES
1. MEETING DATES
The Committee met once in the first quarter on March 11, 2020.
2. ITEMS FOR INFORMATION
2.1 Election of Chair
Ian Vining, RMT was elected Chair of the Client Relations Committee.

Client Relations Report
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2.2 Committee Orientation
Angie Brennand provided a comprehensive orientation for Committee members.
2.3 Sexual Abuse Prevention Plan
The Committee received and discussed the Sexual Abuse Prevention Plan Evaluation from 2019,
and based on that evaluation, reviewed and discussed an updated Sexual Abuse Prevention
Plan for 2020.
2.4 New Applicants for Funding for Therapy and Counselling
The Committee approved one (1) application for funding for therapy and counselling.
2.5 Committee Workplan
The Committee reviewed and discussed the 2020 Committee Workplan. The Committee will
also review the current Funding for Therapy and Counselling Policy and discuss potential
changes to increase its effectiveness.

Client Relations Report
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QUALITY ASSURANCE COMMITTEE REPORT
2020 – Q1 (January - March)
Committee Members:
Lloyd White, Public Member (Chair)
Kyle Bonnyman, RMT (non-Council Member) (until February 10)
Rebecca Cleaveley, RMT (non-Council Member) (as of February 11)
Tammy Contois, RMT (non-Council Member)
Jennifer Da Ponte, RMT (non-Council Member) (as of February 11)
Cora Di Pietro, RMT (non-Council Member) (as of February 11)
Christine Gross, Public Member (as of February 11)
Nevenko Jeftic, RMT
Shannon Marshall, RMT (non-Council Member) (as of February 11)
Jay Mathers, Public Member (as of March 6)
Dawn Oehring, RMT
Susan Schankula, RMT (non-Council Member) (as of February 11)
Committee Mandate:
The Quality Assurance Committee has responsibility for overseeing the development
and implementation of a quality assurance program in accordance with regulations
prescribed by the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991 and College Regulations.

SUMMARY OF COMMITTEE ACTIVITIES
1. MEETING DATES
The Quality Assurance Committee met once during the first quarter on March 12, 2020.
Additionally, four Quality Assurance Panel meetings were held on January 10 and 31, and

Quality Assurance Committee
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February 5 and 6, 2020 to accommodate the review of a number of ongoing peer assessment
matters.
2. ITEMS FOR INFORMATION
2.1 Professional Practice – Workplan Update
2.1.1 Development and Implementation of Redesigned Quality Assurance Program–Phase 1
During the first quarter, the Professional Practice team continued to follow up with registrants
who had not submitted STRiVE requirements for 2019. As a result, the compliance rate
increased to 97%.
2.1.2 Development and Updating of Standards of Practice
In collaboration with qualified consultants, the Standards of Practice revision project continues
to move forward. To accommodate scheduling requirements for members of the Standards of
Practice Advisory Group (SPAG), two orientation sessions were held on January 13 and 29,
2020. Additionally, the group met on February 3, 2020, for the first SPAG meeting. Subsequent
meetings will be held throughout 2020.
2.2 2019 Assessments
A total of 522 assessments were conducted in 2019, with 77 outcomes being considered by the
Quality Assurance Panels during the first quarter of 2020. As a result, decisions were made to
issue 57 Specified Continuing Education or Remediation Programs (SCERPs), impose Terms,
Conditions and Limitations on seven registrant’s Certificates of Registration, refer two matters
to the Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee (ICRC), provide recommendations on three
matters and take no further action on eight matters.
3. ITEMS SENT TO COUNCIL FOR DECISION
There were no items sent to Council for decision.

Quality Assurance Committee
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DISCIPLINE COMMITTEE REPORT
2020 – Q1 (January - March)
Committee Members:

Lesley Hargreaves, RMT (Chair) (as of February 11)
Jennifer Da Ponte, RMT (Chair) (until February 10)
Sean Adderley, RMT (as of February 11)
Suja Biber, RMT
Allie Bisset, RMT (non-Council Member) (as of February 11)
Kyle Bonnyman, RMT (non-Council Member)
Anna Cantalini, RMT (as of February 11)
Bobbie Flint, RMT (non-Council Member)
Christine Gross, Public Member
Michael Hayes, RMT (non-Council Member) (as of February 11)
Richard Jaunzemis, RMT(non-Council Member) (as of February 11)
Nevenko Jeftic, RMT
Marlene Kesler, Public Member
Sarah Kingsbury, RMT (non-Council Member) (as of February 11)
Sohail Mall, Public Member
Jay Mathers, Public Member (as of March 6)
Debra Mattina, Public Member
Dawn Oehring, RMT
Rachael Parkes, RMT (non-Council Member) (until February 10)
Karen Sosnowski, RMT (until February 10)
Lisa Tucker, RMT
Ian Vining, RMT
Carolyn Watt, Public Member
Kim Westfall-Connor, RMT
Lloyd White, Public Member

Committee Mandate:
The Discipline Committee is responsible for conducting hearings related to allegations
of registrants’ professional misconduct or incompetence. As part of this process, the
Committee may make decisions to revoke or suspend a registrant’s Certificate of
Registration or impose other terms and conditions, where appropriate.
Discipline Committee Report
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SUMMARY OF COMMITTEE ACTIVITIES
1. MEETING DATES
Members of the Discipline Committee received orientation and training on February 28, 2020.
2. ITEMS FOR INFORMATION
Table 2.1.1
Hearings Data

Total hearings
completed in the quarter
Total motions1
heard in the quarter
Prehearings completed in the quarter

9
2
5

Table 2.1.2

Type of Hearing
Contested liability only
Contested penalty only
Partially contested 2
Fully contested (on both
liability and penalty) 3
Uncontested penalty only
Fully uncontested (on both
liability and penalty)

Number of Hearings
Completed in
Quarter
1
1
2
1
0
3

Nine (9) hearings were completed in this quarter, marking a two-fold increase in hearing
volume as compared to that of the previous quarter. Both the number of hearings and the
Both motions heard in this quarter were requests for indefinite adjournment of discipline hearings. Motions are
not counted toward the total number of hearings.
2
One matter was partially contested on costs and the other was partially contested on penalty.
3
The contested liability and contested penalty phases of this matter were counted as two separate hearings (each
phase was heard separately) but amounted to one fully contested hearing.
1

Discipline Committee Report
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Number of motions in this quarter are comparable to the volume experienced in the first
quarter of 2019. The number of pre-hearing conferences held steady at five (5).
2.2 Decision Release Data
The Committee released eight (8) discipline decisions.
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.

Ontario (College of Massage Therapists of Ontario) v Nava, 2019 ONCMTO 36
Ontario (College of Massage Therapists of Ontario) v Blundell, 2020 ONCMTO 1
Ontario (College of Massage Therapists of Ontario) v Bernal, 2020 ONCMTO 2
Ontario (College of Massage Therapists of Ontario) v Miller, 2020 ONCMTO 3
Ontario (College of Massage Therapists of Ontario) v Smits, 2020 ONCMTO 4
Ontario (College of Massage Therapists of Ontario) v Al-Shamlah, 2020 ONCMTO 5
Ontario (College of Massage Therapists of Ontario) v Williams, 2020 ONCMTO 6
Ontario (College of Massage Therapists of Ontario) v Moon, 2020 ONCTMO 7

Summaries of the decisions are available on the College’s website and full-text versions of the
decisions are reported on the Canadian Legal Information Institute (CanLII).
2.3 Quarterly Summary of Discipline Committee Activities
The table below provides information on activities related to pre-hearing conferences,
discipline hearings (liability 4 and/or penalty5 phase), motion proceedings, and release dates of
written reasons for decisions.

The liability phase of a discipline hearing involves a panel of the Discipline Committee deciding whether the allegations of
professional misconduct or incompetence have been proven. If the panel decides that the College has proven the allegations, it
makes a finding of professional misconduct or incompetence.

4

If there are findings of professional misconduct or incompetence, the hearing proceeds to the penalty phase where the panel
may make one or a combination of the following orders: suspend or revoke a registrant’s certificate of registration; impose
specific terms, conditions and limitations; and/or require the registrant to appear before the panel for a reprimand.

5

In appropriate cases, and where there is a finding of professional misconduct or incompetence, the Discipline Committee may
order the registrant to pay all or part of the College’s legal costs and expenses. While costs are not part of the penalty, the
parties make submissions on costs at the penalty phase of the hearing.

Discipline Committee Report
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Registrant

1.

Date of Activity
in the Quarter

MW

January 6

Contested hearing: penalty

AS

March 10
January 7

Written reasons released
Partially contested hearing:
liability and penalty; contested
on costs

KM

February 25
January 7

Written reasons released
Uncontested hearing:
liability and penalty

Registrant G
HM

February 27
January 10
January 10

Written reasons released
Pre-hearing conference
Pre-hearing conference

January 27,
February 26

Uncontested hearing:
liability and penalty

2.

3.
4.

5.

6.
7.
8.
9.
10.
11.
12.
13.
14.
15.
16.
17.

Type of Activity

March 27
Registrant M January 13
HK
January 14, 15

Written reasons released
Pre-hearing conferences
Contested hearing: liability

MB
CR

January 17
January 21
January 22

Contested hearing: penalty
Written reasons released
Contested hearing: liability

LB
JW

February 6
February 7, 26

BAS
JMN
Registrant B
AB

February 28
March 25
March 27
March 31

NI

March 31

VB

March 31

Written reasons released
Partially contested hearing:
Uncontested liability and
partially contested penalty
Written reasons released
Written reasons released
Pre-hearing conference
Motion for indefinite
adjournment
Motion for indefinite
adjournment
Uncontested hearing:
liability and penalty

Agenda Status
Item 6.4.5
Consent Agenda

Complete/closed
Complete/closed

Complete/closed

Hearing scheduled
Complete/closed

Hearing scheduled
Written reasons pending
Complete/closed
Decision and written
reasons pending
Complete/closed
Written reasons pending
Penalty hearing pending
Complete/closed
Liability hearing pending
Written reasons pending
Written reasons pending
Written reasons pending

3. ITEMS SENT TO COUNCIL FOR DECISION
There were no items sent to Council for decision.
Discipline Committee Report
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FITNESS TO PRACTISE COMMITTEE REPORT
2020 – Q1 (January - March)
Committee Members:

Anna Cantalini, RMT (Chair)(as of February 11)
Kim Westfall-Connor, RMT (Chair)(until February 10)
Sean Adderley, RMT (as of February 11)
Suja Biber, RMT
Jennifer Da Ponte, RMT (until February 10)
Christine Gross, Public Member
Lesley Hargreaves, RMT
Nevenko Jeftic, RMT
Marlene Kesler, Public Member
Sohail Mall, Public Member
Jay Mathers, Public Member (as of March 6)
Debra Mattina, Public Member
Dawn Oehring, RMT
Karen Sosnowski, RMT (until February 10)
Lisa Tucker, RMT
Ian Vining, RMT
Carolyn Watt, Public Member
Lloyd White, Public Member

Committee Mandate:
The Fitness to Practise Committee is responsible for conducting hearings to determine
the capacity or “fitness” of a registrant to practise the profession, in cases where
information has come before the Committee that reveals that the registrant may be
incapacitated. As part of this process, the Committee may make decisions to revoke or
suspend a registrant’s Certificate of Registration or impose other terms and conditions,
where appropriate.

Fitness to Practise Committee Report
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SUMMARY OF COMMITTEE ACTIVITIES
1. MEETING DATES
Members of the Fitness to Practise Committee received orientation and training on March 24,
2020.
2. ITEMS FOR INFORMATION
Table 2.1
Fitness to Practise Data
Total hearings
completed in the quarter
Total motions
heard in the quarter
Case conferences1
completed in the quarter

0
0
2

2.2 Decision Release Data
There were no decisions issued by the Fitness to Practise Committee.
2.3 Quarterly Summary of Fitness to Practise Activities
The table below provides information on activities related to Fitness to Practise matters
referred to the Committee.
Registrant
1.
2.

Date of Activity
in the Quarter
Registrant A January 21, 2020
Registrant W February 6, 2020

Type of Activity
Case conference
Case conference

Status
Hearing scheduled
Hearing scheduled

3. ITEMS SENT TO COUNCIL FOR DECISION
There were no items sent to Council for decision.
A case conference, as referenced in the Fitness to Practise Rules of Procedure, is a meeting between the College
and a registrant to discuss, among other issues, whether any facts can be agreed to, whether any issues can be
settled or narrowed before the hearing, the content and timing of disclosure, and the estimated length and
scheduling of the hearing.
1
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EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE REPORT
2019
Committee Members:

Lisa Tucker, RMT, President, Chair
Jocelyn Acheson, Public Member, Vice-President (until June 21, 2019)
Kim Westfall-Connor, RMT, Executive Officer (until June 21, 2019),
Vice-President (as of June 22, 2019)
Jennifer Da Ponte, RMT, Executive Officer
Lloyd White, Public Member, Executive Officer (as of June 22, 2019)

Committee Mandate: The Executive Committee assumes leadership, in collaboration with
Council, Committees and the Registrar, in financial monitoring, strategic planning, governance
and supervisory responsibilities. The Executive Committee monitors the administration of CMTO
and relies on the Registrar and other staff to implement its decisions.

SUMMARY OF 2019 ACCOMPLISHMENTS AND ACTIVITIES
In 2019, the Executive Committee met 13 times and continued its monitoring and oversight role
for strategic, governance and financial planning initiatives for CMTO.
As part of its financial oversight, the Executive Committee reviewed the results of the 2018
financial audit with CMTO’s auditor prior to its presentation to Council and approved the draft
2020 budget to go to Council. The Committee further approved a Finance Policy Manual for
implementation in January 2020. Committee members agreed that there will be an internal
control audit involving an annual review of these policies, commencing 2021. The Committee
also conducted the Registrar’s 2018 performance appraisal and reported the results to Council.
Based on Council’s discussion at its strategic planning meeting, the members of the Executive
Committee approved the full amount of funding to the Canadian Massage Therapy Council for
Accreditation (CMTCA) for 2019. The Committee further agreed to enter into a multi-year
agreement with CMTCA, with the stipulation that CMTCA engages in an agreement to provide
Executive Committee Report
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data to all stakeholders, including CMTO, as required.
The Executive Committee considered 36 applicants for CMTO’s non-Council Committee
positions, and based on their expertise and knowledge, selected 17 registrants for these
positions. The number of non-Council members on committees increased in 2019 to
accommodate panel meetings.
As CMTO sometimes encounters difficulties in obtaining outstanding fees from registrants, the
Executive Committee proposed a by-law amendment, which was later approved by Council,
that would allow for outstanding fees and costs to be added to an individual registrant’s annual
Certificate of Registration fee. The Committee also put forward proposed amendments to bylaws to ensure that there are always two Public Members on the Executive Committee,
proposed a new Executive Committee election process and updated the Compensation and
Expense Guidelines for Professional Members Policy.
The Committee also approved funding proposals in the amount of $37,100 on the topic of
Manipulating the gut microbiota with massage therapy as a treatment strategy for Stroke and
$32,093.90 on the topic of Myofascial Release (MFR) of the Pectoral Fascia: Effects on Shoulder
Posture, Upper Limb Reaching Strategies and Performance as a result of the 2018 Massage
Therapy Research Fund Competition.
The Committee approved the draft Code of Ethics and Glossary of Terms for circulation to
stakeholders for feedback. The Committee also approved a draft update to the Practice
Resource: Cannabis. These documents were later approved by Council at its November 2019
meeting.

Executive Committee Report
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REGISTRATION COMMITTEE REPORT
2019
Committee Members:

Dawn Oehring, RMT, Chair
Anna Cantalini, RMT (non-Council Member)
Christine Gross, Public Member (as of October 1, 2019)
Deb Matina, Public Member
Hedy Miszuk, Public Member (until September 30, 2019)
Ian Vining, RMT

Committee Mandate:
The Registration Committee has responsibility for determining the eligibility for
registration of all applicants where there is a question about capacity, training,
experience or education, and/or when the Registrar believes that terms, conditions or
limitations should be imposed on a certificate.

SUMMARY OF 2019 ACCOMPLISHMENTS AND ACTIVITIES
The Registration Committee held seven meetings in 2019; of these, three meetings were inperson and four were by teleconference.
In 2019, the Committee reviewed and approved:
• Policy Relating to Inappropriate Touch of a Client by a Candidate During the Objectively
Structured Clinical Evaluation (OSCE)
• Registration and Certification Examination Policies
• Terms of Reference of the Registration Committee
• Draft Registration Regulation
• CMTCA Accreditation Updates and Program Equivalence
• Fair Registration Practices Report 2018
• Vulnerable Sector (VS) Check Policy Update
Registration Committee Report
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•
•
•
•
•

CMTO Language Fluency Policy Update
2019 OSCE cut scores summary
2020 Multiple Choice Questionnaire (MCQ) and OSCE Content Outlines
Proposal for discontinuation of wallet ID Cards
Proposed updates to the 2020 Application for Registration

Agenda Item 6.5.2
Consent Agenda

Statistics for the year:
A total of 933 applicants were registered in 2019.
Three applications were referred to the Registration Committee for a review and decision:
Reasons for Referral:
o Conduct Concerns

3

Decision Summary:
o Direct the Registrar to issue a Certificate of Registration

1

o Direct the Registrar to impose specified terms, conditions
and limitations on a Certificate of Registration

1

o Direct the Registrar to issue a Certification of Registration
1
if prior to registration, the applicant successfully completes
additional training specified by the Panel and, upon successful
completion of the additional training and meeting the administrative
requirements for registration, direct the Registrar to impose specified terms,
conditions and limitations (TCLs) on the Certificate of Registration

Registration Committee Report
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CLIENT RELATIONS COMMITTEE REPORT
2019
Committee Members:

Ian Vining, RMT, Chair
Tammy Contois, RMT (non-Council Member)
Andrew Flint, Public Member (until September 16, 2019)
Christine Gross, Public Member (as of September 29, 2019)
Hedy Miszuk, Public Member (until September 28, 2019)
Lloyd White, Public Member (as of September 17, 2019)

Committee Mandate:
The Client Relations Committee has responsibility for all programs and measures
that are designed to address preventing or dealing with sexual abuse of clients by
registrants. This responsibility has been extended to address any aspect of
relations between registrants and their clients.

SUMMARY OF 2019 ACCOMPLISHMENTS AND ACTIVITIES
The Committee met three times in 2019.
The Committee focused its efforts on public-facing initiatives and approving new requests for
funding for therapy and counselling in 2019.
Committee members evaluated the results of the College’s 2018 Sexual Abuse Prevention Plan
(SAPP), and reviewed and approved an updated SAPP for 2019. The 2019 SAPP was reviewed by
Council and then posted publicly on CMTO’s website.

Client Relations Committee Report
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The Client Relations Committee monitored the impact of changes made to the CMTO Funding
for Therapy and Couselling Policy in 2018. Changes to increase the effectiveness of the policy
will be made in 2020. In 2019, 18 applications were received, and 13 applicants were reviewed
and approved for funding for therapy and counselling. An additional five applications are
awaiting further information (to be provided by applicants) so that they can be approved.
The Client Relations Committee also discussed and provided feedback on content for a new
client-focused area of the CMTO website; promoted the annual Look Before You Book
campaign; and evaualted CMTO’s current public awareness initiavites.

Client Relations Committee Report
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INQUIRIES, COMPLAINTS AND REPORTS COMMITTEE REPORT
2019
Committee Members:
Lesley Hargreaves, RMT, Chair (as of March 20, 2019)
Karen Sosnowski, RMT, Chair (until March 19, 2019)
Sean Adderley, RMT (non-Council Member (as of February 12, 2019)
Jocelyn Acheson, Public Member (until June 21, 2019)
Suja Biber, RMT (as of February 12, 2019)
Sandra Cina, RMT (non-Council Member) (as of February 12, 2019)
Jennifer Da Ponte, RMT (until February 11, 2019)
Laura DiMarco, RMT (non-Council Member)(until February 11, 2019)
Murthy Ghandikota, Public Member (until October 8, 2019)
Clinton Jack, RMT (non-Council Member)(until February 11, 2019)
Kyla Levesque, RMT (non-Council Member)(as of February 12, 2019 until
November 21, 2019)
Sohail Mall, Public Member (as of October 8, 2019 )
Shannon Marshall, RMT (non-Council Member)(as of February 12, 2019)
Debra Mattina, Public Member
Hedy Miszuk, Public Member (until February 11, 2019)
Theo Parusis, RMT (non-Council Member)
Rosanna Rebeccani, RMT (non-Council Member)(as of February 12, 2019)
Martez Schembri-Diskey, RMT (non-Council Member)
Ashley Van Zelst, RMT (non-Council Member)(as of February 12, 2019)
Carolyn Watt, Public Member (as of September 16, 2019)
Eric Wu, RMT (non-Council Member) (as of February 12, 2019)

Inquiries Complaints and Reports Committee Report
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Committee Mandate:
The Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee is responsible for handling registrant
specific concerns regarding professional misconduct, incompetence and incapacity
from various sources, e.g., formal complaints, mandatory reports, information coming
to the attention of the Registrar.
SUMMARY OF 2019 ACCOMPLISHMENTS AND ACTIVITIES
The Committee reviews three types of cases:
Formal complaints: The complaint process is a formal process set out in legislation. Complaints may be
submitted by the public.
Registrar’s report investigations: Registrar’s report investigations begin as a result of concerns or
information that is submitted to the Registrar, that is not intended to be a formal complaint. The
Registrar will initiate an investigation if there are reasonable and probable grounds to believe that a
registrant may have committed professional misconduct or the registrant may be incompetent.
Incapacity concerns: The incapacity process deals with registrants who may have an illness that has
the potential to interfere with their ability to practise the profession safely. This process begins when
concerns relating to possible incapacity are brought to the attention of the Registrar or another panel
of the ICRC. After preliminary inquiries are made, a panel of the ICRC may inquire into the capacity of
the registrant, which may include requiring the registrant to undergo an independent medical
examination.
In 2019, the Committee’s work was completed by three Panels (A, B and C), each comprised of five
Committee members. The Panels met collectively 21 times for in-person meetings, four times via
teleconference, and three times via email. The Committee made 106 complaints dispositions, 59
Registrar’s report investigations dispositions, and six incapacity inquiries dispositions for a total of 171
dispositions in 2019, a notable increase over the number of dispositions made by the ICRC in 2018
(142).
The number of new cases included 108 complaints, 102 Registrar’s report investigations and 15
incapacity inquiries, for a total of 225 new cases in 2019, which represents a substantial upward trend
from 2018 (168 cases) and 2017 (137 cases).
24 complaints were before the Health Professions Appeal and Review Board (HPARB) in 2019 (17 are
outstanding).
The charts below represent a summary of the work completed by the Committee in 2019.

Inquiries Complaints and Reports Committee Report
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New Cases:
Type
Formal complaints
Registrar’s report investigations
Incapacity inquiries
Total

2017
67
66
4
137

2018
94
66
8
168

2019
108
102
15
225

Sources of Information

2018

2019

Public (e.g., clients, police, media)
Other RMT
Other health professionals
Insurance companies
Employers
Self
Total

87
7
15
27
30
2
168

140
22
10
19
28
6
225

Dispositions: Complaints and Registrar’s Reports (2019)
Type of Disposition
No further action
Frivolous and vexatious
Specified Continuing Education or
Remediation Program (SCERP)
Referral to discipline
Oral caution
Recommendation and/or advice
SCERP with an oral caution
Undertaking/Agreement – No further
action
Undertaking/Agreement with an oral
caution
Undertaking/Agreement – Resign and
never reapply
Total

Inquiries Complaints and Reports Committee Report

Number of Dispositions
57
0
19
39
0
22
24
0
0
4
165
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Requests for Review of Complaint Matters to the Health Professions Appeal and Review Board
Complainants and registrants have the right to appeal the decision of the ICRC within 30 days unless
the decision is to refer the matter to the Discipline or Fitness to Practise Committee.
The review process is handled by the Health Professions Appeal and Review Board (HPARB), which is
composed of members of the public appointed by the Lieutenant Governor in Council on the Minister
of Health’s recommendation. More information about HPARB is available at www.hparb.on.ca.
Requests for Review of Complaints to HPARB
Number of cases before HPARB in 2018
4
Number of cases before HPARB in 2019

Details of Disposition
4 reviews outstanding
Details of Disposition

24

6 ICRC decisions confirmed by HPARB
1 appeal withdrawn
17 reviews outstanding

Number of New Complaints and Registrar’s Report Investigations by Type (2019):
Nature of Concern
Sexual abuse
Unprofessional conduct
Treatment causing injury
Inappropriate billing practices
Practising outside scope of practice
Quality Assurance Program non-compliance
Practising while suspended
Breach of Standards
ICRC/Discipline non-compliance

Number of Cases
75
39
12
48
3
0
0
30
3

Total

210

Current Incapacity Cases
New Cases Received in
2019

Active Cases at
end of 2019
8

Inquiries Complaints and Reports Committee Report

Cases Closed in 2019
14

Details of Disposition
4 - Referral to Fitness to Practise
Committee
6 - No further action
4 - Undertaking
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QUALITY ASSURANCE COMMITTEE REPORT
2019
Committee Members: Andrew Flint, Public Member, Chair (until September 13, 2019)
Nevenko Jeftic, RMT, Chair (as of September 14, 2019)
Krisha Arbour, RMT (non-Council Member)(until August 2019)
Kyle Bonnyman, RMT (non-Council Member)(as of September 16,
2019)
Tammy Contois, RMT (non-Council Member)
Carol Culhane, RMT (non-Council Member)
Marlene Kesler, Public Member (as of September 16, 2019)
Christin Mandalentsis, RMT (non-Council Member)
Dawn Oehring, RMT
Lloyd White, Public Member
Committee Mandate:
The Quality Assurance Committee has responsibility for overseeing the
development and implementation of a Quality Assurance Program in accordance
with the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991 and College regulations.

SUMMARY OF 2019 ACCOMPLISHMENTS AND ACTIVITIES
In 2019, the Quality Assurance Committee met 10 times and the Quality Assurance Panels met
11 times to consider peer assessment outcomes.
With the support of the Committee, CMTO launched STRiVE, the new Quality Assurance
Program at the beginning of September 2019. Registrants were required to submit three
components by November 30, 2019: an E-Learning Module, a Self-Assessment and

Quality Assurance Committee Report
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development of a Learning Plan. By the deadline, 89% of registrants had submitted all three
components. In the weeks that followed, CMTO followed up with registrants who had not
submitted one or more of the mandatory components by the deadline and the completion rate
increased to 97%. To support continued development of the program, all registrants were
invited to provide feedback through the online STRiVE Platform.
A total of 522 peer assessments were conducted across the province to assess registrant
compliance with the current Standards of Practice. The Quality Assurance Panels addressed
identified deficiencies with the use of a streamlined approach designed to provide meaningful
outcomes, enhance client care, and support continuing competence and quality improvement.
In September 2019, the Standards of Practice Revision Project commenced, which will include a
review of all Standards for the profession. To support the project, approximately 35 registrants
responded to an invitation to participate in one of two focus groups which were held in
December 2019, to gather information for the preparation of a background paper.
A second group of registrants were also selected to be members of the Standards of Practice
Advisory Group (SPAG). The SPAG will provide valuable input and feedback on the new
Standards as the project evolves throughout 2020.
Building on the successes of 2019, the Committee will continue to develop and introduce
resources and programming aimed at ensuring registrants across Ontario are adequately
supported to deliver safe, ethical and effective client care.
2019 Peer Assessment Outcomes
Outcome
No Further Action (NFA)
Recommendations
Referral for incapacity inquiries
Referral to Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee (ICRC)
Specified Continuing Education or Remediation Program (SCERP)
Terms, Conditions or Limitations (TCL)
Total

Quality Assurance Committee Report
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7
0
5
175
12
224
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DISCIPLINE COMMITTEE REPORT
2019
Committee Members:

Jennifer Da Ponte, RMT, Chair
Jocelyn Acheson, Public Member (until June 21, 2019)
Suja Biber, RMT
Kyle Bonnyman, RMT(non-Council Member)
Anna Cantalini, RMT(non-Council Member)
Andrew Flint, Public Member (until September 13, 2019)
Bobbie Flint, RMT (non-Council Member)
Murthy Ghandikota, Public Member (until October 8, 2019)
Christine Gross, Public Member (as of September 14, 2019)
Lesley Hargreaves, RMT
Nevenko Jeftic, RMT
Marlene Kesler, Public Member (as of August 29, 2019)
Sohail Mall, Public Member (as of August 29, 2019)
Debra Mattina, Public Member
Hedy Miszuk, Public Member (until September 29, 2019)
Dawn Oehring, RMT
Rachael Parkes, RMT, (non-Council Member)
Karen Sosnowski, RMT
Lisa Tucker, RMT
Ian Vining, RMT
Carolyn Watt, Public Member (as of August 29, 2019)
Kim Westfall-Connor, RMT
Lloyd White, Public Member

Committee Mandate:
The Discipline Committee is responsible for hearing and determining allegations of
professional misconduct or incompetence against registrants.

Discipline Committee Report
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SUMMARY OF 2019 ACCOMPLISHMENTS AND ACTIVITIES
The Discipline Committee had a total of 69 cases before it in 2019. Of these cases, 33 cases
were carried forward from 2018 and 36 new referrals were received in 2019.
The Discipline Committee held 24 discipline hearings, 11 of which were contested hearings,
while 13 proceeded on agreement. In addition to these 24 hearings, the Committee heard four
motions involving requests to indefinitely adjourn discipline matters as a result of registrants
having entered into agreements to resign and never reapply for membership with the College.
In these cases, where the Discipline Committee grants the request to indefinitely adjourn the
discipline matter, the College retains the ability to resume discipline hearings against
registrants if they breach the terms of their undertakings. There were also two motions to
withdraw all allegations of professional misconduct.
In 2019, the Discipline Committee released a total of 39 decisions, consisting of 25 discipline
decisions with dispositions on liability and/or penalty, and 14 motion decisions.
There were 28 matters that were closed in 2019 and for which decisions were released. For a
summary of each discipline hearing and corresponding outcome, please refer to the links below. 1
Registrant A (2018)
Ronald Gary Ryan (2018)
Registrant C (2018)
Jing Xu (2018)
Zabiullah Khaliqi (2018)
Bradley Newstead (2018)
Richard Matthes (2018)
Abdulaziz Albekairi (2018)
Bin Zhao (2017-2019)
Jose Schoelly (2018-2019)
Rostislav Tchepourov (2018-2019)
Raman Sharma (2019)
Francis Pierre (2019)
Yu-Zhen Ma (2019)
Huikai Zhou (2019)
Robert Newey (2019)
Registrant N (2019)
1

Hearing dates are provided in brackets.

Discipline Committee Report
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Jeffrey Pitts (2019)
Chunrong Liao (2019)
Javad Rabbani-Rassouli (2019)
Morteza Amiri-Pour (2019)
Jade Gibson (2019)
Clency Ah Lan (2019)
Jun Hua Liu (2019)
Melanie Hill-Jackson (2019)
Ka Yi Lee (2019)
Registrant M (2019)
Registrant L (2019)

Discipline Committee Report
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FITNESS TO PRACTISE COMMITTEE REPORT
2019
Committee Members:

Kim Westfall-Connor, RMT, Chair
Jocelyn Acheson, Public Member (until June 21, 2019)
Suja Biber, RMT
Jennifer Da Ponte, RMT
Andrew Flint, Public Member (until September 13, 2019)
Murthy Ghandikota, Public Member (until October 8, 2019)
Christine Gross, Public Member (as of September 14, 2019)
Lesley Hargreaves, RMT
Nevenko Jeftic, RMT
Marlene Kesler, Public Member (as of August 29, 2019)
Sohail Mall, Public Member (as of August 29, 2019)
Debra Mattina, Public Member
Hedy Miszuk, Public Member (until September 29, 2019)
Dawn Oehring, RMT
Karen Sosnowski, RMT
Lisa Tucker, RMT
Ian Vining, RMT
Carolyn Watt, Public Member (as of August 29, 2019)
Lloyd White, Public Member

Committee Mandate:
The Fitness to Practise Committee is responsible for hearing and determining allegations
of incapacity made against a registrant.

Fitness to Practise Committee Report
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SUMMARY OF 2019 ACCOMPLISHMENTS AND ACTIVITIES
There were no incapacity hearings or other proceedings before the Fitness to Practise
Committee in 2019. The Committee received four referrals in 2019, which are anticipated to be
dealt with in 2020. There were no matters carried over from 2018.

Fitness to Practise Committee Report
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AD HOC COMMITTEE ON GOVERNANCE
2019
Committee Members:

Lloyd White, Public Member, Chair
Jennifer Da Ponte, RMT
Lesley Hargreaves, RMT
Hedy Miszuk, Public Member
Karen Sosnowski, RMT
Lisa Tucker, RMT
Kim Westfall-Connor, RMT

CommitteeOFMandate:
The Ad Hoc Committee
on Governance reviews CMTO’s
SUMMARY
2019 ACCOMPLISHMENTS
AND ACTIVITIES
governance processes, including the relevant by-laws and Governance Handbook.

The Ad Hoc Committee on Governance was established to conduct a review of the Governance
Manual to ensure an updated and internally consistent set of governance policies. The
Committee met twice over the course of 2019, to discuss the following governance items:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Committee composition
Deputations to Council
Council attendance at conferences
Anti-Harassment Policy
Succession planning
Council position descriptions

The Committee also proposed amendments to By-law No. 8 – The Register to ensure that it was
consistent with the updated Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991.These amendments were
approved by Council at its February 2019 meeting.
A revised version of the Governance Handbook was presented and approved by Council in May
2019. As the Committee had fulfilled its mandate, the Ad Hoc Committee on Governance was
dissolved on May 13, 2019.
Ad Hoc Committee on Governance Report
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BRIEFING NOTE TO COUNCIL
Date: May 4, 2020
From: Executive Committee
Re:

2020-Q1 Financial Report

Background:
Each Quarter, Executive Committee and Council are provided with updates, noting trends, financial
activity and challenges. The unaudited 2020-Q1 financial statements presented include:
Appendix A: Statement of Operations
A summary of revenues and expenses for the quarter ended March 31, 2020 and compared to the
2020-Q1 budget. Overall, there is a surplus of $512,536 in 2020-Q1; an increase of $411,953
compared to Q1’s budgeted surplus of $100,583. Variances greater than $50,000 and 10% are
explained in the attached.
It is important to note the Q1 numbers do not capture the impact of COVID-19. CMTO’s business
activities continued as normal through the majority of Q1. COVID-19 is expected to have a
significant impact on CMTO’s financial position in subsequent quarters and will likely result in
significant fluctuations to CMTO’s net surplus/(deficit) position.
Appendix B: Statement of Financial Position
The financial position as at 2020-Q1 compared to 2019-Q1 unaudited Statement of Financial
Position. Variances greater than $50,000 and 10% are explained in the attached.
Recommendation:
The Executive Committee has assessed the unaudited 2020-Q1 Statement of Operations and
Statement of Financial Position and recommends that Council approve these statements.
Draft Motion:
THAT Council approves the unaudited 2020-Q1 Statement of Operations and Statement of
Financial Position.
1
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Appendix A: Statement of Operations
2020-Q1 Budget vs. Actuals (Unaudited)

Revenues
Registration fees
Examination fees
Investment income

Expenses
Council and committees
Complaints and discipline
Examinations
Quality assurance
Communications
Salaries and benefits
Consulting fees
Professional fees
Rent and operating costs
Office and general
Contributions to national initiatives
Contribution to massage therapy research
Amortization - capital assets
Amortization - intangible assets

Surplus/(Deficit)

2020
FY Budget

2020
YTD Budget

2020
YTD Actual

Variance %
Variance $
Notes
+ Fav, - Unfav + Fav, - Unfav

$ 11,771,521 $
$ 1,675,800 $
$
300,000 $
$ 13,747,321 $

2,942,880
418,950
75,000
3,436,830

$
$
$
$

2,826,237 $
445,300 $
143,145 $
3,414,682 $

(116,643)
26,350
68,145
(22,148)

-4%
6%
48%
-1%

[1]
[1]
[2]

$
471,075
$ 2,294,565
$ 1,345,953
$
754,750
$
178,000
$ 5,171,182
$
344,849
$
240,000
$
589,740
$ 1,273,221
$
352,819
$
$
191,072
$
137,764
$ 13,344,991

117,769
573,641
336,488
188,688
44,500
1,292,796
86,212
60,000
147,435
318,305
88,205
47,768
34,441
3,336,248

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

99,129
758,052
115,545
137,344
27,628
1,175,852
77,181
29,468
99,263
245,923
84,077
35,517
17,167
2,902,146

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

18,640
(184,411)
220,943
51,344
16,872
116,944
9,031
30,532
48,172
72,382
4,128
12,251
17,274
434,102

19%
-24%
191%
37%
61%
10%
12%
104%
49%
29%
5%
NM
34%
101%
15%

[3]
[4]
[3]
[3]
[3]
[5]
[3]
[3]
[3]
[3]

512,536 $

411,953

-80%

$

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

402,331 $

100,583 $

[3]
[3]
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Appendix A: Statement of Operations
Notes: Variances to Budget
Variances: + Favorable, (Unfavorable)
NM = Not Material

Note Financial Statement Line Item
Registration fees

Variance
$
($116,643)

Variance
%

Explanation

-4%

Q1 registration revenue represents YTD recognition of 2019 deferred revenue. While the impact of
COVID-19 on 2020 registration revenue is not expected to be significant (cash already in hand), the
extent to which COVID-19 will impact the 2021 renewal period is currently unclear.

[1]

[2]

Examination fees

$26,350

6%

Q1 exam revenue represents YTD exam fees collected. Figures presented include a $200K
provision (estimate) for potential refunds, as some candidates have paid but their exams were
cancelled. 2020 examination revenue will be significantly reduced to the extent exams are not
able to be carried-out.

Investment income

$68,145

48%

Investment income reflects increase in fair value of bonds due to COVID-19. On balance, bond
markets have responded positively to the crisis as institutional capital is reallocated to lower risk,
safer investments. However, if crisis deepens, CMTO's portfolio may be negatively impacted.
Q1 C&D expense represents YTD invoices processed. Figures presented do not include a reversal
of 2019 C&D accrual.

[3]

Complaints and Discipline

($184,411)

-24%

[4]

Salaries and Benefits

$116,944

10%

YTD savings primarily due to CMTO decision to hold on filling vacancies in response to uncertainty
from COVID-19.

58%

YTD variance primarily due to timing differences of when expenditures are actually incurred vs.
budget (which assumes expenses to be incurred evenly over year). YTD savings of $501K do not
reflect the impacts of COVID-19. While CMTO is expected to realize savings in certain areas (e.g.
committee meetings, examinations), others will increase (e.g. IT costs required to set up and
manage remote work environment). The net impact of these changes will begin to be seen in
financials for Q2.

[5]

Other Operating Expenses

$501,569

Rising case volumes continue to have a significant financial impact on CMTO. The extent to which
COVID-19 will effect case volumes is currently unclear.
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Appendix B: Statement of Financial Position
As at March 31, 2020 (Unaudited)
Mar 31, 2020

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash
Accounts receivable
Investments*
Prepaid expense
Total current assets

$
$
$
$
$

Non current assets
Capital assets
Intangible assets
Total non current assets

$
$
$

TOTAL ASSETS
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Deferred registration and exam fees
Total current liabilities
Deferred lease inducements
TOTAL LIABILITIES
NET ASSETS
Invested in capital and intangible assets
Internally restricted for complaints and discipline
Internally restricted for national initiatives
Internally restricted for massage therapy research
Unrestricted

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

-16.21%
-100.00%
1.25%
309.12%
-8.20%

[1]
NM
[2]
[3]

781,963 $
76,972 $
858,935 $

792,781 $
88,997 $
881,778 $

(10,818)
(12,025)
(22,843)

-1.36%
-13.51%
-2.59%

NM
NM

$

18,817,177 $

20,443,511 $

(1,626,334)

-7.96%

$
$
$

3,194,067 $
8,751,543 $
11,945,610 $

3,223,950 $
10,857,175 $
14,081,125 $

(29,883)
(2,105,632)
(2,135,515)

-0.93%
-19.39%
-15.17%

$

90,576 $

93,931 $

(3,355)

-3.57%

$

12,036,186 $

14,175,056 $

(2,138,870)

-15.09%

$
$
$
$
$
$

(22,843)
(84,077)
619,456
512,536

-2.59%
0.00%
-10.24%
0.00%
22.00%
8.18%

20,443,511 $

(1,626,334)

-7.96%

$

$
$
$
$
$
$

18,817,177 $

11,840,773
1,135
7,647,922
71,903
19,561,733

Variance % Notes

(1,919,941)
(1,135)
95,315
222,270
(1,603,491)

858,935
1,500,000
737,370
250,000
3,434,686
6,780,991

$
$
$
$
$

Variance $

$
$
$
$
$

$
$
$
$
$
$

9,920,832
7,743,237
294,173
17,958,242

Dec 31, 2019

881,778
1,500,000
821,447
250,000
2,815,230
6,268,455

NM
[4]

NM
NM
[5]
NM
[6]

*Includes long-term investments with maturities > Mar 31, 2021. All investments are liquid and can be sold at any time.
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Agenda Item 7.1
For Decision

Appendix B: Statement of Financial Position
Variances to 2019-Q1
Variances: + Increase, (Decrease)
NM = Not Material
Note

Financial Statement Line Item

Variance
$

Variance
%

[1]

Cash

($1,920,141)

-16%

[2]

Investments

$95,316

1%

Explanation
Decrease vs. Dec 31, 2019 due to cash draw to cover YTD operating
expenditures in excess of YTD registration/exam fees collected.
Investment income reflects increase in fair value of bonds due to COVID19. On balance, bond markets have responded positively to the crisis as
institutional capital is reallocated to lower risk, safer investments.
However, if crisis deepens, CMTO's portfolio may be negatively impacted.

[3]

Prepaid expense

$222,270

309%

Increase due to timing of invoices related to 2020 initiatives and annual
software license renewals. Q1 prepaid balance will be amortized over
remainder of 2020.

[4]

Deferred registration and exam fees

($2,176,631)

-20%

Decrease due to YTD recognition of 2020 registration fees collected in 2019.

[5]

Unrestricted

$535,378

21%

Increase due to YTD surplus.

5

COLLEGE OF MASSAGE THERAPISTS OF ONTARIO
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019

Independent Auditor's Report
To the Council of the College of Massage Therapists of Ontario
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of the College of Massage Therapists of Ontario (the "College"), which comprise the
statement of financial position as at December 31, 2019, and the statements of operations, changes in net assets and cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
College as at December 31, 2019, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations.
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the College in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with Canadian
accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the ability of the College to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
management either intends to liquidate the College or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the financial reporting process of the College.
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:
•

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the internal
control of the College.
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Independent Auditor's Report (continued)
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)
•

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.

•

Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the ability of the College to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we
are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the College to cease to continue as a
going concern.

•

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to
bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

Toronto, Ontario
Date to be determined

Chartered Professional Accountants
Licensed Public Accountants
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COLLEGE OF MASSAGE THERAPISTS OF ONTARIO
Statement of Financial Position
December 31

2019
$

2018
$

11,841,908
567,284
1,342,063
71,903

9,882,284
533,560
697,999
46,787

13,823,158

11,160,630

5,738,575
792,781
88,997

6,379,390
591,095
53,019

6,620,353

7,023,504

20,443,511

18,184,134

3,223,950
10,857,175

2,053,966
10,091,318

14,081,125

12,145,284

93,931

107,351

14,175,056

12,252,635

881,778
1,500,000
821,447
250,000
2,815,230

644,114
1,500,000
1,176,000
250,000
2,361,385

6,268,455

5,931,499

20,443,511

18,184,134

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash
Short-term investments (note 3)
Investments (note 4)
Prepaid expenses

Investments (note 4)
Capital assets (note 5)
Intangible assets (note 6)

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 7)
Deferred registration fees

Deferred lease incentives (note 8)

NET ASSETS
Invested in capital and intangible assets
Internally restricted for complaints and discipline (note 11)
Internally restricted for national initiatives (note 12)
Internally restricted for massage therapy research (note 13)
Unrestricted

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
Approved on behalf of the Council:
President
Vice-President
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COLLEGE OF MASSAGE THERAPISTS OF ONTARIO
Statement of Operations
Year ended December 31

Revenues
Registration fees
Examination fees
Investment income (note 9)

Expenses
Council and committees
Complaints and discipline (note 10)
Examinations
Quality assurance
Communications
Salaries and benefits
Consulting fees
Professional fees
Rent and operating costs (note 8)
Office and general
Contributions to national initiatives (note 12)
Amortization - capital assets
Amortization - intangible assets

Excess of revenues over expenses for year

2019
$

2018
$

11,317,751
1,776,985
307,795

8,385,328
1,439,550
236,407

13,402,531

10,061,285

480,965
3,395,939
1,419,912
353,699
165,506
4,282,219
590,362
161,009
578,793
1,071,879
354,553
142,069
68,670

409,057
1,529,515
1,534,947
20,121
176,848
2,953,864
707,616
319,823
589,644
871,400
347,490
118,727
117,185

13,065,575

9,696,237

336,956

365,048

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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COLLEGE OF MASSAGE THERAPISTS OF ONTARIO
Statement of Changes in Net Assets
Year ended December 31
Internally
Invested in
Internally
Internally restricted for
capital and restricted for restricted for
massage
intangible
therapy
complaints
national
assets and discipline
initiatives
research
$
$
$
$
Balance, beginning of year
Excess of revenues over expenses (expenses
over revenues) for year

644,114

1,500,000

1,176,000

250,000

Unrestricted
$

2019
Total
$

2,361,385

5,931,499

-

-

(354,553)

-

691,509

336,956

(142,069)

-

-

-

142,069

-

Amortization of intangible assets

(68,670)

-

-

-

68,670

-

Purchase of capital assets

343,755

-

-

-

(343,755)

-

Purchase of intangible assets

104,648

-

-

-

(104,648)

-

Balance, end of year

881,778

821,447

250,000

2,815,230

Amortization of capital assets

1,500,000

6,268,455

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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COLLEGE OF MASSAGE THERAPISTS OF ONTARIO
Statement of Changes in Net Assets
Year ended December 31
Internally
Invested in
Internally
Internally restricted for
capital and restricted for restricted for
massage
intangible
therapy
complaints
national
assets and discipline
initiatives
research
$
$
$
$
Balance, beginning of year
Excess of revenues over expenses (expenses
over revenues) for year

697,398

1,500,000

702,750

250,000

Unrestricted
$

2018
Total
$

2,416,303

5,566,451

-

-

(347,490)

-

712,538

365,048

Amortization of capital assets

(118,727)

-

-

-

118,727

-

Amortization of intangible assets

(117,185)

-

-

-

117,185

-

161,894

-

-

-

(161,894)

-

20,734

-

-

-

(20,734)

-

-

-

820,740

-

(820,740)

-

Purchase of capital assets
Purchase of intangible assets
Inter-fund transfer (note 12)
Balance, end of year

644,114

1,500,000

1,176,000

250,000

2,361,385

5,931,499

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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COLLEGE OF MASSAGE THERAPISTS OF ONTARIO
Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended December 31
Cash flows from operating activities
Excess of revenues over expenses for year
Adjustments to determine net cash provided by (used in) operating
activities
Amortization of capital assets
Amortization of intangible assets
Amortization of bond discounts and premiums
Interest capitalized on short-term investments
Interest received on short-term investments capitalized in prior
years
Interest reinvested in investments
Interest capitalized on investments
Interest received on investments capitalized in prior years
Amortization of deferred lease incentives
Change in non-cash working capital items
Increase in prepaid expenses
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Increase in deferred registration fees

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of short-term investments
Purchase of investments
Proceeds from sale of short-term investments
Proceeds from sale of investments
Purchase of capital assets
Purchase of intangible assets

2019
$

2018
$

336,956

365,048

142,069
68,670
10,051
(4,489)

118,727
117,185
10,901
(6,173)

6,173
10,039
(85,212)
23,423
(13,420)

(76,132)
22,081
(13,561)

494,260

538,076

(25,116)
1,169,984
765,857

(39,542)
(439,497)
2,296,561

2,404,985

2,355,598

(998,991)
(646,550)
963,583
685,000
(343,755)
(104,648)

(650,483)
(1,353,760)
123,450
1,350,225
(161,894)
(20,734)

(445,361)

(713,196)

Net change in cash

1,959,624

1,642,402

Cash, beginning of year

9,882,284

8,239,882

11,841,908

9,882,284

Cash, end of year
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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COLLEGE OF MASSAGE THERAPISTS OF ONTARIO
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2019
Nature and description of the organization
The College of Massage Therapists of Ontario (the "College") was incorporated as a non-share capital
corporation under the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991 ("RHPA"). As the regulator and governing
body of the massage therapy profession in Ontario, the major function of the College is to administer the
Massage Therapy Act, 1991 in the public interest.
The College is a not-for-profit organization, as described in Section 149(1)(l) of the Income Tax Act, and
therefore is not subject to income taxes.
1.

Significant accounting policies
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting
standards for not-for-profit organizations and include the following significant accounting policies:
(a) Revenue recognition
Registration fees
Registration fees are recognized as revenue in the fiscal year to which they relate. The
registration year of the College coincides with that of the fiscal year of the College, being
January 1 to December 31. Registration fees received in advance of the fiscal year to which
they relate are recorded as deferred registration fees.
Examination fees
Examination fees are recognized as revenue when the examinations are held.
Investment income
Investment income comprises interest from cash, short-term investments and investments
and realized gains and losses on the sale of investments.
Revenue is recognized on an accrual basis. Interest on investments is recognized over the
terms of the investments using the effective interest method.
(b) Short-term investments
Short-term investments consist of banker's acceptances with maturity dates ranging from 91
days to twelve months from date of acquisition.
(c) Investments
Investments consist of Canadian fixed income investments whose term to maturity is greater
than twelve months from date of acquisition. Investments maturing within twelve months
from the year-end date are classified as current.
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COLLEGE OF MASSAGE THERAPISTS OF ONTARIO
Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
December 31, 2019
1.

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(d) Capital assets
The costs of capital assets are capitalized upon meeting the criteria for recognition as a
capital asset, otherwise, costs are expensed as incurred. The cost of a capital asset
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable cost of preparing the asset for its
intended use.
Capital assets are measured at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated
impairment losses.
Amortization is provided for, upon the commencement of the utilization of the assets, using
methods and rates designed to amortize the cost of the capital assets over their estimated
useful lives. The methods and annual amortization rates are as follows:
Computer equipment
Office equipment
Equipment

20% straight-line
20% declining balance
20% declining balance

Amortization of leasehold improvements is recorded on a straight-line basis over the
remaining term of the lease.
A capital asset is tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that its carrying amount may not be recoverable. If any potential impairment is
identified, the amount of the impairment is quantified by comparing the carrying value of the
capital asset to its fair value. Any impairment of the capital asset is recognized in income in
the year in which the impairment occurs.
An impairment loss is not reversed if the fair value of the capital asset subsequently
increases.
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COLLEGE OF MASSAGE THERAPISTS OF ONTARIO
Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
December 31, 2019
1.

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(e) Intangible assets
The costs of intangible assets are capitalized upon meeting the criteria for recognition as an
intangible asset, with the exception of expenditures on internally generated intangible assets
during the development phase, which are expensed as incurred. The cost of a separately
acquired intangible asset comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable cost of
preparing the asset for its intended use.
Intangible assets are measured at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated
impairment losses.
Amortization is provided for, upon the commencement of the utilization of the assets, on a
straight-line basis at rates designed to amortize the cost of the intangible assets over their
estimated useful lives. The annual amortization rates are as follows:
Computer software
Computer software - database

50%
20%

An intangible asset is tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that its carrying amount may not be recoverable. If any potential impairment is
identified, the amount of the impairment is quantified by comparing the carrying value of the
intangible asset to its fair value. Any impairment of the intangible asset is recognized in
income in the year in which the impairment occurs.
An impairment loss is not reversed if the fair value of the intangible asset subsequently
increases.
(f)

Deferred lease incentives
Lease incentives include reduced rent benefits and tenant inducements received in cash.
Lease incentives received in connection with original leases are amortized to income on a
straight-line basis over the terms of the original leases. Lease incentives received in
connection with re-negotiated leases are amortized to income on a straight-line basis over
the period from the expiration date of the respective original lease to the expiration date of
the re-negotiated lease.
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COLLEGE OF MASSAGE THERAPISTS OF ONTARIO
Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
December 31, 2019
1.

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(g) Financial instruments
(i)

Measurement of financial assets and liabilities
The College initially measures its financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
adjusted by the amount of transaction costs directly attributable to the instrument.
The College subsequently measures all of its financial assets and financial liabilities at
amortized cost.
Amortized cost is the amount at which a financial asset or financial liability is measured
at initial recognition minus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative
amortization of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount, and
minus any reduction for impairment.
Financial assets measured at amortized cost include cash, short-term investments and
investments.
Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost include accounts payable and accrued
liabilities.

(ii)

Impairment
At the end of each year, the College assesses whether there are any indications that a
financial asset measured at amortized cost may be impaired. Objective evidence of
impairment includes observable data that comes to the attention of the College,
including but not limited to the following events: significant financial difficulty of the
issuer; a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments; and bankruptcy or other financial reorganization proceedings.
When there is an indication of impairment, the College determines whether a significant
adverse change has occurred during the year in the expected timing or amount of
future cash flows from the financial asset.
When the College identifies a significant adverse change in the expected timing or
amount of future cash flows from a financial asset, it reduces the carrying amount of the
financial asset to the greater of the following:
-

the present value of the cash flows expected to be generated by holding the
financial asset discounted using a current market rate of interest appropriate to the
financial asset; and

-

the amount that could be realized by selling the financial asset at the statement of
financial position date.
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COLLEGE OF MASSAGE THERAPISTS OF ONTARIO
Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
December 31, 2019
1.

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(g)

Financial instruments (continued)
(ii)

Impairment (continued)

Any impairment of the financial asset is recognized in income in the year in which the
impairment occurs.
When the extent of impairment of a previously written-down financial asset decreases
and the decrease can be related to an event occurring after the impairment was
recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed to the extent of the
improvement, but not in excess of the impairment loss. The amount of the reversal is
recognized in income in the year the reversal occurs.
(h) Management estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian accounting standards
for not-for-profit organizations requires management to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the current
year. Actual results may differ from these estimates, the impact of which would be recorded
in future years.
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognized in the year in which the estimates are revised and in
any future years affected.
2.

Financial instrument risk management
The College is exposed to various risks through its financial instruments. The following analysis
provides a measure of the College's risk exposure and concentrations.
The financial instruments of the College and the nature of the risks to which those instruments
may be subject, are as follows:
Risks
Market risk
Financial instrument
Credit
Liquidity
Currency Interest rate Other price
Cash
Short-term investments
Investments
Accounts payable and accrued
liabilities

X
X
X

X
X
X
X

12

COLLEGE OF MASSAGE THERAPISTS OF ONTARIO
Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
December 31, 2019
2.

Financial instrument risk management (continued)
Credit risk
The College is exposed to credit risk resulting from the possibility that parties may default on their
financial obligations, or if there is a concentration of transactions carried out with the same party,
or if there is a concentration of financial obligations which have similar economic characteristics
that could be similarly affected by changes in economic conditions, such that the College could
incur a financial loss. The College does not hold directly any collateral as security for financial
obligations of counterparties.
The maximum exposure of the College to credit risk is as follows:

Cash
Short-term investments
Investments

2019
$

2018
$

11,841,908
567,284
7,080,638

9,882,284
533,560
7,077,389

19,489,830

17,493,233

The College reduces its exposure to the credit risk of cash and short-term investments by
maintaining balances with a Canadian financial institution.
The College manages its exposure to the credit risk of investments through an investment policy
which restricts the types of eligible investments.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the College will not be able to meet a demand for cash or fund its
obligations as they come due.
The liquidity of the College is monitored by management to ensure sufficient cash is available to
meet liabilities as they come due.
Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market prices. Market risk is comprised of currency risk, interest rate risk
and other price risk.
Currency risk
Currency risk refers to the risk that the fair value of financial instruments or future cash flows
associated with the instruments will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates.
The College is not exposed to currency risk.
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COLLEGE OF MASSAGE THERAPISTS OF ONTARIO
Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
December 31, 2019
2.

Financial instrument risk management (continued)
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk refers to the risk that the fair value of financial instruments or future cash flows
associated with the instruments will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates.
The College manages the interest rate risk exposure of its Canadian fixed income investments by
using a laddered portfolio with varying terms to maturity. The laddered structure of maturities
helps to enhance the average portfolio yield while reducing the sensitivity of the portfolio to the
impact of interest rate fluctuations.
Other price risk
Other price risk refers to the risk that the fair value of financial instruments or future cash flows
associated with the instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than
those arising from currency risk or interest rate risk), whether those changes are caused by
factors specific to the individual instrument or its issuer or factors affecting all similar instruments
traded in the market.
The College is not exposed to other price risk.
Changes in risk
There have been no significant changes in the risk profile of the financial instruments of the
College from that of the prior year.

3.

Short-term investments
Banker's acceptances with effective interest rates ranging from 1.34% to 1.83% (2018 - 1.63% to
1.80%) and maturity dates ranging from February 2020 to April 2020 (2018 - January 2019 to
April 2019).

4.

Investments
2019
$

2018
$

Current

1,342,063

697,999

Long-term

5,738,575

6,379,390

7,080,638

7,077,389

Investments with effective interest rates ranging from 1.69% to 7.41% (2018 - 1.60% to 7.41%),
and maturity dates ranging from February 2020 to November 2027 (2018 - September 2019 to
June 2027).
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COLLEGE OF MASSAGE THERAPISTS OF ONTARIO
Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
December 31, 2019
5.

Capital assets
Cost
$
Computer equipment
Office equipment
Equipment
Leasehold improvements

Computer equipment
Office equipment
Equipment
Leasehold improvements

6.

2019
Net
$

818,780
579,802
31,793
680,001

598,820
337,622
30,866
350,287

219,960
242,180
927
329,714

2,110,376

1,317,595

792,781

Cost
$

Accumulated
Amortization
$

2018
Net
$

652,920
487,717
31,793
594,191

548,293
288,588
30,634
308,011

104,627
199,129
1,159
286,180

1,766,621

1,175,526

591,095

Accumulated
Cost Amortization
$
$

2019
Net
$

Intangible assets

Computer software
Computer software - database

Computer software
Computer software - database

7.

Accumulated
Amortization
$

624,184
578,058

554,026
559,219

70,158
18,839

1,202,242

1,113,245

88,997

Accumulated
Cost Amortization
$
$

2018
Net
$

524,974
572,620

522,257
522,318

2,717
50,302

1,097,594

1,044,575

53,019

2019
$

2018
$

855,850
2,368,100

419,397
1,634,569

3,223,950

2,053,966

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Trade payables and accrued liabilities
Accrued liabilities - complaints and discipline
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COLLEGE OF MASSAGE THERAPISTS OF ONTARIO
Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
December 31, 2019
8.

Deferred lease incentives
Accumulated
Cost Amortization
$
$
Tenant inducements
Reduced rent benefits

Tenant inducements
Reduced rent benefits

2019
Net
$

110,699
127,021

82,174
61,615

28,525
65,406

237,720

143,789

93,931

Accumulated
Cost Amortization
$
$

2018
Net
$

110,699
127,021

78,210
52,159

32,489
74,862

237,720

130,369

107,351

During the year, amortization of lease incentives in the amount of $13,420 (2018 - $13,561) was
credited to rent and operating costs.
9.

Investment income

Interest from cash
Interest from short-term investments
Interest from investments
Investment fees

10.

2019
$

2018
$

143,290
6,545
192,928
(34,968)

75,790
6,527
187,708
(33,618)

307,795

236,407

Complaints and discipline

Complaints and discipline
Cost recoveries

2019
$

2018
$

3,444,049
(48,110)

1,636,049
(106,534)

3,395,939

1,529,515
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
December 31, 2019
11.

Net assets internally restricted for complaints and discipline
The College makes best efforts to anticipate the costs associated with complaints and discipline
matters based on past experience and current caseload. However, in the event that the College
incurs costs beyond the normal scope of such matters, the Council of the College has internally
restricted net assets to fund expenditures related to these matters.
The internal restriction is subject to the direction of the Council upon the recommendation of the
Executive Committee.

12.

Net assets internally restricted for national initiatives
The Council of the College has internally restricted net assets to support anticipated national
initiatives.
During the current year, a contribution in the amount of $354,553 (2018 - $347,490) was made to
Canadian Massage Therapy Council for Accreditation ("CMTCA"). The funds will be used by
CMTCA to develop and deliver an accreditation process to provide a mechanism for quality
assurance and continuous improvement of entry-level massage therapy education programs.
Effective January 1, 2019, the College entered into a funding agreement with CMTCA to provide
annual fees to CMTCA until December 31, 2021.
In total, at December 31, 2019, the College has internally restricted net assets for national
initiatives in the amount of $821,447. The internally restricted balance includes $791,447 for the
commitment the College has made over the next two fiscal years pursuant to the funding
agreement with CMTCA and $30,000 representing three fiscal years of funding to Federation of
Massage Therapy Regulatory Authorities of Canada.
In the prior year, Council approved a transfer of $820,740 from unrestricted net assets to net
assets internally restricted for national initiatives.
The internal restriction is subject to the direction of the Council upon the recommendation of the
Executive Committee.

13.

Net assets internally restricted for massage therapy research
The Council of the College has internally restricted net assets to support the Massage Therapy
Research Fund ("MTRF") which awards funding for studies relating to the College’s mandate of
public protection including massage therapy effectiveness, efficacy, and safety, access to and
delivery of massage therapy services, professionalization of massage therapy, massage therapy
competencies and competency assessment and the evaluation of massage therapy practices.
The internal restriction is subject to the direction of the Council upon the recommendation of the
Executive Committee.
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
December 31, 2019
14.

Commitment
The College is committed to lease its office premises until November 30, 2026. The future annual
lease payments, including an estimate of premises common area expenses, are as follows:
$
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026

615,633
622,804
630,119
652,701
660,311
683,196
633,520
4,498,284

15.

Subsequent events
Subsequent to the year end, the global pandemic of the virus known as COVID-19 led the
Canadian Federal government, as well as provincial and local governments, to impose
measures, such as restricting foreign travel, mandating self-isolations and physical distancing
and closing non-essential businesses. Because of the high level of uncertainty related to the
outcome of this pandemic, it is difficult to estimate the financial effect, if any, on the College. No
adjustments have been made in the financial statements as a result of these events.
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BRIEFING NOTE TO COUNCIL
Date:

May 11, 2020

From:

K. Westfall-Connor, Chair, Executive Committee

Re:
Appointment of the Auditor for 2020
______________________________________________________________________________
Background:
In accordance with By-Law No.1, “Conduct of the Business and Administration of the Affairs of the
College”:
16. (A) The Council shall annually appoint an auditor to audit the accounts of the College.

In accordance with the Executive Committee’s Terms of Reference, the Committee annually
reviews its relationship with the external auditor including its performance, independence and
objectivity and is recommending that Council appoint Hilborn LLP to conduct the 2020 financial
audit.
MOTION:
THAT Council, appoint Hilborn, LLP as CMTO’s auditor for 2020.

Agenda Item 9.1
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Skip tin Content

BRIEFING NOTE TO COUNCIL
Date: May 11, 2020
From: Executive Committee
Re:

COVID-19 and 2021 Renewal Period

Purpose:
The purpose of this briefing note is to ensure that Council is comfortable with a shortlist of registration
fee options (in consideration of the impact of COVID-19 on registrants) that have been analyzed by
CMTO staff and reviewed by the Executive Committee. If Council is comfortable, CMTO staff will
continue to monitor the situation and prepare the following: 1) 2021 registration fee options for Council
approval in July/August 2020; and 2) A proposed budget for 2021-2022 that will align with the analysis
and options for 2021 registration fees.
Background:
May is the usual time of the year in which Council conducts its review of registrant fees for the pending
renewal cycle. This exercise typically includes a review of the prior year’s audited financial statements
in conjunction with multi-year forecasts under a variety of different fee scenarios. A key consideration
when evaluating these forecasts is the impact of different fee scenarios on Council’s targeted
unrestricted surplus balance of 3-6 months operating expenses.
For the 2021 renewal period, special consideration is required due to the impact of COVID-19 on RMTs
and the broader economy. Effective March 25, 2020, the Government of Ontario ordered the closure
of all Ontario non-essential business and services (and the order stipulated that healthcare
professionals can provide only emergency/urgent care). Until the provincial order is lifted, RMTs have
been unable to practice, so they have been without a primary source of income. This has led to inquiries
about the 2020 registration fees paid to CMTO and potential considerations for the 2021 renewal
period.
Analysis:
In response to inquiries from RMTs, and in consultation with Executive Committee, management
conducted a preliminary (Phase 1) analysis to evaluate:
1
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1. The impact of COVID-19 on CMTO revenues and net financial position for 2020-2022 under a
range of scenarios (best, moderate, worst).
2. The financial impact (if any) of potential registration fee relief measures for the 2021 renewal
period, including:
a. Providing RMTs with a credit towards 2021 renewal fees (cost reduction);
b. Offering a payment plan for 2021 renewals (payment extension ).
Framework and Qualitative Evaluation:
In addition to the financial analysis, and in consultation with the Executive Committee, management
also developed:
•
•

A framework for evaluating the potential measures CMTO could offer RMTs for the 2021
renewal period (Appendix A).
A qualitative assessment of the potential measures (Appendix B).

Approach to Financial Analysis of COVID on CMTO Revenues and Net Financial Position:
In undertaking financial analysis of the impact of COVID-19 on CMTO’s financial position, CMTO staff:
•

•
•

Modelled registrant attrition that might result from COVID-19. To do this, staff utilized April
2020 registration data (# of General Certificate and Inactive registrants) as a starting point.
o Best Case: Applies growth and attrition rates experienced in ‘normal years’ to calculate
expected registration revenue.
o Moderate/Worst Case: Discounts the Best Case to reflect lower growth and higher
attrition rates as a result of COVID-19.
Modelled credit options for RMTs towards 2021 renewal. Results demonstrate credit options
would have significant financial impact to CMTO.
Held expenses consistent with 2020 budget, except for:
o Salaries and Benefits - Updated to capture the forecast for 2020, and commitments for
2021 and 2022.
o Complaints and Discipline (C&D) - Increased from the 2020 budget amount ($2.3M). C&D
expenses for 2019 were significantly higher than expected, primarily driven by increased
case volumes and investigations and hearings that require more resources to complete.
C&D continues to exert significant financial pressure on CMTO.

Recommendation:
Given the ongoing uncertainty caused by COVID-19, the Executive Committee recommends that Council
defer a final decision on fees for the 2021 renewal period until July/August 2020.
However, in reviewing the financial scenario analysis at its May 1, 2020 meeting, the Executive
Committee’s current preferred approach to the 2021 renewal period is to:
•

Hold 2021 registration renewal rates consistent with 2020
2
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•

o No fee increases.
o No credit/fee reduction.
Allow renewal payments in two installments
o First payment during the renewal period.
o Final payment within six months of renewal period.

If Council is comfortable with this approach, CMTO management will begin Phase 2 of the financial
analysis, which will focus on rebalancing the CMTO budget for 2020-2022 under a range of scenarios
(best case to worst case) via a thorough review of expenses. Phase 2 will be integrated with the 2021
budgeting and work plan development process and is expected to begin following the Council meeting
on May 11, 2020.

3
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Appendix A
Evaluation Framework and Considerations for 2021 Renewal Period
The following are the proposed criteria through which any decisions made should be analyzed:
•

•

•

•

Annual registration fees must be set to allow CMTO to fulfill its legislative mandate:
o Maintain infrastructure for key statutory requirements such as complaints and discipline
processes, STRIVE, the Quality Assurance program, registration and maintenance of the
online register, etc.
o Ensure quality, evidence-informed and data driven policy and guidance to registrants
continues. Be transparent with the public and registrants regarding the process and criteria
when making decisions re fees.
o Ensure financial security of CMTO so the above-noted activities can be carried out.
CMTO needs to assess the impact(s) of decision(s) re fees:
o Consistency with existing policy is considered.
o Impact on long long-term strategic initiatives.
CMTO will consider the environment in which the decision is being made:
o Alignment with action taken by the other Health Profession Regulators in Ontario and
Massage Therapy Regulators in Canada.
o Compliance with the province’s emergency orders, including the impact on CMTO’s ability
to administer the Certification Examinations. Ability of students to graduate from their
programs, possibly affecting Initial Registration rates.
o Long-term impact on the Massage Therapy profession including the potential impact on
the number of registrants that choose to renew, resign or move to inactive status.
CMTO will consider the potential impacts on finances not related to COVID-19:
o Increase in Complaints and Discipline and the related increase in funding for therapy and
counselling – a trend that is seen across all Colleges.
o Risk to CMTO’s finances if the restricted fund for Complaints and Discipline were to be
redirected given recent trends in the increase in complaints and discipline expenses.

4
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Appendix B
Qualitative Evaluation of Potential Measures for 2021 Renewal Period:
1. Payment Extension for 2021 renewals (extend renewal period and/or facilitate payment
plans), possibly in conjunction with waiving the late fee.
Pros
• Provides measure of financial relief to
registrants unable to practice due to COVID19.
• Helps mitigate risk of compounding the
financial impact of pandemic on renewal
period.

Cons
• Depending on when the final payment is
due, registrants may be practising without
having paid in full, which increases financial
risk to CMTO.
• Need to ensure processes and infrastructure
are in place to administer effectively and
efficiently.

Other Considerations
• This measure is in compliance with CMTO’s existing By-Laws:
o Start of renewal period could be deferred from Sep 15th as long as renewal forms are
complete, and the payment deadline is Nov 1st
o CMTO’s Registrar currently has the authority to waive the late fee in extenuating
circumstances.

2. Provide rebate or credit towards 2021 renewals
Pros
• Provides financial relief to registrants who
are unable to practise due to COVID-19.
• Links financial support to the 2021 renewal
(CMTO cannot retroactively return
registration fees for 2020).

Cons
• Material financial impact to CMTO during
period of significant uncertainty (impact of
pandemic on renewal rates is unclear,
College operations have continued as normal
through April 2020).

Other Considerations
• This measure is not contrary to CMTO’s existing By-Laws
• Basis for calculation:
o Fixed (lump sum) vs. variable (tied to # of months RMTs are unable to practice).
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College of Massage Therapists of Ontario
Meeting of the Council
Agenda
Date:

May 11-12, 2020

Location:

Videoconference – MS Teams

Time:

9:00 AM – 1:00 PM

Item
No.

Item

1. Call to Order

Item Lead
May 11, 2020

Westfall-Connor

Approx.
Time
10 min

2. Declaration of Conflicts of Interest

Westfall-Connor

3. Approval of the Agenda of May 11, 2020

Westfall-Connor

4. In-Camera Session
4.1 2019 Registrar & CEO Performance Evaluation
Report

Westfall-Connor

60 min

Westfall-Connor

15 min

6. Consent Agenda
Westfall-Connor
6.1 Minutes of February 11, 2020
6.2 Actions Arising from the February 11, 2020 Minutes
6.3 2020 – Q1 Registrar’s and Administration Report
6.4 2020 – Q1 Committee Reports
6.5 2019 – Annual - Committee Reports

5 min

5. Council Meeting Evaluations
5.1 Meeting Evaluation of February 11, 2020
5.2 2019 Annual Council Performance Evaluation
Results

A consent agenda is a bundle of items that is voted on, without
discussion, as a package. It differentiates between routine
matters not needing explanation and more complex issues
needing examination. The Chair will ask if any one wishes to
remove an item from the consent agenda. Any Council member
may request an item be removed so it can be discussed. To test
whether an item should be included in the consent agenda, ask:
• Is this item self-explanatory and uncontroversial? Or
does it contain an issue that warrants Council
discussion?
• Is this item for information only? Or is it needed for
another meeting agenda issue?

7. Quarterly Reporting
1

7.1

2020 – Q1 Financial Report

8. Items for Decision
8.1 Presentation of the Draft 2019 Audited Financial
Statements
8.2

Molnar/Wilcox

20 min

Westfall-Connor

60 min

Westfall-Connor

10 min

Molnar/Wilcox

60 min

Westfall-Connor

2 min

(Guest: B. MacKenzie, Hilborn – confirmed -11:00 AM)

Appointment of Auditor for 2020

9. Items for Discussion
9.1 Preliminary Analysis for the 2021 Renewal Period
10. New Business
11. Adjournment
1. Call to Order

May 12, 2020

Westfall-Connor

10 min

2. Declaration of Conflicts of Interest

Westfall-Connor

3. Approval of the Agenda of May 12, 2020

Westfall-Connor

4. Presentation: Standards of Practice Revision Project

McCoy

60 min

5. Quarterly Reporting
5.1 2020 – Q1 Workplan Report
5.2 2020 – Q1 Inquiries, Complaints and Reports
Committee Report

Flitton
Tucker

15 min
15 min

6. Items for Decision
6.1 Executive Committee Terms of Reference
6.2 Ratification of Public Appointment
6.3 Ratification of Appointment of non-Council
Member

Westfall-Connor
Westfall-Connor
Westfall-Connor

10 min
10 min
10 min

Vining
Flitton

20 min
15 min

(Guests: Dianne Parker-Taillon and Dawn Burnett, Consultants
- confirmed – 9:00 AM)

7. Items for Information
7.1 2020 Sexual Abuse Prevention Plan
7.2 Massage Therapy Research Fund
8. New Business
9. Adjournment

Westfall-Connor

2 min
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2020 ‐ Q1 Workplan Report
Overarching Strategic/
Operational Objective

Project/Initiative Description

Outcomes

Deliverables

Completion Date

Q1 Report

CORE BUSINESS
Transparency

Implement Transparency Initiatives as Outlined in the Strategic CMTO makes more information
A number of projects will increase transparency including 2020‐Q4
Plan
publicly available, makes its decision‐ enhancing public engagement: A new web page focusing

making process more transparent and on information needed/valued by the public.
makes its information easier to
understand.

Quality

On track. New web page focussing on information
needed/valued by the public is under
development.

Development and Implementation of Redesigned QA Program ‐ Develop and implement a redesigned Full implementation of the Quality Assurance Program is 2019‐Q4 (Phase 1)‐complete On track. Phase 1 of the project concluded in
Phase 1
2019‐Q4. Steps are being taken to develop
Quality Assurance Program to assess expected to occur in phases over a period of three(3) to 2020 ‐Q4(Phase 2)
components for implementation in 2020‐Q4
registrant competence based on 15 five(5) years. Phase 1 includes a comprehensive
(Phase 2).
Career‐Span Competencies,
communication plan, release of program components

compliance with the Standards of
and survey to gather feedback from registrants. Phase 2
Practice, and delivery of quality client includes development of components for implementation
care that is evidence‐informed.
in 2020‐Q4.

Quality

Development and Updating of Standards of Practice

To create core Standards of Practice
that are clear and concise and are in
accordance with CMTO's regulatory
modernization principles.

Full implementation of the Quality Assurance Program is 2021‐Q2 (Development
expected to occur in phases over a period of three(3) to Phase)
five(5) years. Phase 1, will focus on the development of
Standards, with the support of a qualified consultant
(approximately 18‐24 months)

On track. Development of the revised Standards
of Practice continues in consultation with
qualiifed consultants and the support of the
Standards of Practice Advisory Group (SPAG).

Regulatory Modernization

Data Management Strategy

CMTO will identify organizational
data and information required to help
inform risk‐and outcome‐based
regulatory decision‐making.

Phase 3 of project: Identify the limitations of the data
sources that are currently available. Phase 4: Scope out
what a new comprehensive data management system
(and supporting process looks like).

2020‐Q3 Draft
2020 Q4 Final

On track.

Regulatory Modernization

Registrant Outreach Strategy ‐ Regulatory Changes

Registrants feel engaged and
informed about regulatory changes
and CMTO's priorities and CMTO is
seen as a proactive and modern
regulator.

Meetings to be held in 2 Ontario cities in 2020

2020‐Q4

On track. Preparations are underway, although
staff are monitoring whether an in‐person
approach will be appropriate in 2020.

2020 ‐ Q1 Workplan Report
Overarching Strategic/
Operational Objective

Project/Initiative Description

Outcomes

Deliverables

Completion Date

Q1 Report

Continuous Quality
Improvement

Develop requirements regarding ongoing Registrant First Aid
and CPR Certification

To determine whether mandatory
CPR and First Aid is necessary to
ensure client safety.

Continuous Quality
Improvement

Amendments to CMTO's Professional Misconduct Regulations

Ensuring registrants are held
Complete stakeholder consultation. Obtain Council's final 2020‐Q1
accountable for conduct that poses a approval. Submit proposed changes to the Ministry.
higher risk of harm to the public.
Reducing redundancy and increasing
clarity for registrants regarding their
professional obligations.

Continuous Quality
Improvement

Jurisprudence Course with Evaluative Component

1. To ensure that new registrants are An on‐line course including evaluative component(s).
aware of their legislative obligations
and why they are important. 2. To
ensure registrants have a resource to
enhance their knowledge of
legislation.

Continuous Quality
Improvement/Regulatory
Modernization

Continued enhancement of IT infrastructure and systems.

CMTO will identify immediate and
long‐term technology‐related needs
to meet its regulatory mandate.

A multi‐phased project focused to the IT related systems 2019 ‐ Q3 (Phase 1) ‐
utilized to collecting, storing and reporting of data to
Complete
meet the College's regulatory mandate. Phase I ‐ An IT
2020 ‐ Q4 (Phase 2)
Strategy inclusive of holistic gathering and assessment of
requirements to identify gaps, opportunities and
recommendations. Phase 2 ‐ Dependent on Phase I and
may include migration to and/or addition of new
software tools, enhancements etc. i.e. registration, QA,
case management, integration with SAGE financials etc.
Additional project planning will define the Phases and
Deliverables.

Phase 2 on track. Software solutions selected and
contracts executed. Project planning for Phase 2
underway in consideration of staff departures
and pandemic factors.

Continuous Quality
Improvement

Implementation of Recommendations from the Sexual Abuse
Task Force.

Increased accountability of CMTO in
addressing allegations of sexual
abuse.

Develop and implement policies and/or procedures
2020‐Q1 (Develop)
focused on: ICRC and Discipline Committee prioritization 2020‐Q4 (Implement)
of sexual abuse cases. Use of amicus legal counsel and
support persons for complainants during a Discipline
hearing. Ensuring an efficient and consistent approach to
cases involving allegations of sexual abuse.

On track. Amicus curiae policy and guide for self‐
represented parties developped. Framework for
prioritization of complaints, reports,
investigations and hearings based on public risk
developped. Review and revisions to Protocol for
Investigations of Sexual Abuse Allegations
completed. Review of funding for therapy and
posted security penalty orders completed.

Provide Council with recommendations based on
whether mandating applicants and registrants to
maintain current First Aid and CPR certification ensures
client safety.

2020‐Q3

2020 ‐ Q3 (Phase 1
Legislative, without
Standards)
Phase 2: TBD

On track. Discussions are underway to identify
recommendations for consideration.

This project was substantially completed in 2019.
The only remaining element is completing the
Ministry's submission template in order to submit
the proposed changes to the Ministry. This will be
completed by the end of May 2020.

On track. Steps are being taken to develop a
program that initially focuses on legislative
requirements.

2020 ‐ Q1 Workplan Report
Overarching Strategic/
Operational Objective

Project/Initiative Description

Outcomes

Deliverables

Completion Date

COMPLETED
DEVELOPMENTAL
Continuous Quality
Improvement

Completion of 2017 Organizational and Management Risk
CMTO's organizational risk as
1. Organizational Risk Register that identifies the key
2021 ‐ Q4
Activities also referred to as Continuous Quality Improvement identified and agreed upon by both
management data and information that Council requires
(“CQI”)/Organizational Risk Management (“ORM”).
management and council, is reduced to govern and oversee the affairs of the College and that

or managed.

Management requires to make effective operational
decisions and to monitor, measure, and report on
performance, including a strategy to ensure that the data
and information are available and utilized consistently.
2. Updated organizational KPIs, metrics, reports and
dashboards to monitor and report on progress toward
operational objectives.

Continuous Quality
Improvement

Review/update Code of Ethics

The public is protected by a code of
behavior and conduct that RMTs
commit to and are guided by
throughout their career.

Refreshed and Updated Code of Ethics, a glossary of
ethical terms and a companion education program.

Regulatory Modernization

Regulatory Risk Assessment'

Identify, assess and prioritize risks to
MT clients and the public interest;
Reflect an understanding the nature
of those risks and their underlying
causes.

Identify a range of health outcomes and professional risks TBD
to clients and the public interest, including an assessment
of likelihood and impact, to inform CMTO’s programs and
services. Engage broadly and transparently with RMT
clients, MT educational programs, the RMT community,
other regulated health professions and the Government
of Ontario.

2019‐Q4 (Phase 1 &2)‐
Complete
2021‐Q3 (Phase 3)

Q1 Report
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INQUIRIES, COMPLAINTS AND REPORTS COMMITTEE REPORT
2020 - Q1 (January - March)
Committee Members:
Lisa Tucker, RMT (Chair) (as of February 11)
Lesley Hargreaves, RMT (Chair) (until February 10)
Sean Adderley, RMT (until February 10)
Suja Biber, RMT
Deny Brulotte, RMT (non-Council Member) (as of February 11)
Sandra Cina, RMT (non-Council Member)
Marlene Kesler, Pubic Member (as of February 11)
Cheryl Lewin, RMT (non-Council Member) (as of February 11)
Sohail Mall, Public Member (until February 10)
Christin Mandalentsis, RMT (non-Council Member) (from Feb 11-Mar 6)
Shannon Marshall, RMT (non-Council Member) (until February 10)
Debra Mattina, Public Member
Theo Parusis, RMT (non-Council Member)
Rosanna Rebeccani, RMT (non-Council Member)
Martez Schembri-Diskey, RMT (non-Council Member)
Karen Sosnowski, RMT (until February 10)
Karalyn Van Aken, RMT (non-Council Member) (as of February 11)
Ashley Van Zelst, RMT (non-Council Member)
Carolyn Watt, Public Member
Eric Wu, RMT (non-Council Member) (as of March 23)

Committee Mandate:
The Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee (ICRC) investigates complaints,
inquiries, and reported concerns regarding registrants and determines a course of
action in accordance with legislation, including referral to the Discipline Committee for
allegations of professional misconduct or incompetence. The Committee also has the
authority to conduct inquiries for incapacity issues and can refer incapacity concerns
to the Fitness to Practise Committee.
Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee Report
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SUMMARY OF COMMITTEE ACTIVITIES
1. MEETING DATES
The Committee met on March 6 for a business meeting and orientation.
The Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee is divided into three panels to accommodate
the number of ongoing matters, as well as avoid any potential conflicts of interest and
accommodate the selection of Panel members (should the need arise for a discipline hearing).
Collectively, the Panels met three (3) times for in-person meetings on January 8, January 24 and
February 5. The Panels met four (4) times for teleconference or videoconference meetings on
January 8, February 3, March 3 and March 25.
2. ITEMS FOR INFORMATION
2.1 New Cases and Nature of Concerns
Complaints
26

Nature of Concerns

Registrar
Report
Investigations
24

7 - Breach of Standards
6 - Inappropriate Billing Practices
9 - Sexual Abuse
0 - Treatment Causing Injury
4 - Unprofessional Conduct
0 - Practising While Suspended
0 - Non-Compliance
0 - Practising Outside of Scope

Nature of Concerns
6 - Breach of Standards
3 - Inappropriate Billing Practices
7 - Sexual Abuse
0 - Treatment Causing Injury
3 - Unprofessional Conduct
0 - Practising While Suspended
4 - Non-Compliance
1 - Practising Outside of Scope

2.2 Cases Completed by the ICRC and Outcomes
Complaints
17

Outcomes
3 - Referral to Discipline
2 - SCERP and Oral Caution
1 - Oral Caution
3 - SCERP
1 - Undertaking
4 - Advice/ Recommendation
3 - No Further Action

Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee Report

Registrar Reports
Investigations
15

Outcomes
4 - Referral to Discipline
4 - SCERP and Oral Caution
0 - Oral Caution
2 - SCERP
2 - Undertaking
3 - Advice/ Recommendation
0 - No Further Action
2 of 3
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2.3 Current Incapacity Cases and Outcomes
New Cases
5

Active Cases
10

Closed Cases
1

Outcome
0 - Referral to Fitness to Practise
0 - No Further Action
1 - Undertaking

2.4 Complaint Cases before Health Professions Appeal and Review Board (HPARB)
New Cases

Active Cases

Closed Cases

2

11

8

2.5 Current Active Cases
Complaints
121

Registrar Report
Investigations
140

Incapacity
Inquiries

Total Number of Cases

10

261

3. ITEMS SENT TO COUNCIL FOR DECISION
There were no items sent to Council for decision.

Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee Report
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BRIEFING NOTE TO COUNCIL
Date:

May 12, 2020

From:

K. Westfall-Connor, Chair, Executive Committee

Re:

Proposed Amendments to the Executive Committee Terms of Reference

___________________________________________________________________________
In accordance with the Executive Committee’s Terms of Reference, the Committee undertook
the annual review of its Terms of Reference and is proposing amendments for Council’s
consideration.
Motion:
THAT the proposed amendments to the Executive Committee’s Terms of Reference
be approved by Council.
Action:
Update the Governance Handbook.

3.2. Terms of Reference (TOR)
3.2.1. Executive Committee
Statement of Purpose
The Executive Committee assumes leadership, in collaboration with the Council, the
committees and the Registrar, in its financial monitoring, strategic planning, governance and
supervisory responsibilities. The committee monitors administration of the College and relies
on the Registrar and other staff to implement its decisions.
The Executive Committee assists the Council in fulfilling its financial monitoring responsibilities
related to quality and integrity of financial reporting and control systems.
The Executive Committee assures fair presentation of the financial position and results of
operations of the College in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles
(GAAP); ensures that appropriate financial reporting systems and internal controls are
maintained and are operating effectively for the proper recording of transactions and
protection of assets; oversees the College’s compliance with legal, regulatory and contractual
obligations; and monitors the risk management practices of the College.
The Executive Committee is expected to operate in compliance with the College’s Code of
Conduct, policies, by-laws and regulations.
Accountability and Authority
The Executive Committee is a statutory committee of the Council, and as such, reports, and is
accountable to the Council of the College. The Committee has all the powers of the Council with
the exception of making, amending, or revoking by-laws or regulations. The Council grants the
Executive Committee the authority to fulfill the specific terms as noted in its terms of reference.
The Committee addresses and acts on matters requiring immediate attention between regular
meetings of Council. The Committee must report to Council on any decisions made between
regular meetings and must report annually on its activities.
The Executive Committee shall have access to staff, documents and any other resources
necessary to carry out its responsibilities. The Executive Committee shall have the authority to
make inquiries and conduct reviews and may require such information and explanation from

management (the Registrar and Directors) as it considers reasonably necessary. The Executive
Committee has the authority to engage outside advisors where appropriate and in consultation
with the Registrar, except if the advisor relates specifically to the matters involving the
Registrar’s position.
The Executive Committee is empowered to require management to promptly inform the
Executive Committee and external auditor of any material misstatement or error in the
financial statements.
Standard of Care and Reliance on Experts
In the discharge of their duties under the Executive Committee’s mandate, each member of the
Executive Committee shall be obliged to exercise all the care, diligence and skill that a
reasonably prudent person would exercise in comparable circumstances where they are dealing
with the affairs and property of another person. All members of the Executive Committee must
be financially literate, apart from which the standard of care and diligence imposed on the
Executive Committee is no more onerous or extensive than that to which all Council members
are subject.
In the discharge of their duties the members of the Executive Committee may rely in good faith
upon the report and findings of any expert engaged by the Executive Committee to report upon
the matter under consideration.
Executive Committee Composition and Member Terms
The Executive Committee is composed of the four (4) Officers* of the College, including the
following:
• President;
• Vice-President; and
• (2) Executive Officers.
*At least two of the officers must be appointed Council members.
(November 25, 2019)
Committee members are elected from among members of Council, at the first Council meeting
of the year.

All members of the Executive Committee should be sufficiently versed in financial matters to
understand the College’s accounting practices and policies and major judgments involved in
preparing the financial statements.
All members of the Executive Committee shall be free of any relationship that, in the opinion of
the Council, would interfere with his or her individual exercise of judgment.
Operating Principles
The Executive Committee shall conduct itself in accordance with the following operating
principles:
1 Conflict of Interest Disclosure
Members must declare conflicts of interest prior to the discussion of issues or at any time a
conflict of interest or potential conflict of interest arises.
A conflict of interest refers to situations in which personal, occupational or financial
considerations may affect or appear to affect the objectivity or fairness of decisions related to
the committee activities. A conflict of interest may be real, potential or perceived in nature.
Members must declare potential conflicts to the Chair of the committee and must either absent
themselves from the discussion and voting or put the decision to the committee on whether
they should be absent themselves.
2. Communications
The Executive Committee members will maintain direct, open and frank communications with
management, the Council, the external auditor and other key advisors as appropriate.
3. Information Needs and Timing
The Executive Committee shall communicate its expectations to management and the external
auditor with respect to the nature, timing and extent of its information needs. The Executive
Committee expects that written meeting materials will be received by the Executive Committee
members at least one week in advance of the regular meeting dates.

4. In Camera Meetings
The Executive Committee members shall, when deemed appropriate, meet in private session
with the external auditor; with management and as Executive Committee members only, to
discuss matters relevant to the Executive Committee’s mandate. If meeting with Executive
Committee members only, the date, time and location of the meeting and a brief summary of
the topic of discussion must be provided to the Office of the Registrar.
5. Executive Committee Self-Assessment
The Executive Committee shall annually review, discuss and assess the performance of the
Executive Committee and its members and report its findings to the Council.
6. Bilingualism
The Executive Committee is designated as English/French with accommodation.
6. Agenda / Minutes
An agenda will be provided by the Registrar to each member of the Executive Committee in
consultation with the Chair and the external auditor, prior to each meeting. of the Executive
Committee and distributed to each member of the Executive Committee and the external
auditor. Executive Committee members may recommend agenda items subject to approval of
the agenda by the Executive Committee. Minutes of each meeting of the Executive Committee
will be prepared and distributed to each member of the Executive Committee and to the
external auditor on a timely basis. All meeting minutes will be made available to the external
auditor as part of the annual audit procedures.
7. Annual Review of Terms of Reference
On an annual basis the members of the Executive Committee will review the Terms of
Reference of the Executive Committee and make recommendations to the Council, as
necessary.
8. Other Duties
The Executive Committee will perform any other activities consistent with the Terms of
Reference as the Council deems necessary or appropriate.

Operating Procedures
The Executive Committee shall conduct itself in accordance with the following operating
procedures:
1. Chair
The Chair shall be the President of Council.
1. Meetings
Meetings may be convened at the request of any member of the Executive Committee or
management or at the request of the external auditor, but in no circumstances less than four
times per year. The external auditor shall receive notice of all meetings of the Executive
Committee and is entitled to appear and be heard thereat.
The Executive Committee shall meet with the external auditor no less than two times per year
to review the results of the audit and approve the audited financial statements of the College.
Any member of the Executive Committee may require the attendance of the external auditor at
any meeting of the Executive Committee.
Meetings may be conducted in person, by teleconference, electronically, or by video
conference or by any individual member participating by teleconference or video conference.
3. Quorum and Decision Making
A quorum of the Executive Committee is consistent with the by-laws and shall be 50% plus one
of the committee members.
4. Reporting
The Executive Committee shall report to the Council as often as necessary but at least annually.
Reporting shall normally be made through the Chair of the Executive Committee.

Responsibilities
1.

Risk Management

The Executive Committee is responsible for:
•

•
•

•

2.

Reviewing and evaluating the critical risks and uncertainties as determined by management
that may affect the College, including but not limited to the insurance protection,
environmental risk, political factors, treasury/credit and other areas as determined from
time-to-time;
Periodically reviewing any emerging accounting issues and their potential impact on the
College’s financial statements;
Obtaining reasonable assurance from discussions with and/or reports from management
and the external auditor that the College’s accounting systems and internal control systems
are efficient, effective and operating continuously; and
Directing the external auditor’s examinations to specific areas as deemed necessary by the
Executive Committee.
Financial Reporting and Compliance

Financial Reporting
The Executive Committee is responsible for:
•

•
•

•

Reviewing the quarterly and annual financial statements of the College and any significant
related entities, and assessing the selection, application and consistency of the Canadian
generally accepted accounting principles used in preparing the financial statements;
Reviewing the significant estimates and matter of judgment used in preparing the financial
statements and significant variances from budget or comparable results of prior periods;
Reviewing the significant disclosure or presentation issues addressed by management and
the external auditor during the course of the audit and preparation of the financial
statements;
Reviewing the auditor management letter detailing financial statement errors,
presentation/disclosure matters, and any other significant findings identified by the
external auditor during the audit. The Committee will evaluate management’s response to
these findings, and management’s response thereto, as well as the status of remediation
against any significant issues reported previously;

•

Reviewing the report from management and the Management Discussion if applicable, a
Management Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) to be included in the Annual Report and
reporting its findings to the Council. The Committee shall be consulted on any other
financial information presented in the Annual Report;

•

Reviewing any errors detected by the audit, how they were resolved with management and
whether they indicate a weakness in the reporting and control system;
Reviewing the appropriateness of and approving changes to the Financial and accounting
Policies and disclosures; and
Reviewing all material information presented with the financial statements, including any
financial information and analysis included in the annual report. Approving the quarterly
financial statements and recommending the annual draft audited financial statements to
the Council for its approval.

•
•

Relationship with External Auditor
The Executive Committee is responsible for:

• Reviewing the engagement letter and projected audit fee;
• Reviewing the scope of the audit, including areas of audit risk, timetable, deadline,
materiality limits and the extent of internal control testing;

• Reviewing and making recommendations, as appropriate, on any matter relating to the
external audit of CMTO’s accounts;

• Reviewing the performance, independence and objectivity of the external auditor auditor’s

•

performance, at least annually. This includes including a review of all relationships and
engagements between the auditor and CMTO for non-audit services that may reasonably be
thought to bear on the independence of the auditor; and
Recommending to Council annually the appointment of the CMTO’s auditor.

Other Financial Responsibilities
The Executive Committee is responsible for:
Reviewing and making recommendations as appropriate on:
•
•

The Draft Annual Work Plan and Draft Budget for approval by the Council;
The financial implications of any significant changes to approved budgets and other major
undertakings or projects that may be contemplated during the year; and

•

The banking and other financing arrangements of the College.

3. Other Duties and Responsibilities

• To act for the College on any matter requiring immediate attention between scheduled
Council meetings, and report all decisions and/or actions to Council at its first subsequent
meeting;

• To consider and evaluate emerging and external developments of significance to the
College’s future, and where indicated, make specific recommendations to the Council;

• To review and prioritize issues of potential importance to the Council and the College, and
set approve the agenda for meetings of the full Council;

• To give direction and support, and to provide advice and counsel, to the Registrar on
•

matters of importance to the organization;
To manage, conduct, and make decisions regarding the evaluation of the Registrar’s
performance in accordance with Council Governance Policy #4.1 Registrar/CEO
Performance Appraisal and Evaluation and to ensure that incoming (new) Executive
Committee members are briefed on expectations for the Registrar in the coming year;

• To negotiate conditions of the Registrar’s employment and contracts as required;
• To monitor an ongoing organization-wide strategic planning and annual review and selfassessment process that includes an evaluation of Committee structure and effectiveness
and includes participation by the Registrar and all Council members;

• To monitor an orientation and mentoring process that enables all new Council and
Committee members to become fully informed and contributing participants as quickly as
possible following their nomination and election;

• To monitor the provision of development opportunities and learning activities, for the

•

Council, Officers and Committee members that will enhance the effectiveness of the College
and the growth of its individual Council members;
To make referrals to College committees regarding matters within their respective
mandates, in accordance with legislation and by-laws;

• To consider for approval the candidates recommended by the Fund Administrator to
receive funding from the Massage Therapy Research Fund.

• To work collaboratively with the Registrar to provide written feedback to the Public
•

Appointments Branch in the question of reappointment of public members; and
The President and Registrar, or their designates, meet twice annually or as needed with the
Executive Director and President of the professional association (RMTAO)

•

To annually review applications for the position of non-Council members and, based on the
required competencies, recommend the selection of non-Council members to Council for
ratification.

4. Internal Control Environment
The Executive Committee is responsible for:
•

•

Reviewing and considering any matters relating to the adequacy of internal controls and
any other reports from management or others on significant control deviations or
indications of fraud and the corrective action undertaken with regard thereto; and
Overseeing the status and handling of reports of possible fraudulent or dishonest use of
misuse of College resources or property by management, staff, consultants, volunteers or
registrants.

5. Corporate Governance
The Executive Committee is responsible for:

• Ensuring there are adequate systems and practices in place to provide reasonable assurance
of compliance with laws, regulations and standards of ethical conduct, with respect to the
financial affairs of the College;

• Reviewing, as required, reports from management and others relating to the College’s
compliance with laws, regulations and contractual obligations that it is subject to;

• Receiving and reviewing updates from management and general counsel on compliance

•

matters and litigation claims or other contingencies that could have a significant impact on
the financial affairs of the College;
Annually reviewing and making recommendations, as appropriate, on the Governance
Handbook. College’s Code of Conduct and the status of the execution of the Code of
Conduct by staff, volunteers and consultants.

Approved by Council: April 20, 2012
Amended February 2014, May 2014, December 2015, November 2019
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BRIEFING NOTE TO COUNCIL
Date:

May 12, 2020

From:

K. Westfall-Connor, Chair, Executive Committee

Re:

Ratification of Public Appointment

___________________________________________________________________________
CMTO received notice of a new Public Appointment, Jay Mathers, on March 6, 2020, to CMTO
Council. Taking into consideration the large number of Peer Assessments that will be
conducted this year which may result in a large number of Quality Assurance (QA) Panel
meetings in 2020 and to alleviate some of the pressure on the other public members on the QA
Committee to attend Panel meetings, CMTO recommended the appointment of J. Mathers to
the QA Committee.
This was a time-sensitive issue as the Quality Assurance Committee orientation was
scheduled for March 12, 2020. Therefore, the Executive Committee, using its authority to
act on behalf of Council in between Council meetings, appointed Jay Mathers to the Quality
Assurance Committee on March 6, 2020.
Motion:
THAT the decision of the Executive Committee to appoint Jay Mathers to the Quality
Assurance Committee effective March 6, 2020, be ratified by Council.

Agenda 6.3
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BRIEFING NOTE TO COUNCIL
Date:

May 12, 2020

From:

Kim Westfall-Connor, Chair, Executive Committee

Re:

Ratification of non-Council Member Appointment

___________________________________________________________________________
Christin Mandalentsis resigned as a non-Council member on the Inquiries, Complaints and
Reports Committee (ICRC).
As a result of the vacancy, the College recommended the reappointment of Eric Wu, a 2019
non-Council member. E. Wu sat on the ICRC in 2019 and on the same Panel that Christin was
assigned to. The advantage to this is that he would not need orientation, which had already
taken place, and he would be familiar with some of the cases being reviewed.
This was a time-sensitive issue as Panels had already been assigned and meeting dates
scheduled. Therefore, the Executive Committee, using its authority to act on behalf of
Council in between Council meetings, appointed E. Wu to serve as a non-Council member
on ICRC effective March 23, 2020.
Motion:
THAT the decision of the Executive Committee to appoint Eric Wu as a non-Council
member to the Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee effective March 23,
2020, be ratified by Council.
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BRIEFING NOTE TO COUNCIL
Date: May 12, 2020
From: Ian Vining, Chair, Client Relations Committee
Re:

2020 Sexual Abuse Prevention Plan

Purpose:
To update CMTO’s current Sexual Abuse Prevention Plan (SAPP) so that it reflects
organizational initiatives to prevent and address sexual abuse of clients by registrants.
Background:
The SAPP was approved by the Client Relations Committee on April 27, 2020.
One of CMTO’s legislated responsibilities under the Procedural Code of the Regulated Health
Professions Act, 1991, (RHPA) is having a Sexual Abuse Prevention Plan (SAPP) with measures
for preventing and dealing with sexual abuse of clients including: (a) educational requirements
for registrants; (b) guidelines for the conduct of registrants with their clients; (c) training for the
CMTO’s staff; and (d) the provision of information to the public.
Since 2019, the SAPP has been a public document. Following approval by the Client Relations
Committee, the SAPP is provided to Council for information and then posted on the CMTO
website.
CMTO has a strong commitment to preventing and addressing the sexual abuse of clients by
registrants. The College takes this responsibility seriously and adopts new policies and
measures that underpin a zero tolerance approach to sexual abuse. A comprehensive and
effective SAPP is important to achieving CMTO’s public protection mandate, in part because
clients are in a vulnerable position when receiving Massage Therapy.
The current regulatory and policy climate (through government activities and the media) has
put increasing responsibility on Ontario’s health regulatory colleges to demonstrate that they
are effectively preventing and dealing with instances of sexual abuse.
1
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The attached 2020 SAPP outlines CMTO’s activities to prevent and address sexual abuse
through:
1) Student Education
2) Registrant Education
3) Training for College Administration
4) Funding for Therapy and Counselling
5) Provision of Information to the Public
6) Evaluation of the Sexual Abuse Prevention Plan
Specific projects for each department are noted in a summary table of planned initiatives for
2020-2021 in the report (Appendix A).
Next Steps:
Staff will post the Sexual Abuse Prevention Plan on CMTO’s website and bring the Sexual Abuse
Prevention Plan back to the Client Relations Committee on an annual basis for review and
modification.
Attachment:
2020 Sexual Abuse Prevention Plan
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Sexual Abuse Prevention Plan

2020-2021

2020-2021 Sexual Abuse Prevention Plan
Introduction
The College of Massage Therapists of Ontario (CMTO/the College) has a strong commitment to
preventing and addressing the sexual abuse of clients by Registered Massage Therapists (RMTs/
MTs/registrants). CMTO takes this responsibility seriously and has adopted a number of policies
and measures that underpin a zero tolerance approach to sexual abuse. A comprehensive and
effective Sexual Abuse Prevention Plan is crucial to achieving CMTO’s public protection
mandate, in part because clients are in a vulnerable position when receiving Massage Therapy.
The College’s Sexual Abuse Prevention Plan is reviewed and updated annually by the Client
Relations Committee (CRC), which reports to CMTO’s Council. Each year’s plan is carefully
reviewed and informed by an evaluation of the previous year’s results, and changes in the
legislative environment.
CMTO’s Sexual Abuse Prevention Plan complies with legislated requirements under the
Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991 (RHPA). The Plan was reviewed and updated following
the passage of amendments to the RHPA contained in the Protecting Patients Act, 2017. CMTO
also released a new Standard for Maintaining
Written Consent for Treating Sensitive
Professional Boundaries and Preventing Sexual
Areas
Abuse in 2017 to align with the new
legislation. The purpose of this Plan is to
As a regulator, CMTO must take all
outline CMTO’s activities to prevent sexual
reasonable steps to prevent sexual abuse.
abuse and to address its prevention through
While CMTO recognizes that it is impossible
the following initiatives:
to completely prevent sexual abuse from
occurring, the College made its
1) Education for Massage Therapy
recommended written consent process for
Students
treating sensitive areas a mandatory
2) Registrant Education
requirement in 2017. In 2019, CMTO
3) Training for College Administration
updated the sample consent form to
4) Funding for Therapy and Counselling
increase client understanding around breast
5) Provision of Information to the Public
massage. The requirement for written
6) Evaluation of the Sexual Abuse
consent may prevent some cases of abuse,
Prevention Plan
and where it cannot prevent abuse, it may
make it easier to prove that sexual abuse
occurred.
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Each initiative is described below, including selected highlights from 2018 and 2019, and
planned enhancements for 2020 and 2021. A summary table of deliverables planned for 20202021 is available as Attachment A.
1)

Education for Massage Therapy Students

In 2016, CMTO worked with other provincial Massage Therapy regulators to update the Interjurisdictional Practice Competencies and Performance Indicators for Massage Therapists at
Entry-to-Practice. This is an important document for educators. It is a guiding tool for Massage
Therapy education and includes concepts related to understanding and preventing sexual
abuse.
Although it does not currently approve Massage Therapy educational programs, CMTO strives
to ensure students gain a clear understanding of what constitutes sexual abuse, sexual abuse
prevention and the obligations of healthcare professionals to report it when it does happen.
CMTO does this is several ways:
•

CMTO supports the Canadian Massage Therapy Council for Accreditation, which has
sexual abuse prevention components included in the accreditation standards for
educational programs.

•

CMTO has provided guidance documents (such as the Standard for Maintaining
Professional Boundaries and Preventing Sexual Abuse which is discussed throughout this
document) to educational programs to use as teaching resources; and, from time-totime, the College surveys programs on whether and how these tools are used.

•

CMTO informs educators that the Certification Examinations are based on the Interjurisdictional Practice Competencies and Performance Indicators for Massage Therapists
at Entry-to Practice, including the obligations of RMTs to prevent sexual abuse and to
meet regulatory requirements, such as reporting sexual abuse when it does happen.

2018
In 2018, CMTO launched an Open House series to engage with RMTs across Ontario (up to
three districts per year, determined by the Council election schedule). CMTO has also been
promoting the Open House events to educational programs in the districts so that Massage
Therapy students can participate and learn about regulation of the profession. RMTs who have
2

attended the Open House events have also been asked to share their experience with CMTO’s
(relatively) new written consent for treating sensitive areas requirement.
CMTO also surveyed educational programs in 2018 about teaching the prevention of sexual
abuse. Representatives of Massage Therapy educational programs were asked about their
current curriculum regarding sexual abuse prevention, including which CMTO and legislative
documents are used, how they teach to the relevant Inter-jurisdictional Massage Therapy
Practice Competencies and Performance Indicators, how they test/assess competency, and
what additional resources may be helpful.
2019
In 2019, CMTO initiated a review and
update of all Standards of Practice,
which set out expectations for
professional Massage Therapy care,
including sexual abuse prevention and
maintaining professional boundaries.

CMTO’s Standard for Maintaining Professional
Boundaries and Preventing Sexual Abuse
CMTO’s Standard for Maintaining Professional
Boundaries and Preventing Sexual Abuse was
developed to align with new sexual abuse
prevention provisions in the Regulated Health
Professions Act, 1991. The Standard addresses a
number of topics that impact Massage Therapy
education, such as professional communication,
boundaries, hugging, use of recording devices,
and the treatment of sensitive areas such as the
gluteal region, inner thighs, chest and breasts.

In 2019, CMTO also developed an
education strategy outlining the
College’s role in providing education
and identifying opportunities to work
with system partners to ensure
knowledge of regulatory responsibilities is understood by the profession and by future
registrants of the profession.
2020-21

In 2020 and 2021, CMTO will develop and launch a new online jurisprudence program, as part
of STRiVE, the Quality Assurance (QA) Program. This online jurisprudence program will inform
RMTs of their obligations as regulated health professionals under federal and provincial
legislation, and can also be used by educators for Massage Therapy students.
CMTO is in the process of developing additional learning resources.
3

2)

Registrant Education

Massage Therapists have access to guidance from CMTO on sexual abuse prevention and
reporting requirements, through College policies, guidelines and Standards of Practice. These
documents are publicly available on the CMTO website. An overview of CMTO’s commitment to
zero tolerance for any form of abuse, as well as its sexual abuse prevention policies and
obligations are highlighted for RMTs in CMTO’s e-newsletter, TouchPoint. CMTO publishes the
number of complaints and reports of sexual abuse received each year in the Annual Report.
CMTO also publishes all discipline hearing summaries on the CMTO website. Full versions of
discipline decisions and reasons from January 1st, 2016, onward are published on the Canadian
Legal Information Institute (CanLII) website to provide information for the public and other
stakeholders of the College.
Information on professional boundaries, the definition of sexual abuse, and prevention of
sexual abuse are also included in CMTO’s Professionalism Workshop. The Professionalism
Workshop is an education and remediation tool. Registrants who are required to complete this
workshop participate in group discussions on professional and mandatory obligations (including
reporting of sexual abuse), client-therapist relationships, boundaries and ethical decisionmaking. CMTO’s Standards and Regulations e-Workshop, which is open to all registrants, also
provides information about abuse prevention and reporting obligations.
The College also offers practice advice to registrants with questions about preventing sexual
abuse, boundary crossings and reporting requirements through the College’s Practice Specialist,
who can be contacted by email at practicespecialist@cmto.com or by phone at (416) 4892626/1-800-465-1933 extension 4124.
2018
Following the passage of the Protecting Patients Act, 2017, CMTO developed a new Standard of
Practice for Maintaining Professional Boundaries and Preventing Sexual Abuse for registrants
that contains comprehensive guidance on professionalism, boundary crossings and preventing
and reporting sexual abuse. A comprehensive set of Frequently Asked Questions was
subsequently issued after tracking practice advice questions and feedback from the public and
other stakeholders. To help registrants maintain professional boundaries, the updated Standard
of Practice also provided clarity regarding treating friends and family.
4

Registrants were frequently updated about boundary issues and sexual abuse prevention in the
TouchPoint e-newsletter. The College provided references to existing sources of guidance on
treating sensitive areas, treating sexual partners and CMTO’s Professional Misconduct
Regulation.
2019
In 2019, CMTO launched STRiVE, the new Quality Assurance (QA) Program. As part of the
redesign of CMTO’s (QA) Program, 15 Career-Span Competencies were identified for the
profession. Several of the Career-Span Competencies (e.g. acting with professional integrity;
functioning in a client-centered manner) are linked to sexual abuse prevention. One of the
Career Span Competencies is to “Apply the Principles of Sensitive Practice”.
As an annual reminder about the importance of sexual abuse prevention, registrants were
asked to declare, at renewal in 2019, that they understand their responsibilities as regulated
health professionals for reporting and preventing sexual abuse. This declaration will be
required at renewal each year going forward.
With the success of three Open House events in 2018, three more Open House events took
place in 2019, and included answering registrants’ questions about practice dilemmas, consent
and sexual abuse prevention.
Proposed changes to the Professional Misconduct Regulation were also developed in 2019. One
of the proposed additions to the Professional Misconduct Regulation will make failing to take
reasonable steps to prevent sexual abuse of a client or sexual misconduct toward a client by
any person working under a registrant’s direction or supervision, an act of professional
misconduct.
2020-2021
Throughout 2020 and 2021, a number of education focused initiatives will be introduced,
including an online jurisprudence program and additional e-learning modules to address a
variety of topics (e.g. Code of Ethics, Evidence-Informed Practice, prevention of sexual abuse).
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CMTO also plans to develop and launch an awareness campaign about mandatory reporting
requirements for Massage Therapists who have reasonable grounds, obtained in the course of
their practice, to believe that a patient/client has been sexually abused by a Massage Therapist
or by another regulated health professional in Ontario. This awareness campaign will also focus
on the mandatory reporting obligations of employers of Massage Therapists, and of facility
owners where Massage Therapists work.
3)

Training for College Administration

All CMTO staff and Council/Committee members undergo regular training by experts in sexual
abuse prevention and counselling. This training ensures that those involved with complaints or
reports about sexual abuse have current knowledge of College responsibilities around sexual
abuse, understand the impact of sexual abuse on individuals, families and society and are
equipped to assist individuals who have been abused by a registrant and to carry out this work
in an appropriately sensitive manner.
2018-2020, and beyond
In 2018, all CMTO staff and relevant Council/Committee members received training on sexual
abuse from a legislative perspective and a College-specific perspective.
Experts on sexual abuse in provider-patient/client relationships attended and delivered the
training sessions to highlight sources of support for individuals who have been sexually abused,
and to offer advice on how to interact in a sensitive way with individuals who have been
sexually abused. CMTO also incorporated new recommendations received from the Health
Profession Regulators of Ontario (HPRO) into training sessions.
A new communications protocol was developed in 2016, and is reviewed annually, to ensure a
clear organizational understanding of how calls and queries from those who may be affected by
sexual abuse are to be addressed in a respectful and appropriate way. A draft script is also
provided to staff to liaise with a member of the public who may have a complaint of sexual
abuse.
Staff were surveyed in 2019 to ensure they have the preparation required to deal sensitively
and appropriately with patients/clients who may have experienced sexual abuse. CMTO’s
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annual training will continue in 2020 and beyond, and will be enhanced and updated going
forward.
4)

Funding for Therapy and Counselling

Under the RHPA, all health regulatory colleges must establish programs to provide funding for
therapy and counselling for patients/clients who have alleged being sexually abused by
registrants.
Under the RHPA, CMTO’s Client Relations Committee is responsible for overseeing this process,
determining eligibility and administering the fund.
2018
In February 2018, CMTO’s Council updated its Funding for Therapy and Counselling Program by
passing a new policy that broadened the College’s ability to provide funding to patients/clients
who have been sexually abused by Massage Therapists. Applicants are now eligible for funding
for therapy and counselling if:
(a) it is alleged, in a complaint or report, that the applicant while a client, was
sexually abused by a registrant or former registrant;
(b) there has been a finding by a panel of the College’s Discipline Committee that the
applicant, while a client, was sexually abused by a registrant or former registrant;
(c) a registrant or former registrant enters into an undertaking with the College to
provide funding for therapy and counselling;
(d) there is an admission made by a registrant in a statement to the College or in an
agreement with the College that he or she sexually abused the applicant while the
applicant was a client of the registrant or former registrant;
(e) a registrant or former registrant has been convicted under the Criminal Code
(Canada) of sexually assaulting the applicant while the applicant was a client of the
registrant or former registrant and the facts supporting the sexual assault constitute
sexual abuse within the meaning of the Health Professions Procedural Code;
(f) there is a statement, contained in the written reasons of a Committee of the
College given after a hearing, that the applicant, while a client, was sexually abused
by a registrant or former registrant; or
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(g) there is sufficient evidence presented to the Client Relations Committee to
support a reasonable belief that the applicant, while a client, was sexually abused by
a registrant or former registrant.
Communications materials for individuals who allege sexual abuse by a Massage Therapist have
been updated in order to reflect the new funding policy. New provincial regulations were also
enacted in 2018 that broaden clients’ access to funding for therapy and counselling where an
allegation of sexual abuse has been made. As a result of the policy/regulatory change, CMTO
has experienced a sharp increase in the number of applications received for the Funding for
Therapy and Counselling Program.
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2020-2021
Important Changes to CMTO’s Complaints and Discipline Process Made as a Result of
Ontario’s Sexual Abuse Task Force (SATF) Report
In 2016, the Minister’s Task Force on the Prevention of Sexual Abuse of Patients and the
Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991 made a number of recommendations to eradicate
sexual abuse of patients/clients in Ontario. Some changes have been made by government via
legislation, and CMTO has moved forward with others on its own accord, including:
•

Staff - To address a SATF report recommendation, CMTO has designated a specific point
person with the requisite expertise on abuse for each complaint at the point of intake
regarding sexual abuse. Information regarding the Funding for Therapy and Counselling
Program and application is provided to every client that meets the eligibility criteria.

•

Support for Witnesses - CMTO may cover the expenses for a support person for
vulnerable witnesses that are testifying during a Discipline Committee hearing. In
addition, the Discipline Committee Rules allow for a support person to be present and
to sit near a witness while testifying. A Discipline Panel may allow a vulnerable witness
to provide their testimony without seeing or being seen by the registrant if the
Discipline Panel is of the opinion that this is necessary to obtain a full and candid
account.

•

Amicus Curiae – CMTO’s Discipline Committee Rules provide for the appointment of
amicus counsel for sexual abuse matters in which the registrant is self-represented, so
a witness is not cross-examined by their alleged perpetrator of that abuse. Where a
witness is vulnerable, and a registrant is not represented, the College will apply to have
a representative appointed to conduct the cross-examination.

CMTO also plans to review the effectiveness of the funding for therapy and counselling process
in 2020-21, and develop new plain language, user-friendly materials for patients/clients and
therapists to explain the program. A plain language information package for clients could also
include a list of support resources (e.g. crisis support resources).
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5)

Provision of Information to the Public

CMTO’s website provides information regarding sexual abuse prevention, an outline of the
complaints process, funding for therapy and counselling information and application, and
contact information for the dedicated staff members responsible for responding to any
questions or concerns. An annual “Look Before You Book” campaign also helps ensure that the
public is aware of the College’s public register.
CMTO publishes all discipline hearing summaries on the CMTO website. Full versions of
discipline decisions and reasons from January 1st, 2016, onward are published on the Canadian
Legal Information Institute (CanLII) website to provide information for the public and other
stakeholders of the College.
2018-19
In 2018, CMTO devoted increased resources to providing information to the public and building
public engagement. New articles and videos were produced on topics such as:
• what to expect when visiting a Massage Therapist;
• professional boundaries;
• Look Before You Book; and
• post-termination relationships.
The articles and videos were disseminated through community news and social media. A PDF
document (that can be printed and posted in registrants’ practices) was also developed to
inform clients that Massage Therapy Standards of Practice are the same across all practice
settings, that clients have specific rights and that the College is here to help with concerns
clients might have.
In 2019 CMTO looked to build public awareness by promoting the “Look Before You Book”
campaign via social media and using video promotion on Spotify. The video on professional
boundaries was made more accessible for individuals with visual or auditory impairments.
Content was drafted for a new web page that will contain information for members of the
public. CMTO staff engaged with members of Ontario’s Citizen Advisory Group (to discuss
health professions’ regulation in Ontario) and attended the Zoomer show (a trade show for
Ontarians 45 and over) to promote public awareness of the health regulatory colleges.
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2020-21
CMTO will continue to promote the informational resources developed in 2018-19 and will
broaden the reach of its public awareness activities in 2020-21. Activities will include
developing informational resources for the public on a dedicated place of CMTO’s website.
CMTO is working with Ontario’s other health regulatory colleges on a new public awareness
brochure and ways to broaden public awareness.
6)

Evaluation of Sexual Abuse Prevention Plan

The following information will be compiled and used to evaluate the effectiveness of CMTO’s
Sexual Abuse Prevention Plan, and to continue to improve it going forward. An internal audit
will be prepared annually and will include the following:
•
•
•
•
•
•

collection and analysis of statistics from the Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee
(ICRC) and discipline matters relating to sexual abuse;
information on topics and number of incoming practice advice questions that relate to
sexual abuse/boundaries;
annual statistics on the “Look Before You Book” campaign;
any advice from Health Profession Regulators of Ontario (HPRO) and other stakeholders on
staff and Council/Committee training, and CMTO’s evaluation of its own training;
any available data about educational programs’ delivery of sexual abuse prevention
curriculum and reporting requirements; and
number of participants in CMTO’s Professionalism Workshop.

CMTO’s Council will continue to receive updates from the Client Relations Committee, and
CMTO will monitor the effectiveness of the measures and polices outlined above, and will
discuss longer-term goals as part of its commitment to zero tolerance of sexual abuse.

11

Attachment A: Initiatives Planned for 2020-2021
Initiative

Initiative Type Completion
Lead Department
Date
An online jurisprudence program Registrant
2020-21
Professional Practice
will be developed and launched. Education
The course will be shared with
Massage Therapy educational
programs.

Massage
Therapy
Student
Education
E-learning modules on topics like Registrant
the Code of Ethics will be
Education
developed and launched.
Massage
These e-learning modules may
Therapy
be shared with Massage Therapy Student
educational programs.
Education
Open House events with
Registrant
registrants are being planned in Education
two regions of the province and
will include answering
Massage
registrants’ questions about the Therapy
new Standards and sexual abuse Student
prevention.
Education
Launch an awareness campaign
Registrant
about mandatory reporting
Education
requirements.
As an annual reminder about the Registrant
importance of sexual abuse
Education
prevention, registrants will be
asked to declare, at each
renewal period, that they
understand their responsibilities
as regulated health professionals

2020-21

Professional Practice

Two Open
Houses in
2020

Policy and
Communications/ All
departments

2020

Policy and
Communications/
Professional Conduct
Registration Services

2020-21
(annually)
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Initiative
for reporting and preventing
sexual abuse.
Undertake annual training for
College administration and
incorporate recommendations
from the Health Profession
Regulators of Ontario and other
stakeholders.
Undertake annual training for
Committees involved with sexual
abuse matters (i.e. ICRC and
Discipline)
The College will monitor the
effectiveness of the new funding
policy in 2019-20 in order to
determine required changes and
whether to seek new regulations
in the future.
Develop a plain language, userfriendly information package for
clients and therapists to explain
the Funding for Therapy and
Counselling Program, including a
list of support resources for
clients.
CMTO will devote increased
resources to providing
information to the public and in
public engagement. CMTO’s
website will be enhanced to
provide a dedicated space for
publicly-focused information.

Initiative Type Completion
Date

Lead Department

Training for
2020-21
College
(annually)
Administration

Policy and
Communications

Training for
2020-21
College
(annually)
Administration

Professional Conduct

Funding for
Therapy and
Counselling

2020-21

Policy and
Communications

Funding for
Therapy and
Counselling

2020-21

Policy and
Communications/
Professional Practice/
Corporate Services

Provision of
Information to
the Public

2020-21

Policy and
Communications
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Initiative
Articles and videos will be
promoted to the public, on
topics such as:
• what to expect when
visiting a Massage
Therapist;
• professional boundaries;
• Look Before You Book;
• post-termination
relationships; and
• a client-facing printable
PDF to inform clients of
their rights and the role
of the College.
Articles and videos will be
disseminated through
community news and social
media.
Enhance data reporting on
number of incoming practice
advice questions that relate to
sexual abuse/boundaries.
Monitor and evaluate CMTO’s
Sexual Abuse Prevention Plan
annually and discuss goals of the
Plan for subsequent year.

Initiative Type Completion
Lead Department
Date
Provision of
2020-21
Policy and
Information to
Communications
the Public

Evaluation of
Sexual Abuse
Prevention
Plan
Evaluation of
Sexual Abuse
Prevention
Plan

2020

Policy and
Communications

Ongoing

Client Relations
Committee
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Annual MTRF Reporting

As per the MTRF contract with ARIES, provided for your review are two reports:
1. Progress Report (operational - summarizing the activities until 31 March 2020)
2. Financial Report (summarizing the expenses until 31 Dec 2019)
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SECTION 1. PROJECT INFORMATION
Project Title:

Massage Therapy Research Fund (MTRF)

Funder:

College of Massage Therapists of Ontario (CMTO)

Start Date:

July 1, 2017

Contractual End Date:

December 31, 2021

Progress Report (period: March 1, 2019 to March 31, 2020) submitted by:
Name:

Pouria Tavakkoli Avval, PhD, MTRF Program Manager on behalf of Centennial College

Organization:

WIMTACH/ARIES of Centennial College

SECTION 2. BACKGROUND
The Massage Therapy Research Fund (MTRF) was established in 2004 with the primary purpose of supporting high quality
and rigorous research in Massage Therapy in order to generate knowledge on the effectiveness and safety of Massage
Therapy, understanding of its integration within the health care system, and information on the profession’s positioning
within the healthcare system. The MTRF research priorities guiding the annual funding competition are:






Massage Therapy effectiveness, efficacy and safety
Access to and delivery of Massage Therapy services;
Professionalization of Massage Therapy;
Massage Therapy competencies and competency assessment;
Evaluation of Massage Therapy practices.

In July 2017, the MTRF program was transferred to Centennial College from University of Toronto, and since that time
Centennial College administers this funding program. Also, the progress and financial reports of projects funded by MTRF are
submitted to Pouria Tavakkoli Avval to monitor the progress and expenditures of projects.
Amanda Baskwill’s projects funded by 2016/2017 MTRF competition have been completed, and Centennial College has
received the final progress and financial reports of projects. Up to the present, $24,166.00 has been released to Dr. Lucie
Pelland (Queen’s University), the grant recipient of 2017/2018 MTRF competition. And, as the result of 2018/2019
competition, so far, $24,210.51 has been released to Dr. Maryam Faiz (University of Toronto), and Dr. Trisha Scribbans
(University of Manitoba) has received $3,393.95.
The review process of proposals submitted to 2019/2020 competition has been completed and grant recipients have been
already identified and notified.
This progress report outlines the activities completed from March 1, 2019 to March 31, 2020.
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SECTION 3. SUMMARY OF ACTIVITIES
3.1 STATUS OF PROJECTS FUNDED BY 2016/2017 MTRF FUNDING COMPETITION
Amanda Baskwill (Humber College) has received MTRF fund for two projects titled “Patients’ Experiences of Ending Massage
Therapy Care” and “Flunking or Flying Colours: A Canadian MT Education Environmental Scan”.
According to the policy of MTRF, the installments of approved fund will be released to grant recipient institute upon the
submission of satisfactory operational (progress) and financial reports. The report submission deadline and the amount of
installments paid to aforementioned projects are provided in Table 1.

APPLICANT

Table 1. Details of projects funded by 2016/2017 MTRF competition.
PROJECT TITLE
REPORTS
REPORTS
FUNDS
SUBMISSION
RECEIVED
REQUESTED
DEADLINE

Amanda
Baskwill
(Humber
College)

Patients’
Experiences of
Ending Massage
Therapy Care

Amanda
Baskwill
(Humber
College)

Flunking or
Flying Colours: A
Canadian MT
Education
Environmental
Scan

February 1,
2018
June 15, 2018
October 15,
2018
December 15,
2018 (final
reports)
March 1, 2018
May 15, 2018
July 15, 2018
September 15,
2018
December 10,
2018 (final
reports)

Final Reports
ReceivedProject Closed

Final Reports
ReceivedProject Closed

INSTALLMENTS
PAID

$13,209.00

$3,851.31
(Covering the
entire of project
expenditures)

$27,558.49

$20,545.84
(Covering the
entire of project
expenditures)

Amanda Baskwill’s both projects have been accomplished successfully. According to the final report of “Patients’ Experiences
of Ending Massage Therapy Care”, a descriptive phenomenology was used to describe the experience of ending care for
patients of massage therapy. Data were collected through semi-structured interviews and analyzed using Colaizzi’s methods.
Seven participants described their experience of ending massage therapy care as awkward and uncomfortable. They felt
responsible for managing potential conflict. The discomfort was so intense that participants rarely communicated to their
massage therapist. From this study, it is clear that communicating concerns during massage therapy treatment was difficult
for these participants. It was easier to leave when they felt uncomfortable, rather than exacerbate the discomfort with
confrontation. The researcher believes future research should continue to explore the phenomenon of ending care.
According to the final progress report of “Flunking or Flying Colours: A Canadian MT Education Environmental Scan”, an
approach described by Hodges et al. was used to frame this study. This approach included interviewing stakeholders regarding
the current state of MT education and analyzing their comments for common themes. Sixty-four individuals, from nine
provinces and one territory, were invited to participate. Twenty-one individuals participated. According to the study,
participants described three challenges they faced in Massage Therapy: variation, isolation and stagnation, which they hope
would be remedied by recently implemented program accreditation.
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The final progress and financial reports for both projects have been submitted to CMTO already.
3.2 STATUS OF PROJECTS FUNDED BY 2017/2018 MTRF FUNDING COMPETITION
Dr. Lucie Pelland from Queen's University was identified as the grant recipient of 2017/2018 MTRF funding competition for
the amount of $40,000.00. According to the progress report received the scoping reviews of the research have been
developed in collaboration with a librarian at the Health Sciences library at Queen’s. The first has been designed to evaluate
the source, quality and extent of current research on the role of massage in the treatment of children with cerebral palsy.
The second has been designed to identify and evaluate variability in the terms used to describe spasticity, stiffness and
viscosity in basic and clinical research. A third review is being designed to evaluate current evidence regarding the
development of fascia and the relationship between stiffness of the fascia and muscle paresis and spasticity. These scoping
reviews will advance the understanding of the role of fascia in the sensorimotor impairments in lower limb function in children
with cerebral palsy, and provide the evidence-based context within which to evaluate our findings. The report submission
deadline and the amount of installments paid to aforementioned projects are provided in Table 2.

APPLICANT

Lucie Pelland
(Queen's
University)

Table 2. Details of projects funded by 2017/2018 MTRF competition.
PROJECT TITLE
REPORTS
REPORTS
FUNDS
SUBMISSION
RECEIVED
REQUESTED
DEADLINE
Myofascial
massage in
cerebral palsy:
Objective
measurement of
outcomes to
advance
knowledge and
practice

30 June 2019
30 November
2019
30 March 2020

1st Reports
Received.
Follow up emails
have been sent
to receive
Reports #2 and
#3

$24,166.00

INSTALLMENTS
PAID

$24,166.00

3.3 STATUS OF PROJECTS FUNDED BY 2018/2019 MTRF FUNDING COMPETITION
Dr. Maryam Faiz from the University of Toronto and Dr. Trisha Scribbans from the University of Manitoba are the winners of
2018/2019 competition. Dr. Faiz’s application has requested $39,710 and Dr. Trisha Scribbans’ application has asked for
$32,093.90.
According to the latest report received from Dr. Faiz, the research team has completed the 16s v4 rDNA sequencing, open
field and the elevated plus maze for the stroke-injured control arm (no massage intervention). Also, they were able to detect
a functional deficit in the stroke-injured mice using the elevated plus maze. Furthermore, her team has also sequenced the
microbiota of mice pre and post stroke and were able to detect a shift in the microbiota composition in the gut. Moreover,
they were able to demonstrated differential abundance at the species level using Lefse analysis.
We also received the progress and financial reports of Dr. Scribbans’ project on Nov. 1, 2019. By that time, she had hired and
trained research assistants, and piloted and revised experimental methodology but data collection had not yet begun. The
report submission deadline and the amount of installments paid to aforementioned projects are provided in Table 3.
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APPLICANT

Maryam Faiz
(University of
Toronto)

Trisha Scribbans
(University of
Manitoba)

Table 3. Details of projects funded by 2018/2019 MTRF competition.
PROJECT TITLE
REPORTS
REPORTS
FUNDS
SUBMISSION
RECEIVED
REQUESTED
DEADLINE
Manipulating
the gut
microbiota with
massage
therapy as a
treatment
strategy for
stroke
Myofascial
Release (MFR)
of the Pectoral
Fascia: Effects
on Shoulder
Posture, Upper
Limb Reaching
Strategies and
Performance

September 1,
2019
March 1, 2020
September 1,
2020

INSTALLMENTS
PAID

1st Reports
Received

$39,710.00

$24,210.51

1st Reports
Received

$32,093.90

$3,393.95

March 15, 2021
(final reports)
November 1,
2019
May 1, 2020
November 1,
2020
May 1, 2021
(final reports)

3.4 2019/2020 MTRF FUNDING COMPETITION
2019/2020 funding competition was opened and announced to the public in July 2019, and the submission deadline was
September 16, 2019. Three applications, listed in Table 3, were received and reviewed.
In Phase 1 review, applications were reviewed in terms of applicant and institute eligibility for MTRF, quality of proposal,
budget justification, and research scope. Two applications, highlighted in the table below, were considered for Phase 2 review
(scholarly review) and only one was disqualified as explained in section 3.3.1.

APPLICANT

Table 3. Applications submitted to 2019/2020 MTRF competition.
PROJECT TITLE

Jacqueline Pettersen
(University of Northern
British Columbia)
Nathaly Gaudreault
(University of Sherbrooke)
and Nathalie J Bureau
(Centre de recherche,
Centre hospitalier de
l’Université de Montréal)
Bachir Tazkarji
(University of Health
Network)

FUNDS REQUESTED

Does manual lymph drainage improve recovery in recently
concussed individuals? the MLD-concussion study

$23,500.00

Ultrasound imaging measurements of the thoracolumbar
fascia following massage therapy: a proof of concept study

$23,500.00

The effects of a comprehensive massage therapy program
on balance in older adults

$ 31,000.00
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3.3.1 RESULTS OF PHASE 1 REVIEW
A. Application of Bachir Tazkarji (University of Health Network) was not considered for phase 2 review because:
1. Proposal font was not Font 12.
2. The word number exceeded 2000 words.
3. Poor Budget Justification: The details of expenses were not provided.
3.3.2 RESULTS OF PHASE 2 REVIEW
Phase 1 review filtered 1 application, and 2 applications were considered for Phase 2 review which consisted of an in-depth
review by two subject matter experts. Individuals who were invited and accepted to participate as Phase 2 reviewers for each
submission are presented in the table below. Reviewers were matched based on methodological and/or content expertise.
The summary of reviews are provided below.
Table 4. Reviewers of 2018/2019 MTRF competition.
APPLICANT
EXTERNAL REVIEWERS – CONTACTED
EXTERNAL REVIEWERS - ACCEPTED
Jacqueline Pettersen
Anna Towers
Anna Towers
(University of Northern British
Brian Benson
Lucie Pelland
Columbia)
Lucie Pelland
Neil Piller
Nathaly Gaudreault (University of
Antonio Stecco
Thomas Findley
Sherbrooke) and
Thomas Findley
Robert Schleip
Nathalie J Bureau (Centre de
Tiffany Field
recherche, Centre hospitalier de
Robert Schleip
l’Université de Montréal)
A. Application of Jacqueline Pettersen from University of Northern British Columbia:
Reviewer Anna Tower:
She gave the score of 3 out 4 to the proposal and considered the proposal as “Fundable - Adequate”. She believes the
condition for which the intervention is applied, traumatic brain injury, is an important one. The trial is well designed, with
good, quantified outcome measures. The applicants are competent and have an impressive laboratory to measure blood
markers as well as a spectroscopy unit. According to the reviewer, this study will help determine the effectiveness of this
particular head and neck massage technique for head injury. On the other hand, the reviewer has some concerns on the
likelihood of recruitment of 20 subjects within two years: “how many individuals between the ages of 18 and 55 in that region
have concussion, per year? The study involves six treatment sessions. How many will live near enough to the assessment
centre to facilitate participation in the full trial?” However, the reviewer does not believe that this is a reason that deters
from funding.
Reviewer Lucie Pelland:
She gave the score of 3 out 4 to the proposal and considered the proposal as “Fundable - Adequate”. She believes The stated
global intent of this research project is interesting and of clinical significance, namely to evaluate if MLD can improve recovery
in the acute phase of a concussion. According to the reviewer, the research team has the necessary expertise for the proposed
project. She believes the outcomes of this study could have the potential to support MLD as one component of the
management of individuals who have sustained a concussion. She agrees with the researchers that the proposed research
addresses the MTRF’s priority for massage therapy efficacy, effectiveness, and safety. However, she has some concerns too;
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the massage intervention has not been clearly described (or standardized) and the sensitivity/specificity of proxy measures
of an effect of MLD on blood flow in the brain (serum biomarkers and NIRS) is not clearly explained.
B. Application of Nathaly Gaudreault from University of Sherbrooke and Nathalie J Bureau from Université de Montréal
Reviewer Thomas Findley:
She gave the score of 3.5 out 4 to the proposal and considered the proposal as “Definitely Fundable-Excellent”. He believes
the proposal is well designed and operationalized to measure effects of a broad stroke on the lumbar spine. There are multiple
outcome measures, and it would be helpful to specify 3-4 at most primary outcome measures. According to the reviewer, the
proposal is highly relevant to MTRF research priorities. The reviewers believes involvement of a statistician will tighten up
the research design and make it more likely to achieve some significant reportable results.
Reviewer Robert Schleip:
He considered the proposal “Definitely Fundable-Excellent” and gave the score of 4 out of 4. He believes this is a very
promising project, and highly relevant for the fields of musculoskeletal pain medicine as well as massage therapy. The
scientific reasoning and the planned investigations are definitely sound (would even say ‘optimal’), sufficiently detailed and
technically appropriate, and they will most likely lead to new insights related to the CMTO priorities. According to the
reviewer, the applicants are competent and there is a high chance that the outcome of this study will influence health
regulations around Massage Therapy related to non-specific low back pain (NSLBP). He believes the description and detailed
standardization of the applied MT treatment in this study is excellent and the requested budget appears well justified and
well suited for the described investigations.
3.3.3 Decision on Funding Results:
The Executive Committee of CMTO approved the MTRF recommendations to provide funding to Nathaly Gaudreault from
University of Sherbrooke and Nathalie J Bureau from Université de Montréal.
All applicants were informed on the result of their application.
SECTION 4. NEXT STEPS
Dr. Nathalie J Bureau submitted the Ethics Approval Letter on March 31, 2020. However, in view of the COVID-19 pandemics,
the Research Center of Université de Montréal does not allow any new non-essential clinical research projects to get
underway at this time. Once the issue is resolved and the university resumes the normal operation, the new project
plan/timeline will be submitted to MTRF.
On behalf of Centennial College, we hope this progress report provides clear overview of the activities that have taken place
between March 2019 and March 2020 (inclusive). Any additional information that you may need or required will be provided
upon request.
Kind regards – Pouria Tavakkoli Avval
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Agenda Item 4.5.2

For Information

Financial Statement for Message Therapy Research Fund (MTRF) As on December 31, 2019

Budgeted

Categories
Income
Fund transferred from U of T (1st
Cheque dated in 2017)

Actual as on
February 28, 2018

Revised Budget

$

Actual from
Actual from March
Total Expense Till
01, 2018 to
January 01, 2019 to
December 2019
December 31, 2018 December 31, 2019

Balance Available

Remarks

218,750.00

Additional Fund transferred from U
of T (2nd Cheque dated in 2018)

$

3,587.73

Total Amount available

$

222,337.73

Expenses

Funding Competition of 2016
(Patients’ Experiences of Ending
Massage Therapy Care and Flunking $
or Flying Colours: A Canadian MT
Education Environmental Scan)

40,767.49 $

24,397.15 $

10,191.88

$

14,205.27

$

-

$

24,397.15

$

A total payment of $24397.15 was made for
the Patients' Experience of ending message
therapy care and for Flunking or Flying
Colours: A Canadian MT Education
Environmental Scan. The expense was
16,370.34 $16,370.34 less than the budgeted amount.
The remaining amount is used for 2019
competition ($8508.05: Additional Budget
for Grants, $7862.29: Considered for
Administration Cost according to the
Agreement).

Funding Competition 2017 (Lucie
Pelland)

$

40,000.00 $

40,000.00 $

-

$

-

$24,166.00

$24,166.00 $

The remaining balance will be deposited
15,834.00 upon receiving satisfactory progress and
financial reports from Dr. Lucie Pelland.

Funding Competition 2018
(Maryam Faiz and Trisha Scribbans)

$

71,803.90 $

71,803.90 $

-

$

-

$27,604.46

$27,604.46 $

44,199.44

The remaining balance will be deposited
upon receiving satisfactory progress and
financial reports from Dr. Maryam Faiz and
Dr. Trisha Scribbans.

-

$

-

-

$

23,586.89

$23,500.00 has been allocated for 2019
competition. Funds will be deposited upon
receiving satisfactory progress and financial
reports from the applicant.

This includes the cost for Website
development; the cost to rent Amazon
Server; travel cost and the cost of
personnels required to manage the funding.

$
Funding Competition 2019 (Nathaly
Gaudreault from University of
$
Sherbrooke and Nathalie J Bureau
from Université de Montréal)

15,078.84

$

54,687.50

23,586.89

NOTE:
[$15078.84+$8508.05=$23586.89].
$8508.05 was added to the Grant
budget of 2019 Competition.

$

$

-

$

Actual as on December 31, 2018
Overhead

Total

Dr. Purnima Tyagi
Director of WIMTACH
Centennial College

$

222,337.73

$

$

62,549.79

222,337.73

$
$

58,949.84

$

83,346.99

1,112.22

$

60,062.06

$

2,487.73

$52,882.68 $

136,229.67

$

86,108.06

Date
30/3/2020

